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CORPORATE PROFILE

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
(Stock Code: 2319) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) manufacture and distribute
quality dairy products in China. It is
one of the leading dairy product
manufacturers in China, with
MENGNIU as its core brand.

The Group's diversified products

oA

range include liquid milk products,
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such as UHT milk, milk beverages
and yogurt, ice cream and other
dairy products such as milk
powder. In December 2010,

the Group's annual

production capacity

reached 6.50 million tons.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
A 5 41k 22

For the year ended 31 December

Revenue WA
Net profit attributable to owners of the Company
Net cash flows from operating activities

Net cash balances SFiH4
Basic earnings per share (RMB)
Proposed final dividend per share (RMB)

BE+-A=t+—HLEE
RRREE NGB
REXBSFRERA

BEEAEN (ARETT)
BUREBHEIRR S (AR

2010 2009
—E—FF —ETNF

RMB'000
AR®TR

RMB'000
AREF T

25,710,460
1,115,799
2,131,571
5,476,428
0.681

0.1413

e The Group further optimised its product portfolio to consolidate the
market share of its high-end products. The revenue during the year
increased by 17.7% to RMB30,265.4 million as compared with 2009.
Net profit attributable to owners of the Company was RMB1,237.3
million.

e The Group continuously expanded its production capacity and its
aggregate annual production capacity reached 6.5 million tons in
December 2010.

e In the top 20 global dairy enterprises issued by Rabobank, the
Netherlands, Mengniu’s ranking jumped to 16th, reflecting that its
corporate strengths have been recognised internationally.

¢ In November 2010, Mengniu successfully acquired Shijiazhuang
Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd. (ARIEELEIEAR AR, the largest
yogurt manufacturer in northern China. Through this acquisition,
Mengniu created development synergies in terms of milk sources,
markets and channels in specific competitive areas, commencing
industry consolidation and further reinforcing the leading position of
Mengniu in the national yogurt market.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (continuen)

S 5 4 2 )
Revenue by Product Mix Product Mix in Liquid Milk Segment
For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December
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MAJOR AWARDS AND ACHIEVEMENTS
EBAETH RORR

Mengniu Products:

Mengniu’'s Champion and Future Star were presented with the
“Innovative Products Award” at the French International Food Fair (SIAL)

Mengniu’s Champion was presented with the “International Food
Industry Award” by the International Union of Food Science and
Technology

The Group:

Ranked 16th in the “Report of Global Dairy Enterprises 2010" issued by
Rabobank, the Netherlands

Ranked 28th among “Asia’s Fab 50 Companies 2010” as compiled by
Forbes, the only dairy enterprise in China on the roll, indicating Mengniu
has the best brand value in China’s dairy industry

Presented with the “Most-Watched Low Carbon Contribution
Enterprise Award” at the First Annual China Low Carbon Forum

Garnered the “Eco-China Contribution Award” at the First Ecological
China Forum

Named as “China’s Outstanding Low Carbon and Energy Saving
Enterprise” at the International Forum on Innovation and Development
of High-tech Enterprises of the 13th CHITEC

Mengmu Brand:

Selected among the “Top 500 Asian Brands” for five consecutive years
and ranked as the second largest dairy brand in Asia

Selected among the “Top 50 Most Valuable Chinese Brands 2010” by
WPP, a world leader in marketing communications

Mengniu dairy products ranked first, in both sales volume and sales
value, among similar products in China in 2010, according to the China
Industrial Information Issuing Centre, National Bureau of Statistics of
China, the fifth time Mengniu has led this market category
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CEO’S STATEMENT
AR

| am pleased to present the annual results of China Mengniu Dairy Company
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (“Mengniu” or the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2010 to our shareholders.

In 2010, China’s rapid and sustained economic growth created favourable
conditions for the steady growth of its dairy industry. However, upsurges
in prices of raw materials and intense market competition also put dairy
corporations under enormous pressure. Under such a tough environment,
we adopted various initiatives to alleviate market pressure and achieved
satisfactory results. According to statistics of China Industrial Information
Issuing Centre under China’s National Bureau of Statistics, Mengniu’s
dairy products ranked first, in both sales volume and sales value, among
similar products in China for five consecutive years from 2006 to 2010.
Total revenue of the Group was RMB30,265.4 million for the year,
representing a growth of 17.7%. Net profit attributable to owners of the
Company increased to RMB1,237.3 million and basic earnings per share
were RMBO0.712. The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board of
Directors”) recommended a final dividend payment of R\MB0.16 per share
for the year ended 31 December 2010.

Pursuit of Excellence in
Quality Leading the Way
toa Green Life

Endeavor to Become One
of the World’s Top Ten

Dairy Companies

FI 48 4 i
BA Al ok A 35
(IR I Sy ¥

Yang Wenjun #B3&
Chief Executive Officer 8%
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CEQO’S STATEMENT (conrinuen)
BB EE@

Mengniu’s sound performance in these challenging times was mainly
attributable to the Group’s advanced planning and decisive and effective
measures. Through stringent cost control measures, we continued to
streamline each source of costs and introduced cost saving proposals to
reduce the cost burden. During the year, the Group carried out structural
reform and merged horizontally similar departments though responsibilities
and management mechanisms. Overall synergies to be created year-by-year
will assist to reduce the costs of the Group.

In addition, we identified new opportunities for business development
and successfully acquired Shijiazhuang Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd. (RZRHEE
@y ¥R /A7), the largest yogurt manufacturer in northern China.
This competitor then became our partner to create development synergies
in terms of milk sources, markets and channels in local competitive areas.
The win-win cooperation brought consolidation in the industry, further
reinforcing the leading position of Mengniu in the national yogurt market.

Through ongoing optimisation of its product portfolio, the Group increased
the proportion of high-end dairy products, and strengthened the market
influence in various categories while maintaining steady growth of the
Group's earnings, thereby boosting our position as a leading brand of
China high-end dairy products. In particular, the Group’s liquid milk
segment maintained its competitive edge in the market with revenue
increased by 18.2% to RMB26,871.8 million, accounting for 88.8% of the
Group's revenue. Milk Deluxe (¥##%), as a mainstay high-end product,
continued to rank first in terms of market share in the high-end milk market
segment. The Group launched a new product Milk Deluxe Chunxian (%
At #%), with phytosterol esters and food fibre, in addition to other
existing products to cater for consumers’ pursuance of a healthy life. The
well received and recognised Future Star Milk (kK2 522 4)3) series was
upgraded as a whole by adding DHA algal oil, and was expanded with
three new products, Upgraded Wisdom (74 £Z2Y), Upgraded Vitality
(HARZE717Y) and Upgraded Youhu (H#RE#7Y), which catered for
different stages of growth. Targeting female consumers, Mengniu also
launched XinYangDao Zhenyang Milk (%72 :8# &44%), which contains
essences of food considered to be beneficial to blood circulation and skin
beauty of females. These initiatives once again demonstrated Mengniu'’s
emphasis on niche markets and care for the needs of different consumer
groups. Featuring a high-end fashionable image, Fruit Milk Drink (&£
#7) obtained three independent intellectual property patents during the
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CEO’S STATEMENT (continuen)
PMEFHEE@

year. Suan Suan Ru (B2#%]) series closely aligned its brand image with
musical dreams through “Mengniu Suan Suan Ru Music Dream Academy”
(FH L7 S 44578 20%) and established one of the most influential
charity platforms in China for teenage music fans to realise their dreams.
Our market share therefore steadily expanded. Mengniu also vigorously
developed the yogurt market. Following on the heels of Champion (tfzs
#1), our high-end brand, becoming the first yogurt product of the Group to
obtain national certification as a health-care product, Mengniu went ahead
to develop the natural, pure and quality Inner Mongolia Old Yogurt (A5 2
Z£Y7), which received an overwhelming market response together with
Youyi C (#87=C), which is rich with probiotic lactobacillus casein. During the
year, revenue from our ice cream products, with the three major brands,
Sui Bian (F&%), Ice+ (7k+) and Mood for Green (4%£5//5), as mainstay
products increased by 15.9% to RMB3,111.5 million, accounting for 10.3%
of the Group'’s revenue. Revenue from other dairy products was RMB282.1
million, accounting for 0.9% of the Group’s revenue. Catering for the taste
preference of domestic consumers, the Group also conducted research and
development (“R&D") and innovations leading to the strategic promotion
of three major product series, namely Family Breakfast Cheese (5fE-FE),
Growth Cheese (572 /54 +<) and Soft Cheese (22 Z/) to further expand
into the cheese market.

Mengniu has always attached great importance to quality control,
enhancement of milk sources and R&D capability, and has worked to ensure
the quality edge and market adaptability of our products in each process.
During the year, the Chinese Academy of Inspection and Quarantine (7
B Eaia B 2R 750T) and Mengniu co-established the “Joint Dairy

w

Products Laboratory” ($LanB#t& EERE) to collaboratively develop and
study new methods for supervision and control of food safety, marking
Mengniu’s position at the forefront of the industry in respect of research
on and practice of food safety control. Furthermore, factory laboratories
of the Group in five locations were granted the qualification certificates in
recognition of their national management and technology standard.

In 2010, the Group further developed its milk source enhancement strategy
by stepping up investment in the construction of the facilities in upstream
and actively adopting the large-scale breeding model. In addition to the
establishment of dairy farmers technology service centres (432 5 1iT PR
.0y for the provision of all-round services, including technical support
for scientific breeding, prevention of and treatment for diseases, etc., to
dairy farmers, the Group also planned its raw milk distribution centering on
the concept of “Farm in the Front and Factory at the Back” (Fi4&1£ ) to
increase the proportion of raw milk sourcing from scaled farms and ranches
with advanced husbandry techniques to more than 70%, thus ensuring
good quality for Mengniu’s dairy products starting at the source.
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CEQO’S STATEMENT (conrinuen)
BMEFHEE@

08-09

Mengniu has been committed to the introduction of internationally
advanced technologies and has established overseas R&D and information
stations in Paris (France), Geneva (Switzerland) and Tokyo (Japan). The
scientific research project themed “Development of Lactic Acid Bacteria and
Fermentation Agents with Self-owned Intellectual Property Rights” (525 &
T A E R BB K BB ) jointly conducted with the Harbin Institute of
Technology also attained breakthrough progress. The project was evaluated
by experts of the Chinese Institute of Food Science and Technology (FF &
BmTEIERITES) in Beijing. The committee unanimously agreed that
the achievement has attained the international standard and was vital to
the development of lactic acid bacteria and the production of patented
fermentation agents in China.

In line with the Government’s requirements on economic transformation
and environmental protection, Mengniu launched a new brand slogan “High
Quiality for a Green Life” ({Ffa& - 4x4)E) to redefine its determination
towards product responsibility, public responsibility, practice and advocacy
of a low-carbon lifestyle, and commitment to corporate responsibility as its
mission. Taking the new brand slogan as a long-term objective, Mengniu is
enhancing its production efficiency through continued application of energy
saving and consumption reduction technologies. Internally, all waste water
and other wastes generated in the course of production are to be recycled
and reused to achieve zero emission. Mengniu also conveyed the Green
concepts of low carbon and environmental protection to the public through
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CEQO’S STATEMENT (continuen)
MEFHEE@

promoting large-scale public environmental protection activities such as the
campaign themed “Ecological Movement Support China” (45887 78) » Bh
F[E), the online “Carbon Test” (fii8z) and initiated the use of packaging
materials which were certified by FSC in the industry. These activities served as
good illustration of both its social responsibility and contribution to a green
and low-carbon economy to boost brand image and product sales.

With its numerous green community campaigns, Mengniu garnered the
award as the “Most-Watched Low Carbon Contribution Enterprise” (55
RO HIRER BB (B2 A D) at the First Annual China Low Carbon Forum
(ERrh B8 e fESF®), “China's Outstanding Low Carbon and Energy
Saving Enterprise” (1 BEARETEEEF/DEELE) at the International Forum
on Innovation and Development of High-tech Enterprises of the 13th
CHITEC (B +=/ERHE &+ B SH (b3 R B HE) and the "Eco-
China Contribution Award” (4 BEFR B & Ef4%) during the First Ecological
China Forum (BE4BEF BlF#18) in 2010. These honours showcased its
green achievements. Meanwhile, the Group spared no efforts on its long-
term caring community campaigns and extended the “Love Gifts Action”
(B Y)778)) to cover Guangai School in Beijing, Dabieshan School in
Shanghai and Chaping Town School in An County, Mianyang City, Sichuan.
Coupled with ongoing community campaigns included a donation for relief
for drought in southwestern China and disaster relief for the earthquake in
Yushu, our image as an enterprise concerned about social responsibility was
further reinforced.

Our brand image again gained wide recognition during the year. In the
Report of Global Dairy Enterprises issued by Rabobank, the Netherlands,
in June 2010, Mengniu's ranking further jumped from 19th last year to
16th this year. Mengniu was one of the “Top 500 Asian Brands” (251
F#50058) for the fifth consecutive year, ranking 132nd in the list and the
second among dairy enterprises in Asia. It also ranked as one of the "“Asia’s
Fab 50 Companies 2010 (2010435 /A &]5058) as compiled by
Forbes, being the only dairy enterprise in China on the roll. In the meantime,
Mengniu was ranked 20th among the “Top 50 Most Valuable Chinese
Brands 2010" (20105 B & E(E{E MR A 7]5058) published by WPP, a
world leader in marketing communications.

In conclusion, we are proud of our achievements in 2010, as we managed
to deliver remarkable results and marked a milestone in our history. The
achievements were due to the concerted efforts of all Mengniu’s staff
in overcoming difficulties against the backdrop of various unfavourable
conditions including an upsurge in raw material costs and intense industry
competition during the past year.
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CEQO’S STATEMENT (conrinuen)
MEFHEE@

In 2011, the first year within Mengniu’s second five-year plan, the Group
will enter an entirely new stage of development. Aiming for inclusion
among the “World’s Top 10 Dairy Companies” (i 52 % 2£57103%) and
internationalisation, the Group has formulated a clear business development
strategy and a strategy to nurture core competencies. Passing through
industry fluctuations in conjunction with the reformation of China’s dairy
industry in the past, Mengniu has long ago managed cohesion of the
Group and overcome obstacles, which had led to its rapid emergence as a
Chinese brand to be proud of and which will lead the Group towards the
position of a world leading dairy brand in the future. The year 2011 is to be
a meaningful year for the Group’s development, as well as a year of hope
for Mengniu.

On behalf of Mengniu, | would like to take this opportunity to express our
heartfelt gratitude to all sectors of the society for their consistent support
and affection. We will adhere to a serious and sincere work attitude and
strengthen the capabilities of the Group to maximise returns for investors
and shareholders. In addition, we will perform our responsibilities in a
practical manner as an outstanding Chinese enterprise and contribute to the
development of the China dairy industry and Chinese society as a whole.

Yang Wenjun
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 31 March 2011
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Mengniu’s High-Intelligence Production Base has a total |
of 22 production lines with a daily processing capacity of B
2,000 tons of fresh milk. |
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Financial Review

In the context of strengthening domestic consumption, the Group further
optimised its product portfolio to consolidate the market share of its high-
end products, and implemented stringent cost control measures, as well
as adjusted the selling prices of certain products to cope with market
change. These and other initiatives together contributed to the satisfactory
results of the Group. During the year under review, revenue of the Group
amounted to RMB30,265.4 million, an increase of 17.7% as compared
with RMB25,710.5 million in 2009. Net profit attributable to owners of
the Company was RMB1,237.3 million (2009: RMB1,115.8 million). Basic
earnings per share were RMB0.712 (2009: RMB0.681).

Gross Profit

During the year under review, the Group recorded a gross profit of
RMB7,786.4 million, an increase of 13.6% as compared with RMB6,852.2
million in 2009. Despite the rising raw material prices as a result of growing
inflation in China, the Group managed to control the overall gross profit
margin for the year at 25.7% (2009: 26.7%), attributable to the increased
portion of high-end products, optimisation of product portfolio, stringent
cost control measures and adjustment on selling prices of certain products,
which effectively offset the effects brought by the surge in raw material
prices.

Operating Expenses

In 2010, as the scale of operation of the Group expanded, the operating
expenses of the Group increased to RMB6,524.9 million (2009: RMB5,630.3
million). However, its percentage to the Group's revenue declined to 21.6%
(2009: 21.9%) as a result of precise management and effective cost control.
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Selling and distribution costs for the year accounted for 17.9% of the
Group's revenue, down from 18.1% in 2009. The Group implemented
specified marketing campaigns for its products and maximised the utilisation
of marketing resources to ensure enhancement of the brand image of
MENGNIU and market share of the Group whilst lowering related costs.
The percentage of advertising and promotion expenses to the Group's
revenue decreased from 10.3% in 2009 to 7.8% in the year under review.

The percentage of administrative and other operating expenses to the
Group's revenue was effectively lowered to 3.7% (2009: 3.8%), which
was attributable to the Group’s initiatives on internal structural reform and
stringent control of related expenses.

Profit from Operating Activities and Net Profit
Attributable to Owners of the Company

The Group’s EBITDA for the year was RMB2,208.2 million (2009:
RMB1,997.9 million). Although the Group was under cost pressure arising
from the upsurge in raw material prices, EBITDA margin slightly adjusted to
7.3% (2009: 7.8%) through an upgrade of product portfolio and effective
cost control measures. During the year under review, net profit attributable
to owners of the Company was RMB1,237.3 million (2009: RMB1,115.8
million), and net profit margin attributable to owners of the Company for
the year was 4.1% (2009: 4.3%).
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Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group's net cash inflow from
operating activities amounted to RMB2,485.1 million (2009: RMB2,131.6
million). Net cash balances (cash and bank balances net of total bank loans)
reached RMB5,997 million as at 31 December 2010 (31 December 2009:
RMB5,476.4 million), indicating the strong financial position and healthy
cash flow of the Group.

As at 31 December 2010, the outstanding bank loans of the Group
amounted to RMB700.8 million (31 December 2009: RMB673.6 million),
of which RMB550.8 million (31 December 2009: RMB323.6 million) was
repayable within one year and RMB150 million (31 December 2009:
RMB350 million) was repayable beyond one year. The bank loans totalling
RMB270.8 million (31 December 2009: RMB323.6 million) were fixed
interest-bearing loans.

The total equity of the Group was RMB10,217.5 million as at 31 December
2010 (31 December 2009: RMB8,911.7 million), and the debt-to-equity
ratio (total bank loans over total equity) of the Group was 6.9% (31
December 2009: 7.6%).

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group's finance costs amounted
to RMB45.2 million (2009: RMB61.15 million), representing approximately
0.1% of the Group's revenue (2009: 0.2%).
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Market Review
China’s dairy companies pressed ahead amidst a market environment with
opportunities and challenges abounding in 2010.

Following a development theme of “Adjusting Structure and Promoting
Consumption”, the Government aimed at vigorously boosting consumption
demand and facilitating stable economic growth by speeding up
urbanisation and expanding domestic consumption. Driven by the
continuing increase in spending on food consumption and demand
for quality consumption by Chinese people, the China dairy industry
grew steadily in 2010. At the same time, the Government continued to
strengthen safety control on the dairy industry. In 2010, 66 new national
safety standards including those related to raw milk ( {4 %) ) were revised
and re-promulgated and the Notice of Further Strengthening of Measures
Regarding the Quality and Safety of Dairy Products ( € B — M58 3L
EE2%2 TYEREA ) and the Rules Governing the Review of Permission
Granted for the Production of Dairy Products ( {FLE. G4 A Ea
#RA1) ) were promulgated to regulate the dairy market and accelerate
industry consolidation.

On the other hand, inflation in China with a rise in the consumer price
index exceeded expectations, thus surging prices of raw milk and other
raw materials had brought considerable cost pressures to bear on dairy
companies. Meanwhile, as a result of industry competition, dairy companies
sought to expand their foothold. Under the environment of high raw
material prices and market competition, Mengniu implemented stringent
cost control, optimised its product portfolio and adjusted selling prices to
effectively alleviate the pressure arising from the soaring costs. The Group
also carried out structural reform and formulated its five-year development
plan to strengthen its leading position in the industry and lay a solid
foundation for its future development.
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Business Review

Unigque market insights and well-advanced development strategies were the
keys to the Group's success in overcoming the tough situation across the
dairy industry during the year.

By implementing stringent cost control measures, Mengniu streamlined
each source of costs and implemented cost improvement scheme within its
various processes, ranging from raw materials, procurement, production,
logistics, marketing and administrative management. The Group also
introduced focused cost saving proposals and adjusted the selling prices of
certain products timely to secure profitability.

With reference to international enterprises, Mengniu carried out structural
reform to reclassify business segments, adopt systematic responsibilities
and management, facilitate exchange and cooperation between different
departments and optimise resource allocation. Overall synergies to be
created year-by-year will effectively reduce the costs of the Group.

In line with the development strategy for high-end functional dairy products,
whilst strengthening the enhancement of milk sources and enhancing
product quality, the Group also forged ahead with the development and
promotion of high value-added products and tapped market opportunities
to add new growth drivers to the Group’s business. In November 2010,
the Group successfully acquired 51% equity interest in Shijiazhuang
Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd., the largest yogurt manufacturer in northern China,
becoming its largest shareholder. Through this acquisition, Mengniu turned
the competitor into its partner to create development synergies in terms of
milk sources, markets and channels in local competitive areas. The win-win
cooperation commenced industry consolidation and further reinforced the
leading position of Mengniu in the national yogurt market. The acquisition
is beneficial to the Group's overall planning and conducive to its long-term
development.

Leveraging its advanced planning and timely and effective adjustment
measures, Mengniu outperformed its peers amid intense competition and
delivered outstanding results better than the average industry level during
the year. According to statistics of China Industrial Information Issuing
Centre under China’s National Bureau of Statistics in 2010, market share
of the Group’s dairy products ranked first in terms of sales volume and
sales value among similar products in China for the fifth consecutive year.
Furthermore, according to monitoring statistics of Nielsen Company, the
Group's liquid milk and yogurt both ranked first in terms of market share.
The Group's leading position in the industry was demonstrably consolidated.
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Branding and Marketing

In 2010, Mengniu launched its brand new image of “High Quality for a
Green Life"” (4ffE - 44 E), demonstrating its determination towards
becoming a green enterprise, offering green products and advocating
green consumption. The Group also focused on the society and the future,
contributing to the exploration of the low-carbon economic development
model. As a brand of pastures, Mengniu is committed to extending its green
source dependence on a green environment and performing its necessary
responsibility and mission as a leading Chinese dairy enterprise.

While organising various large-scale eco-activity campaigns in China,
Mengniu also launched large-scale marketing campaigns for its mainstay
products. Examples include a large-scale music talents cultivation
programme “Mengniu Suan Suan Ru Music Dream Academy” (54FE&HE
| ZLEEEELT), the “Cholesterol Health Dissemination Expert Seminar
Tour” (FEEIfEfE R ERETTEIE R K :E) aiming at dissemination of health
knowledge and the “Champion Technology Pavilion” (&z=ZLEH%4E) for
promotion of the high-tech value of products at the Shanghai World Expo,
to boost its product sales as well as enhance its brand reputation among
consumers.

Through a series of focused activities, the Group further enhanced its
corporate brand image and became the only dairy product partner of the
Boao Forum for Asia for the fifth time. In the top 20 global dairy enterprises
issued by Rabobank, the Netherlands, in June 2010, Mengniu’s ranking
jumped to 16th, reflecting that its corporate strengths have been recognised
internationally. Mengniu was one of the “Top 500 Asian Brands” (255
h#£500352) for the fifth consecutive year, ranking 132nd, up 41 places, in the
list and the second among dairy brands in Asia. It was included as one of the
“Asia’s Fab 50 Companies 2010” (201042530 _ET/A 715038) compiled
by Forbes, the only dairy company in China on the roll, and ranked 20th in
the “Top 50 Most Valuable Chinese Brands 2010” (2010 & EBE
mRiE5058) published by WPP, a world leader in marketing communications,
recognising its brand value.
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Products

Catering for consumers in pursuit of a healthy life and quality products
along with the enhancement of society standards, the Group stepped up
its efforts on the enhancement of milk sources and upgraded the supply of
raw milk fully guaranteeing quality products manufactured from superior
grades of milk. Meanwhile, Mengniu also focused on market segmentation,
product R&D, quality improvement and portfolio enhancement to meet
the needs of the market. By offering consumers natural dairy products with
premium quality and advocating the concept of green living, Mengniu led
the market through innovations and the concept of healthy life.

Liquid milk

Revenue from the liquid milk segment amounted to R\MB26,871.8 million,
an increase of 18.2% as compared with RMB22,736.2 million in 2009,
accounting for 88.8% (2009: 88.4%) of the revenue of the Group as its
major income source.

UHT milk

Revenue from UHT milk products grew by 18.3% to RMB16,790.4 million
(2009: RMB14,196.2 million), accounting for 62.5% (2009: 62.4%) of
liquid milk segment revenue.

The Future Star Milk (K2 522 4)) series was upgraded by adding DHA
algal oil through the application of advanced technologies. The Upgraded
Wisdom (F#R&2Z2), Upgraded Vitality (7142% #1%) and Upgraded
Youhu (F4%187#7Y) series were launched to cater for different stages of
growth of children. Future Star Milk (K42 52 4/;) garnered numerous
awards during the year, including the Innovative Product Award at the
French International Food Fair (SIAL) CEBISIALEIFR & Ml 8T E R A
4%), the Monde Selection prize by the Belgian International Institute for
Quiality Selections, which is known as the Food Nobel Prize (B 5% E
FR2%), evidence of its remarkable success. Milk Deluxe (/75 #%) continued
to be a mainstay high-end milk product, and under its product series, Milk
Deluxe Chunxian (B2# 1575 ##%) was launched. With phytosterol esters and
food fiber, it effectively balances the level of cholesterol in the human bodly,
and enhances health, digestion and absorption. The product was well
received by white-collar workers. Milk Deluxe (4 #5##) high-end product
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series sponsored the “On the Stage with Lang Lang, a Splendid Life with
Milk Deluxe” (E2RBEARI A @ S EFmER A L), leveraging the outstanding
musical achievements of Lang Lang and his image as an international elite
to highlight the top brand image of the product. Currently, members of the
Milk Deluxe Club (#FfmEr&te) reached 1.22 million, which gathered a
social group with relatively greater influence and demand for high-end living
quality. Mengniu launched XinYangDao Zhenyang Milk FrEEE2E41)),
which was the first in China developed for improving blood circulation and
skin beauty of females. The mid-range to high-end product tailor-made for
female consumers has combined essences of donkey-skin, medlar and red
jujube, considered to be beneficial to blood circulation.

Milk beverages

Revenue from the milk beverages segment was RMB7,336.2 million (2009:
RMB6,387.3 million), increased by 14.9% from last year, accounting for
27.3% (2009: 28.1%) of the liquid milk segment revenue.

Mengniu continued to devote efforts on innovation and R&D. Featuring
a high-end fashionable style, Fruit Milk Drink (E:##7) obtained three
independent intellectual property patents across the world, including
one formula development patent and two production process patents,
and has gained wide recognition in the market. The brand affinity
of Suan Suan Ru (#[%%|) was strengthened by charity and through
sponsorship of the “Mengniu Suan Suan Ru Music Dream Academy” (5
FEERL T S 4218 20%), and achieved market penetration aided by its
positive brand image associates with “Music, Dream and Charity”. Its
Fruit and Vegetable Suan Suan Ru (‘BZi#£EE#]) contains a variety of
nutritional elements to build a “Pyramid of Nutrition”(JEE &%) and
supplement daily nutritional requirement for consumers pursuing health.
Specially designed for children, Miao Miao Fruit and Vegetable (#4¢)%
i) focused on the two new tasty strawberry and pineapple flavours.
Added with isomaltose ({XEZXEZEZEHE), the product is effective in aiding
digestion. Not only does the product cater for children’s demand for
tasty beverages, but also helps children to ingest balanced nutrition and
spur healthy growth. In addition, Mengniu launched a brand new series
of Yiyou Te (z %), produced in plastic packages featuring vitamins
and newly added special nutrients derived from quality milk (galacto-
oligosaccharides, whey protein and milk minerals). This new product has
further expanded the Group’s product mix.
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Yogure

Revenue from the yogurt segment grew by 27.5% to RMB2,745.2 million
(2009: RMB2,152.7 million), accounting for 10.2% (2009: 9.5%) of the
liquid milk segment revenue.

Champion (273 #]), the bi-functional yogurt with a dominant position in
the yogurt market, was honoured with the “Innovative Products Award”
at the French International Food Fair (SIAL) CEZEISIALEIR & SR EI#T =
fhA ), the “International Food Industry Award” (BB & 7 T3 K H8)
presented by the International Union of Food Science and Technology (&
R R amEHTEEE) and the “Most Innovative Product Idea Award” (Fx &
BIETE % 59 at the China International Health Brand Introduction
Conference (FF BBUFR B fo BEHET A ®). It was the first yogurt brand of
Mengniu to obtain national certification as a health-care product and has
enjoyed overwhelming favourable market response. Besides, Champion
(T7z #1) spread consumers’ understanding and knowledge of its products
and enhanced its image as the top yogurt brand through the Champion
Technology Pavilion (B %L EH%#E) during the Shanghai World Expo
period. The natural, pure and quality Inner Mongolia Old Yogurt (A5 2
Z11]7), produced with Mengniu’s modernised technology to enhance
its smooth and delicate texture, has become one of the best-selling yogurt
products during the year. Youyi C (8z5C), which is rich with probiotic
lactobacillus casein and fat-free, was well received by health-conscious
consumers as it aids digestion.

Ice cream

Revenue of the ice cream segment amounted to RMB3,111.5 million (2009:
RMB2,685.1 million), up 15.9% from last year, accounting for 10.3% (2009:
10.5%) of the revenue of the Group.

By enriching product categories, strengthening the development of mid-
range to high-end products and expanding market coverage, its product
sales grew continually. With Sui Bian (%6 %), Ice+ (7k+) and Mood for Green
(#RE208) as the three major brands, Mengniu continued to enrich its
product series. Sui Bian (&%) maintained its brand image of “Ready-for-
Change” (BRI and initiated the “Endless Joy with One More” (Er44
PR - B3 —%) campaign for a second time to stimulate the consumption
market. It has launched the new Euro (B(Z€) series with big chocolate chips
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added to bring an unique texture and a double taste to consumers. lce+ (7k+)
launched Cranberry+Yogurt Flavor Bar (Z#iZ&+# 4515k #), offering
consumers with taste sensations for summer refreshment. Under the Mood
for Green (47 £0:&) brand, Lueshasha (47555%) was launched, which is an
authentic flavour with green beans and cane sugar-free, satisfying health
Conscious consumers.

Other dairy products

Revenue from other dairy products amounted to RMB282.1 million (2009:
RMB289.2 million), accounting for 0.9% (2009: 1.1%) of the revenue of
the Group.

For milk powder, Chaaolinzhuang Zhiliayi ({8 #£{£55), a product of
MENGNIU ARLA (534FFaT#7), was launched with the amount of probiotics
increased fourfold to provide sufficient nutrition for infants and improve their
immune systems and their all-round development. In view of the growing
demand for international branded milk powder in the market at present,
Mengniu is poised to tap business opportunities through internal structure
reform and rebranding. In addition, Mengniu has conducted market
research during the year to gain a thorough understanding of market
preferences. Tracing closely the trend of market development, the Chinese
name of MENGNIU ARLA (4-Fif#7) was renamed as MENGNIU ARLA (&
1#54F) in December 2010 to focus on the high-end market. MENGNIU
ARLA (Bt 54F) is undergoing a comprehensive quality upgrade and is to
be launched into the market with a brand new packaging, aiming to build a
clear international brand image, embellishing the position of Mengniu’s milk
powder in the high-end market.

In respect of cheese, the Group has continued its R&D to develop cheese
products that are suitable for the taste of Chinese. Focusing on the
promotion of three major product series, namely Family Breakfast Cheese
(EFpERE), Growth Cheese (72 /% +<) and Soft Cheese (E/EZF), the
Group further enhanced its market penetration. In particular, the Growth
Cheese (5225 i< 7L F) series was Mengniu's focus in promotion. The “Tour
to Woolearn Academy” (#5{Ri5%7 ( SBEEFT) ) campaign was organised
to increase product exposure, deepen consumers’ knowledge of the product
and capture the expanding market share of children’s cheese.
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Quality Control

In response to the further implementation of various national policies in
the PRC to strengthen the supervision and evaluation of the safety of
dairy products, the Group adhered to its serious attitude towards quality
control at every stage of its production process. Efforts have been made
to enhance the testing level and supervision over food safety. On the basis
of the certifications already obtained for its quality control, environmental
management, occupational health and safety management as well as
food safety management, the Group continued to embark upon its
implementation of GMP for dairy products production, obtaining GMP
certification for seven of its production plants. The Group's five laboratories
in Beijing, Jiaozuo, Ma'anshan, Wuhan and Shenyang also passed evaluation
earning qualification certificates, providing a sound guarantee for the
Group’s technological advancement in daily inspection of its products. To
actively foster external cooperation in respect of laboratory testing projects,
the Group collaborated with the Chinese Academy of Inspection and
Quarantine (FP Bli@ 510 BHEA3E6T) to establish a “Joint Dairy Products
Laboratory” (¥LmEt& EEZ), to jointly engage in the R&D of new
methods for supervising and testing food safety. To strengthen its control
over suppliers’ quality and ensure the quality and safety of the raw materials,
the Group has also established a supplier quality management department
to engage in regular guidance work in evaluating its suppliers.

Production and Operations

During the year, the Group continued to strive to expand production
capacity. The aggregate annual production capacity increased to 6.5 million
tons in December 2010 (2009: 5.76 million tons).

By introducing technologically advanced production facilities including a fully
automated high-speed injection machine (& B &hE#EsEH) and fully
automated packaging machines (£ B E)Z ) from France and ltaly, the
Group’s per-capita production capacity and production rate of labour had
been effectively boosted. Working around the idea of “selling to where it
is produced”, the Group has established additional liquid milk production
bases in northeastern China and more milk beverages production bases in
southern China as well, in accordance with the regional diversification of
the raw milk supply and market demand. Plant facilities were deployed for
the second time, by enhancing the utilisation of its facilities and achieving
the matching of production and sales, so that allocation of resources can
be optimised. Further, in constructing new production plants, the Group
paid special attention to the use of energy-saving equipment to reduce its
operating costs.
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The reform of the Group’s internal structure has contributed to the
integration of the existing production units under the Group which had
previously been running quite separately. This move has created favorable
conditions for the sharing of resources and cost saving. In addition, asset
enhancement projects have been initiated, which have involved the
handling of idle equipment and slow-moving components in operations by
way of redeployment, re-sale or disposal. Meanwhile, an operating costs
reduction project was put under trial run by the High Tech Department of
the Group which aimed at reducing operating costs and enhancing the level
of operational management. The project has delivered a promising initial
performance and is planned to be promoted to various production regions
under the Group.

Enhancement of Milk Sources

The enhancement of milk sources is taken by Mengniu as the key to being a
leader in the industry. For years, the Group has been putting in continuous
efforts in building up a pool of milk sources, stressing the modernisation of
raw milk production and the tracking of such milk sources, which would
secure the production of safe and reliable dairy products. During the
year, the Group invested more than RMB700 million in enhancing these
milk sources and supporting their production. This included providing of
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entrusted loans, prepaying for raw milk, investing in large scaled ranches
and constructing in modernised ranches facilities. These ranches are all
equipped with standardised and professional equipment and encouraged
to apply modern cattle raising technology, creating favorable conditions
for the provision of stable raw milk production and quality, and further
raising the proportion of milk sources provided by ranches and scaled farms
to more than 70% in 2010, well above the industry level. In addition,
the Group has extended its reach to dairy farmers for providing technical
services, establishing dairy farm technology service centres to provide all-
round services to milk farmers who could learn scientific techniques in cattle
raising and in disease prevention and treatment. The Group also provided
instruction in actively enhancing the level of supervision of the safety of
fodder and drugs, monitoring the use of cleansing equipment by milk
farmers and the inspection of cattle’s health, adjusting and reducing the
transportation time of milk-carriers for enhancing freshness of raw milk, all
with a view to fully securing the good quality of Mengniu’s dairy products at
the upstream links of the production chain.

R&D Achievements

The Group has been stressing the importance of investing in R&D. This
investment has given rise to the continuous increase in the technological
level of the Group and kept the Group in a leading position well ahead of its
peers. During the year, Mengniu set up its overseas R&D station in Paris and
overseas information stations in Geneva and Tokyo, for closer connection
with the latest development trends of global technology and timely
introduction of internationally leading technology. Meanwhile, Mengniu
has also strengthened its independent innovation and R&D capability, and
has been approved by the PRC’'s Ministry of Human Resources and Social
Security for establishing a post-doctoral scientific research centre. Adding to
that is the Group's breakthrough development in its joint scientific research
project with Harbin Institute of Technology on “Development of Lactic Acid
Bacteria and Fermentation Agents with Self-owned Intellectual Property
Rights” (%% B £ A= i FLBAER K BB 4)). The project was evaluated
by experts of the Chinese Institute of Food Science and Technology (FFEd
BmEIERITE®) that the achievement was vital to the development of
lactic acid bacteria for domestic dairy enterprises. This achievement is also
a boon to the Group in its R&D of yogurt products which are better suited
to the body features of Chinese. As at 31 December 2010, Mengniu has,
on a cumulative basis, submitted 1,012 patent applications and obtained
patents in respect of 750 items, out of which 88 patents were applied for
and 83 patents were obtained during the year. The fruitful technological
achievements have been widely deployed in the development of products
and have provided the wherewithal for maintaining the leading market
position of Mengniu in technological advancement.
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Environmental Protection

The Group has taken numerous actions in support of a green and low-
carbon economy by paying attention to various aspects of resources
protection and bringing awareness of environmental protection to every
detailed aspect of the Group as part of its commitment to promoting the
green concept to the community as a whole.

In its production operation, the Group implemented energy-saving and
emission-reduction measures in each of its systems, including wise use of
electricity, the renovation of equipment for reducing energy consumption,
the adoption of recycdling of cold/hot water in its self-built ranches, which
effectively improved the utilisation of resources. Other environmentally-
friendly projects include methane power generation, sewage treatment,
and turning abandoned mountains to green areas as part of its production
process. Mengniu became the first dairy enterprise in the PRC to engage in
carbon auditing for the full range of its production processes, in the hope of
creating new approaches to the low-carbon development of the industry.

In respect of brand building, the Group closely linked its corporate image
to the concept of a green lifestyle and advocated the community’s general
recognition of environmental awareness. The Group is committed to
involving all citizens in the PRC to let the “Eco-China” dream come true.
During the year, the Group initiated 90 large-scale ecological experience
activities “Ecological Movement Support China” (488770 - Bh 5 E) in
30 cities across the PRC, and launched an online “Carbon Test” (#i8Iz) in
collaboration with cooperation partners on the network, to let consumers
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from different localities to easily calculate their own carbon footprints.
Advocating the formation of a green ecological production chain in the
dairy industry, Mengniu became a pioneer in the industry in using packaging
materials which were certified by FSC. The Group has also successfully
kicked off a package recycling activity in Shanghai under the slogan of “Press
it Flat after Drinking and Support the Recycling of Milk Cartons” ("8 528 /&

S#:EUK). In addition, Mengniu also initiated a three-year “Low-Carbon
Enterprise Responsibility Programme” ({EAix{>2£ & (T178)) in cooperation
with about 10 industry leaders such as Lenovo, Haier Group and Sohu, to
harness the power of the pioneers from various sectors and jointly fostered
the implementation and development of a low-carbon economy of the PRC.

During the year, leveraging its efforts in low-carbon economy and its long-
term green charitable deeds which have been widely applauded by the
community, Mengniu was recognised as the “Most-Watched Low Carbon
Contribution Enterprise” (&5 B)EMEIR B3 K 1E) at the First
Annual China Low Carbon Forum ({K#z+ BB & EF€), the most
authoritative and highest-ranking low-carbon forum in the PRC. Further, it
was recognised as “China’s Outstanding Low Carbon and Energy Saving
Enterprise” (R BIERREIREEF 1548 at the International Forum on
Innovation and Development of the High-tech Enterprises of the 13th
CHITEC (Bt=ERE gt et EERERRE). It was also
granted an “Eco-China Contribution Award” (4E8EFR Bl & Bi2%) at the First
Ecological China Forum (& g 4 AE7 Blz@18), becoming a widely recognised
ecological pioneer.

Social Responsibilities

The Group strongly believes that an enterprise which benefits from the
community shall also contribute to the community, so it cares about
social issues and participates in charitable activities all the way. During the
year, Mengniu extended its “Love Gifts Action”, joining hands with The
Foundation for Children and Teenagers (522 > FE4 &) and China Milk
Caring Fund (B4 1,5 4) to bring the love of millions of netizens
to children and promote good health and good fortune through campaigns
such as the “New Year's Love Gifts” for Beijing Guangai School, “Love Gifts
Scheme” for Shanghai Dabieshan Elementary School, and “Wenchuan’s
Wishes” in Chapingxiang Elementary School in An County, Mianyang City,
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Sichuan Province. Mengniu has been actively and continuously participating
in various charitable deeds including the donation campaign for drought
relief in southwestern China, the disaster rescue action in Yushu after
the earthquake, the “Mengniu Lets Your Dream Come True” campaign
which attempted to locate lost parents of 3,000 orphans, the donation in
collaboration with the General Administration of Sport of China for helping
Hulunbeier Elementary School, the visit to the Shanghai Expo Security Guard
Teams, and the visit to Xichang Satellite Launch Centre, contributing to the
community.

Joint Ventures and Alliances

During the year, the Group continued to explore cooperation with top-
notch enterprises in different industries for exploring complementary
resources advantage for supporting our development. Mengniu has forged
an alliance with China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (“China Modern Dairy”),
the largest cattle-raising company and raw milk producer in the PRC,
for priority supply. Under this arrangement, Mengniu has the priority to
purchase most of the raw milk of China Modern Dairy for the next six years,
laying a solid foundation for securing a reliable and safe milk supply source.
Mengniu’s milks also passed a stringent investigation by the Office of Lunar
Exploration Program of the PRC (% A TH2##/A=) and has become
the only designated dairy product for the Lunar Exploration Program. It has
been providing products exclusively for China’s Space Programme for eight
successive years. In addition, Mengniu once again became the exclusive milk
products for all of the athletes under the General Administration of Sport of
China in their preparation for the Olympic Games, and once again engaged
in official cooperation with NBA China. In addition, it was the sole dairy
product cooperation partner in the Boao Forum for Asia for the fifth time.
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Human Resources

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had approximately 21,500 employees
in Mainland China and Hong Kong. Total staff costs for the year, excluding
directors’ remuneration, were approximately RMB1,556.9 million (2009:
RMB1,317.3 million).

In 2010, the Group was in full gear in kicking off its employment
qualification system and clarifying with employees a behavioral code of
conduct and necessary knowledge and skills in their workplace. This served
to enhance their business operating capability, enabling the Group to
provide personalised training to its employees, identifying the employee’s
potential and achieving the rational deployment of human resources. Other
efforts included ongoing development of pre-job orientation and on-the-job
training to staff members and arranging tests of the professional knowledge
for enhancing their business skills and expertise. The human resources
centre also enlisted overseas experts and specialists in the dairy industry to
instruct its six divisions responsible for R&D, sales and marketing, strategy
formulation, legal affairs, international business and investment to bolster
the overall strategic planning and operational needs of the Group, thereby
facilitating the smooth operation of the Group.

Prospects

2011 will be a year of good prospects as well as a year of change for the
dairy industry in China. It is therefore vital for an enterprise to do its best and
be flexible in facing the challenges.

At present, the dairy industry has resumed the steady growth rate of around
10%. The relatively low level of liquid milk consumption per capita in China
compared with the international standard, increasing urbanisation, the
growth of residents’ incomes in urban and rural areas, and the continuous
rise in consumption, are all favorable factors to boost future demand for
dairy products. Under the 12th Five-Year Plan starting in 2011, it has been
proposed to implement a strategy of expanding domestic demand and
fostering the modernisation of the agricultural sector, which are favorable
conditions for the future development of the industry. Mengniu is a pioneer
in proposing a strategy of green development, creating a green industry
chain and initiating a low-carbon economy, which is in line with China’s
policy direction of expediting the construction of a resources-conservation
society and bolstering the country’s environmental protection during the
12th Five-Year Plan period.
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During the year, the PRC Government rolled out the Rules Governing the
Review of Permission Granted for the Production of Dairy Products ( €%,
RMAEFFAIFEEAE]) ), which requires those enterprises without
production permits to exit from the dairy market. The increasingly stringent
policy of the PRC towards the supervision of food safety in the dairy industry
has provided a healthy industry environment for the development of dairy
enterprises. It can also inspire consumer confidence in branded products.

As an industry leader, the Group will engage in its strategic deployment
from the long-term perspectives of the enterprise as well as the industry
and formulate the five-year development plan of Mengniu, with the goal
of becoming one of the world’s top ten dairy companies. In order to
realise this strategic vision, Mengniu will in the future focus on five aspects
namely enhancement of milk sources, product portfolio, R&D capability,
management system and brand building, via which it is envisaged to
enhance the competitive strengths of the Group and lead the dairy industry
of the PRC to enter a new stage of development.
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IL.

Enhancement of Milk Sources — Further Implement
the Group’s Strategy of Standardising Ranches and
Enhancing the Management of Milk Sources Renders,
to Build Its Advantage in Milk Sources As a Core
Competitive Edge for Future Development

To ensure product quality in upstream, on the basis of the
enhancement of milk sources, the Group will continue its strategy
of ranches standardisation by building its own ranches facilities and
investing in ranch areas, aiming to further increase the proportion of
ranch and scaled farm milk sources. Currently, the Group is already in
full control of the quality-related process of its raw milk sources and
the proportion of the milk source from ranches to total milk source is
far higher than the industry average. In the fiercely competitive dairy
market, milk sources, which are closely related to product quality,
represent the core competence of an enterprise. Therefore the Group
will consolidate the advantage of its already-existing milk sources and
continue to step up efforts in the exploration of milk sources as well
as further expand its modern ranch construction through various
measures, thereby promoting an advanced approach to cattle raising
and contributing to the modernised raw milk production of the PRC’s
dairy industry.

Product Portfolio - Continue to Optimise Product
Portfolio, Increase the Proportion of High-end
Products, and Enrich its Product Line with Market
Segmentation

Under the rapid growth of the consumption level of the Chinese
society and the significant upgrade of consumption demand, high
quality and functionality of dairy products will become the focus of the
market in future. On the foundation of established leading position
in UHT milk, yogurt and ice cream markets, Mengniu will continue
to strengthen its influence and maintain its market leadership. For
high-end products, Mengniu will continue to focus on different niche
demographic markets, especially children and the elderly segments
which have vast growth potential, to develop functional products
with high added value. The Group will optimise its product portfolio
and enhance profitability, as well as consolidate its market leading
position by improving innovative quality, in order to solidify its image
as a high-end brand. Mengniu will keep itself abreast of market trends
and proactively explore and identify market demand. It will keep on
delivering new and diversified products in response to the increasingly
high-quality and healthy lifestyle of the consumers in the PRC.
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III. R & D Capability — Introduce Advanced =. WF 3% e ) — 5|k 13 Ah e #E B dlg - 32

International Technology, Enhance Internal
R&D Capability and Ensure a Leading Position in
Technological Advance

R&D capability represents a momentum to drive the sound
development of an enterprise. As a leader in the Chinese dairy
industry, Mengniu is committed to cultivating its R&D capability in
the dairy industry which is considered domestically as a leader and
internationally as top-notch. Accordingly, the Group will continue
to establish additional overseas R&D stations and strengthen its
management over overseas information stations. It shall cooperate
with internationally leading R&D teams, forging strong collaboration
and shall keep itself abreast of development trends within the
industry and advanced technology around the world. It shall leverage
overseas technological advances to drive the improvement of the core
competence of the enterprise and bring the Group’s R&D capability
to an internationally leading level. In addition, the Group also attaches
importance to the research of fundamental technology and the
enhancement of internal R&D capability, so as to lay the foundation
for its R&D innovation and guide the overall development of the
industry via enhancing its own internal technological capability.
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IV. Management System — Foster Organisational Reform, M. HHRAF —MEHBMENEYE » R

Solidify Employment Qualification System and
Emphasise Precise Management

In the course of growth and development, Mengniu attaches
great importance to its people and has continuously reformed its
internal system for enhancing management level and laying the solid
foundation for an enterprise to last a century. In 2010, Mengniu
completed the initial reform of its organisational structure and will,
on an orderly basis in the future, continue to implement reform, so
as to achieve synergies among the systems upon integration. For
the employment qualification system which is already in place, its
functions will also be solidified and put into practice, in order to secure
specialised development of staff and thus a solid human resources
platform to support the development of the Group. Mengniu will
also continue to enhance the level of its precise management as one
of its focal points, and shall streamline its production, procurement,
operation, marketing and R&D. It shall enhance its standardised
management approach and stringently administer according to the
standards applicable to an internationally advanced dairy enterprise.
It will apply these standards to the areas of ranch construction and
quality inspection, ensuring that its internal system can be aligned
with the development scale of Mengniu as a leading dairy enterprise
in the PRC and fully safeguard the system upon which the future
development of the Group will be based.
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Brand Building — Work around “High Quality for a
Green Life”, Advocate its Low-carbon Initiative and
Build its International Brand Image Fulfilling Social
Responsibility

With the increasing concern about environmental protection around
the world, “green” and “ecology” will be the key focuses for the
future economic development, and also an important signpost
guiding the economic transformation of the PRC under the country’s
12th Five-Year Plan. The concept of “High Quality for a Green Life”
articulated by Mengniu will also be a theme throughout the course of
the Group's development in the next few years. The Group shall fully
comprehend and analyse the concept and adhere to its green strategy.
It will build a brand image of caring for the society and caring for the
environment, with an aim to become one of the top five most valuable
and most influential brands within the fast moving consumer goods
industry in the PRC. Mengniu will not only upgrade its product level,
but also insist on natural and ecological “good quality”. Embracing a
strong sense of social responsibility, it shall take action for achieving
low-carbon economy by saving energy and reducing emissions in
its production process and promote environmental protection in its
marketing activities. It shall commit itself towards leading the PRC's
development of ecological awareness among all citizens, bringing the
growth of Mengniu in tandem with social development, achieving
positive brand equity and resulting in a win-win situation of both the
enterprise and the society.

Mengniu is fully confident of the future, given the vast potential
of growth in the dairy product consumption market in the PRC. In
response to market development trends, the Group’s efforts will
centre around its five-year plan and adhere to reform and innovation,
enhance its management level, and foster the further international
development, striving to become one of the world’s top ten dairy
companies.
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Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Wenjun, aged 44, is the Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ") of the
Company and Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company Limited
(“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”) and one of the founders of Inner Mongolia
Mengniu. Mr. Yang graduated from Inner Mongolia Light Industry Institute
and holds a Master’s degree from Inner Mongolia Agricultural University.
Mr. Yang has over 20 years of management experience in the large-scale
dairy products industry and extensive experience in production management
and sales and marketing of dairy products. Mr. Yang was elected as one of
the “World Economy’s Top 10 Outstanding Chinese Professional Managers”
by the Professional System Assessment Committee of the appraisal system
of World Chinese Economy (WCE) at the Annual Conference for Investment
and Financing in Asia Pacific in 2008, and as one of the “China’s Top 10
Celebrities for Industry Leaders” and “Tenth Session of Top 10 Celebrities
for China’s Reform Programme” in 2010. Mr. Yang currently serves as the
Deputy Chairman of the Dairy Association of China.

Mr. Bai Ying, aged 40, is an executive Director of the Company and a Vice
President in Operation of Inner Mongolia Mengniu. Mr. Bai graduated with
a Master’s degree from Inner Mongolia Agricultural University and holds a
Master of Business Administration degree from China Europe International
Business School. Mr. Bai was the Vice President of Inner Mongolia Mengniu
and the general manager of UHT milk division of Inner Mongolia Mengniu.
He has been working in the dairy products industry for almost 20 years and
has extensive experience and advanced management concepts in the dairy
industry. In 2010, Mr. Bai was elected as “Advanced Staff of Hohhot” and
“Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region Labour Model” for the second time.

Mr. Wu Jingshui, aged 45, is the Chief Financial Officer of the Company
and a Vice President in Finance of Inner Mongolia Mengniu. Mr. Wu
graduated from Inner Mongolia Light Industry Institute majoring in industrial
enterprise financial accounting and holds a Master’s degree from Inner
Mongolia Agricultural University and a Master of Business Administration
degree from China Europe International Business School. He also holds
a senior accountant qualification. Before being appointed as the Vice
President in Finance of Inner Mongolia Mengniu in April 2008, Mr. Wu
served as the Chief Financial Officer of liquid milk division and the Chief
Financial Officer of Inner Mongolia Mengniu, and has extensive experience
in financial management. In 2010, Mr. Wu was honoured as a “Labour
Model (Advanced Staff) of Hohhot”.
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Mr. Ding Sheng, aged 43, is an executive Director of the Company and a
Vice President in Sales and Marketing of Inner Mongolia Mengniu. Mr. Ding
graduated from Inner Mongolia Light Industry Institute majoring in dairy
products techniques and is a senior engineer. During his work, he pursued
studies in Inner Mongolia University and Nankai University majoring in
economics and management and business administration. Mr. Ding joined
Inner Mongolia Mengniu in 2003. He served as a Vice President and the
general manager of yogurt division of Inner Mongolia Mengniu and has
extensive management and sales and marketing experience in the dairy
industry. Mr. Ding was elected as a “Labour Model (Advanced Staff) of
Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region” in 2010. Mr. Ding currently serves as
a member of the Chinese Institute of Food Science and Technology and the
vice chairman of the lactic acid bacteria branch of the Chinese Institute of
Food Science and Technology.

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Niu Gensheng, aged 53, is Chairman of the Board of Directors of the
Company and is one of the founders of Inner Mongolia Mengniu. Mr. Niu
graduated from Inner Mongolia University with a degree in Administration
and Management and obtained a Master’'s degree in Enterprise
Management at the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences Graduate School.
With his extensive experience and insights in China’s dairy industry, Mr. Niu
receives high reputation in the industry. In 2007, Mr. Niu was elected as
one of “China’s Most Influential Business Leaders” for the fifth consecutive
year, and was honored the “2007 Hong Kong Bauhinia Award”. Mr. Niu is
devoted to charity. He was among “China’s Top 10 Philanthropists” guided
and published by the Ministry of Civil Affairs of the People’s Republic of
China in 2007 and ranked third in the “2007 Hurun Top 10 for Charity”,
and received the first and only “Lifetime Achievement in Philanthropy
in 2010. Mr. Niu
currently serves as the Deputy chairman of the Second China National

Award” presented by the “China Philanthropists List”

Committee of International Dairy Federation and also an independent
non-executive director of Alibaba.com Limited, a company listed in Hong
Kong and an independent director of Shanghai Metersbonwe Fashion &
Accessories Company, a company listed in Shenzhen.
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Mr. Ning Gaoning, aged 52, was appointed as a non-executive Director
and the Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company with
effect from August 2009. Mr. Ning is currently the chairman of COFCO
Corporation and COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited, an executive director and
chairman of China Foods Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong, a non-
executive director and chairman of China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited, a
company listed in Hong Kong, a non-executive director of CPMC Holdings
Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong, and an independent director
of Huayuan Property Co., Ltd., a company listed in Shanghai. Mr. Ning is
also a director of BOC International Holdings Limited. Mr. Ning was a non-
executive director of Lippo China Resources Limited, a company listed
in Hong Kong, from December 1998 to August 2009 and a director of
Smithfield Foods, Inc., a company listed in New York, from 27 August
2008 to 2 March 2011. Before joining COFCO Corporation, Mr. Ning held
various positions such as vice-chairman, director and general manager of
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. Mr. Ning has over 20 years
of experience in corporate management, investment and corporate finance,
business restructurings and governmental relations. Mr. Ning graduated
from Shandong University in China with a Bachelor’s degree in Economics
and from the University of Pittsburgh in the United States with a Master of
Business Administration degree in Finance.

Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen), aged 45, is a Vice-Chairman of the
Board of Directors of the Company. Mr. Jiao joined the Group in September
2002 and is currently a director of CDH China Fund, L.P.. Mr. Jiao received a
Bachelor's degree in Mathematics from Shandong University and a Master’s
degree in Engineering from the Ministry of Aeronautics and Astronautics.
Currently, Mr. Jiao also serves as a non-executive director of China Yurun
Food Group Limited and China Shanshui Cement Group Limited, both
companies listed in Hong Kong and a director of Joyoung Company Limited,
a company listed in Shenzhen.

Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt, aged 37, joined the Group in January 2006.
Mr. Wolhardt is currently a partner of KKR Asia Limited focusing on private
equity transactions in the Greater China region. Mr. Wolhardt is a CPA and
CMA and received a B.S. with honors in Accounting from the University of
llinois (Urbana-Champaign) in the United States. Mr. Wolhardt currently
serves as a non-executive director of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd., a
company listed in Hong Kong.

Mr. Yu Xubo, aged 45, is currently the president of COFCO Corporation
and a director of COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited, and also an executive
director and the managing director of China Agri-Industries Holdings
Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Yu holds a Bachelor’s degree
in Economics from the University of International Business and Economics
in Beijing and an Executive Master of Business Administration degree from
China Europe International Business School.
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Mr. Ma Jianping, aged 47, is currently a vice president of COFCO
Corporation. He is also a non-executive director of China Foods Limited, a
company listed in Hong Kong, and a director of COFCO Property (Group)
Co., Ltd., a company listed in Shenzhen. Mr. Ma graduated from the
University of International Business and Economics in Beijing with a degree
of Executive Master of Business Administration. Mr. Ma has extensive
experience in corporate finance, investment, strategic planning and
management and worked in Japan for over five years.

Mr. Fang Fenglei, aged 59, is Chairman of HOPU Investment Management
Co., Ltd. and Chairman of Goldman Sachs Gaohua Securities Company
Limited. Previously, Mr. Fang was a deputy CEO of China International
Capital Corporation Limited, CEO of BOC International Holdings Limited
and CEO of ICEA Finance Holdings Limited. He was an independent non-
executive director of Central China Real Estate Limited, a company listed
in Hong Kong, from January 2008 to December 2009. Mr. Fang holds a
Bachelor of Arts degree from Sun Yat-sen University.

Mr. Ma Wangjun, aged 46, was appointed as a non-executive Director of
the Company with effect from 1 March 2010. Mr. Ma is currently an assistant
to president and vice chief financial controller of COFCO Corporation. He
is also a non-executive director of China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited,
a company listed in Hong Kong. He was a director of COFCO Tunhe Co.,
Ltd., a company listed in Shanghai, from July 2005 to January 2007. M.
Ma holds a Bachelor's degree in Economics from Beijing Technology and
Business University and an Executive Master of Business Administration
degree from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Julin, aged 67, is a professor of accounting. Mr. Zhang
graduated from the Economics Department of Lanzhou University.
Mr. Zhang served as an assistant dean to the Inner Mongolia Finance
and Economics University and a vice chairman of the Inner Mongolia
Autonomous Region Audit Society. Mr. Zhang is currently an independent
director of Inner Mongolia BaoTou Steel Union Co., Ltd., a company listed in
Shanghai. Mr. Zhang was an independent director of Inner Mongolia Lantai
Industrial Co., Ltd, a company listed in Shanghai, from April 2002 to May
2009. Mr. Zhang is also a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Zhang was appointed as an independent director for
Inner Mongolia Mengniu on 18 October 2002 and became an independent

director of the Company on 23 February 2004.
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Mr. Liu Fuchun, aged 65, was a graduate of the Beijing Foreign Trade
Institute and now a senior commerce specialist. Mr. Liu was the deputy
consulate of the Chinese Consulate-General in Vancouver. He also
worked in various companies in the past, including serving as an officer
in the finance department, the business planning department, and the
general office of COFCO Corporation. He was also an officer of COFCO
Corporation’s sales representative office in the US, the deputy director
and director of COFCO Corporation’s cereals and oils department and the
general manager, executive director, deputy president and president of Top
Glory (London) Ltd., which was based in the United Kingdom. Currently,
Mr. Liu serves as an independent non-executive director of DaChan Food
(Asia) Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong, and an independent director
of China Aviation Oil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd., a company listed in
Singapore.

Mr. Zhang Xiaoya, aged 49, was a graduate of the Shandong University
and the school of management at the Beihang University and is now
a senior engineer. Mr. Zhang has served various companies in the
past, including project manager of the Trust Investment Company for
Development of Rural Villages in China, director and deputy general
manager of Dalian Zhong Xing Industrial Company, the head of investment
consulting department of Zhong Zhi Investment Consulting Company and
a director and president of Airmedia which was listed on NASDAQ in the
US. He was mainly engaged in the feasibility study of construction projects,
investment decisions consulting, verification of project assessments and
planning of project finance proposals.

Senior Management

Mr. Lu Jianjun, aged 34, is the Chief Administrative Officer of the
Company and the Secretary of the Board of Directors of Inner Mongolia
Mengniu. Mr. Lu was graduated from Inner Mongolia Normal University
with an art degree in Chinese Language. Mr. Lu joined the Group in June
2000, and served as various important positions including Secretary to CEO
Office, Secretary to CEO, Secretary to Chairman of the Board of Directors
Office, Executive Assistant to Chairman. After ten years’ work experience in
such important positions, Mr. Lu has accumulated extensive management
experience and gained unique industry insight. Mr. Lu was re-designated as
the Secretary of the Board of Directors of Inner Mongolia Mengniu in 2009.
In May 2010, Mr. Lu was awarded the professional qualification as secretary
of board of directors by the Shanghai Stock Exchange.

Mr. Yao Haitao, aged 48, is a President in Administration of Inner
Mongolia Mengniu. He graduated from Inner Mongolia Finance and
Economics College with a Bachelor’s degree in Economics and holds a
Master of Business Administration degree from China Europe International
Business School. He also holds an accountant qualification. Mr. Yao joined
Inner Mongolia Mengniu in 2003 and served as various positions including
Assistant to President, Vice President in Administration and deputy general
manager of the liquid milk division of Inner Mongolia Mengniu during
his term. He has solid experience in administrative management. Mr.
Yao currently serves as the Deputy Chairman of the China Dairy Industry
Association.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (contnuen)
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Ms. Zhao Yuanhua, aged 47, is a Vice President in Branding of Inner
Mongolia Mengniu. Ms. Zhao graduated from Inner Mongolia University of
Science and Technology (formerly known as Baotou University of Iron and
Steel Technology) with a Bachelor’s degree in Technology and obtained a
Master of Business Administration degree from China Europe International
Business School. Ms. Zhao joined Inner Mongolia Mengniu in 2000. She
served as directors of sales, marketing and sales and marketing of the UHT
milk liquid division of Inner Mongolia Mengniu and director of sales and
marketing and Vice President of Inner Mongolia Mengniu. She has extensive
experience in sales and marketing and management. Ms. Zhao also serves as
a member of the China Association of Outstanding Women and a member
of the Second Economics and Market Committee of China Dairy Industry
Association. In 2009, Ms. Zhao was honored as “National Professional
Model of Female Workers” and the “Outstanding Leader Award for
Advertisements of Renowned Enterprises” of China Advertising Great-wall
Awards.

Mr. Liu Weixing, aged 50, is a Vice President in Quality Control of Inner
Mongolia Mengniu. Mr. Liu graduated with a Master’s degree from Inner
Mongolia Agricultural University and is a senior engineer. Mr. Liu joined
Inner Mongolia Mengniu in 1999. He served as Deputy General Manager,
Quality Control Director and Assistant to President of Inner Mongolia
Mengniu and has extensive experience in processing techniques and quality
control in the dairy industry. In 2010, Mr. Liu was awarded the Third Prize
for Technological Improvement in Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region. Mr.
Liu currently serves as a Standing Committee Member of the Inner Mongolia
Autonomous Region Dairy Industry Association.

Company Secretary and Qualified Accountant

Mr. Kwok Wai Cheong, Chris, aged 38, the Financial Controller and
Company Secretary of the Company, joined the Group in May 2007. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Kwok was the Financial Controller of a Hong
Kong Main Board listed company and he also had served in an international
accounting firm. Mr. Kwok graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University with a Bachelor’s degree in Accountancy. Mr. Kwok is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow
member of Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

HERZL 475 AR TmiEEIAE - Bt
EXRARARBRAL(REBMESE) 56T
B2 - WHFEEER THERSIHERELT
B - BT —TEZFNRARTT  EEARR

FEBRENEFAMPEMRE  THEE  LiHR
B ARTTEHAE e T?ﬁ*ﬂ_* EHEHE

BER - ﬁ_ﬁiﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ*ﬁqﬂlfyﬁﬁﬁlﬁﬁ% e
FEIAERTEHEF _EEEMSEEELE - —

ZTNF  BRER #Filﬁﬁﬁlgmiﬁﬁ,\ﬁﬁa
% PEESERMEBZ[REESREANRE] -

BIFELE S0 AR MmERIERE - BlkLE
EXRARHREAR  HEARHREABRELS
7 - BARMTIZENELE - BIEER—NANFME

ARET BEARSTTRIEEE  mERE - 45
BEE  HELYENIAMmINIIZRmEERILR -
—F-EF AELEARLERRMRES =F
R BRERNERENRLHBERRNEHSFHIE
=

O F) Bb i e B AR il
BEERE 385 ALANBRERAANNUE
R-BBLERAMBAEE - £MBAAEEA - 3
S RE- BTN ETATZHBEE - L YR
@A ED BT TIE - BAEREREBRIA

2 WERHEELRG  FATERHHAGEE
REEBFARAHAAGAREE -

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2010




Ranked 16th among the global dairy enterprises,
aiming to become the World’s TOP TEN.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

o SRS

The Company is dedicated to ensure high standards of corporate
governance with an emphasis on a diligent Board of Directors (the “Board”),
sound internal control, and increasing transparency and accountability to
shareholders. The Board acknowledges that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are beneficial to the Group and its shareholders.
The Company is committed to improving those practices and maintaining its
ethical corporate culture.

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Code of
Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code") contained in Appendix
14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its own code of corporate
governance practices.

Throughout the year, the Group has fully complied with all the compulsory
code provisions set out in the CG Code.

The Board

As at 31 December 2010, the Board comprised fifteen Directors, including
four executive Directors, namely, Mr. Yang Wenjun, Mr. Bai Ying, Mr. Wu
Jingshui and Mr. Ding Sheng, eight non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Niu
Gensheng, Mr. Ning Gaoning, Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen), Mr. Julian
Juul Wolhardt, Mr. Yu Xubo, Mr. Ma Jianping, Mr. Fang Fenglei and Mr.
Ma Wangjun and three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr.
Zhang Julin, Mr. Liu Fuchun and Mr. Zhang Xiaoya. The Chairman of the
Board is Mr. Niu Gensheng and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company is
Mr. Yang Wenjun.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and management of the
Company. Key responsibilities of the Board comprise formulation of
the Group's overall strategies and policies, setting of performance and
management targets, evaluation of business performance and supervision of
management’s performance. The management was delegated the authority
and responsibility by the Board for the management and operations of the
Group. In addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to
the Board Committees as detailed in this report.

Biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 38 to 43 of the annual
report, which demonstrates a diversity of skills, expertise, experience and
qualifications. There is no other material financial, business or relevant
relationships among the Directors.
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Independence of Independent Non-Executive
Directors

The independent non-executive Directors possess appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise.
Their role is to provide independent and objective opinions to the Board
for its consideration and decisions. The Company has received annual
confirmation of independence from Mr. Zhang Julin, Mr. Liu Fuchun and
Mr. Zhang Xiaoya in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Board has assessed their independence and concluded that all independent
non-executive Directors are independent within the definition of the Listing
Rules.

Board Proceedings

The Board meets at least four times a year and additional operational
meetings are also held, when required. The Company Secretary is
responsible for preparing agenda and notices for the meetings. Senior
management of the Group also provides the Directors with relevant
information on a timely basis regarding key business developments of the
Group and issues affecting the Group. Agenda and other information
packages are normally delivered to the Directors before the meetings. The
Directors also have independent access to the senior management in respect
of operating issues. The Directors may take independent professional advice
where appropriate to discharge their duties, at the Company’s expenses.
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During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Board held six meetings.
Details of Director’s attendance at the Board and Board committee meetings
held in 2010 are set out in the following table. The overall attendance rate

of Directors at Board meetings was 91.86%.

Directors

Board
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Meeting Attended/Held
HEBIT8E

Strategy and
Development

Committee
Committee  FHERBRE
REZES ZEE

Audit Remuneration = Nomination
Committee

FMEES

Executive Director HiTES
Yang Wenjun BXiE 6/6 1n
Yao Tongshan® sELe 2/2
Bai Ying HEE 5/6
W Jingshui@ R 7K@ 4/4 1n
Ding Sheng® TE 4/4
Non-executive Director FHITES
Niu Gensheng® HARAEG 5/6
Ning Gaoning AN 4/6 11
Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen) EHB(XEEE) 6/6 3/4 1" 1"
Julian Juul Wolhardt Julian Juul Wolhardt 6/6 33
Yu Xubo TR 6/6 3/3
Ma Jianping BT 6/6 i
Fang Fenglei FEE 6/6 0/1
Ma Wangjun®@ FE5e 4/4 33 17
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES
Director
Zhang Julin REM 5/6 4/4 373 1"
Liu Fuchun AEE 4/6 4/4 273 0N
Zhang Xiaoya® SREETRY 6/6 373 373 11
Notes: ¥

(1) During the year, the Company held four quarterly meetings and two other
meetings to handle operational-level matters. According to the Company’s
articles of association, the quorum for convening a Board meeting is two
members.

(2)  Mr. Wu Jingshui and Mr. Ding Sheng were appointed as executive Directors
and Mr. Ma Wangjun was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect
from 1 March 2010. Mr. Yao Tongshan resigned as executive Director with
effect from 1 March 2010.
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(3)  Mr. Niu Gensheng was re-designated from his position as an executive Director
to a non-executive Director with effect from 9 June 2010.

(4)  Mr. Zhang Xiaoya was appointed as a member of Audit Committee with effect
from 1 March 2010.

Minutes of meetings of the Board and Board Committees are kept by the
Company Secretary of the Company and are not only open for inspection
by the Directors but also sent to the Directors for their records. All Directors
have access to the Company Secretary of the Company, who is responsible
for ensuring that the Board procedures are complied with and advising the
Board on compliance matters.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief Executive Officer
to ensure a balance of power and authority. The Chairman is responsible for
overseeing the functioning of the Board while the Chief Executive Officer is
responsible for managing the Group's business.

The Chairman shall ensure that Board meetings are planned and conducted
effectively and all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings. He is also responsible for ensuring that the Directors receive
adequate information in a timely manner, which must be complete and
reliable.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors
Each Director has entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of three years. The Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at each annual general meeting of the Company in accordance
with article 112 of the Company’s articles of association. The Directors
appointed as an addition to the Board or to fill a casual vacancy on the
Board shall be subject to re-election by the shareholders at the first general
meeting after the appointment.

Board Committees

To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs and to assist in
the execution of its responsibilities, the Company has established four
Board Committees under the Board, namely the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and Strategy and
Development Committee, each of which is governed by specific terms of
reference approved by the Board, covering its functions, duties and powers.
The terms of reference of the respective Board Committees have complied
with the CG Code provisions and are available for public inspection at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.
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Remuneration Committee

As at 31 December 2010, the Remuneration Committee comprised five
members, three of whom are independent non-executive Directors (Mr.
Zhang Julin, Mr. Liu Fuchun and Mr. Zhang Xiaoya) and the remaining two
members are non-executive Directors (Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt and Mr. Yu
Xubo). The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review annually and
recommend to the Board the overall remuneration policy for the directors
and senior management to ensure that the level of remuneration is linked
to their level of responsibilities undertaken. The Remuneration Committee
shall also evaluate annually the performance of the directors and the senior
management and recommend to the Board specific adjustments in their
remuneration and/or reward payments.

The Company’s policy on remuneration is to maintain fair and competitive
packages based on business needs and industry practice. For determining
the level of fees paid to members of the Board, market rates and factors
such as each director’s workload and required commitment will be
taken into account. In addition, factors comprising economic and market
situations, individual contributions to the Group's results and development
as well as individual potential are considered when determining the
remuneration packages of executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee held three meetings during the year ended
31 December 2010 and one further meeting since 1 January 2011 and up
to the date of this report. During the year, the Remuneration Committee
had performed the following:

assessed the performance of the Directors and senior management;

—  reviewed and approved the remuneration for the Directors and senior
management;

—  reviewed the remuneration policy and recommended to the Board;
and

—  reviewed the proposal of granting of share options according to the
Company’s share option scheme, and made recommendations to the
Board.
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Nomination Committee

As at 31 December 2010, the Nomination Committee comprised five
members, three of whom are independent (Mr. Zhang Julin, Mr. Liu
Fuchun and Mr. Zhang Xiaoya) and the remaining two members are non-
executive Directors (Mr. Ning Gaoning and Mr. Jiao Shuge). The Nomination
Committee is chaired by Mr. Jiao Shuge.

The responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition, including the skills, knowledge and
experiences of the Board and make recommendations to the Board
regarding any proposed changes. The Nomination Committee is also
responsible for identifying and nominating suitable candidates qualified to
become Board members and makes recommendations to the Board on
relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of directors
if necessary, in particular, candidates who can add value to the management
through their contributions in the relevant strategic business areas and which
appointments will result in the constitution of a stronger and more diverse
Board. In the selection process, the Nomination Committee makes reference
to criteria including, inter alia, reputation for integrity, accomplishment and
experience in the dairy industry, professional and educational background,
and commitment in respect of available time.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting in the year ended 31
December 2010 to discuss mainly the nomination of two executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Wu Jingshui and Mr. Ding Sheng and one additional
non-executive Director, namely, Mr. Ma Wangjun

Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2010, the Audit Committee comprised five non-
executive Directors, three of whom are independent and possess the
relevant professional qualifications required under the Listing Rules. The
Committee is chaired by Mr. Zhang Julin, an independent non-executive
Director.

The Audit Committee serves as a focal point for communication between
other directors, the external auditors, and the management as their duties
relate to financial and other reporting, internal controls and the auditing.
The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by
providing an independent review of financial reporting and by satisfying
themselves as to the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls and as
to the efficiency of the audits.
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The Audit Committee held four meetings in the year ended 31 December
2010 and one further meeting since 1 January 2011 up to the date of this
report. During the year, the Audit Committee has performed the following:

— met with the external auditors to discuss the general scope and
findings of their audit and interim review works;

—  reviewed external auditors’ management letter and management’s
response;

—  reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval of the external
auditors’ remuneration;

—  made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment of the
external auditors;

—  reviewed the external auditors’ independence, objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process;

—  reviewed and monitored the integrity of financial statements, annual
and interim reports, and annual and interim announcements of the
Company; and

—  discussed auditing, internal control, risk management and financial
reporting matters before recommending them to the Board for
approval.

All issues raised by the external auditors and the Audit Committee have
been addressed by the senior management. The work and findings of the
Audit Committee have been reported to the Board. During the year, no issues
brought to the attention of the senior management and the Board were of
sufficient significance for disclosure in the annual report.

Other than the reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditors (please
refer to the independent auditors’ report set out on pages 69 to 70),
the Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Group and the Company which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at 31 December
2010 and the profit and cash flows of the Group for the year then ended.
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Internal Control

The Board is responsible for maintaining an established and effective internal
control system, to safeguard the assets of the Group and the interest
of shareholders, and for reviewing its effectiveness regularly. Aiming at
strengthening the risk management culture of the Group and minimizing
the impacts of the major risks on the business and earnings of the Group,
the senior management of the Group meets to actively evaluate and review
the significant risks to which the Group is exposed and reports to the Board
on a regular basis. The Group also appoints external consultants, when
considered appropriate, to review the Group'’s internal control, working
systems and workflows, as well as the management systems, and to make
suggestions on system enhancement.

Besides strict implementation of a performance assessment system
and training programs for its staff, the Group has in place a series of
written working systems in respect of business, production, finance, legal
compliance and administration aspects, to ensure the significant risks, to
which the Group is exposed, are contained:

—  Control environment — The Group has established defined
organizational structures. Authority to operate various business
functions is delegated to respective management within limits set by
senior management of the headquarters or the executive Directors.
The senior management meets on a regular basis to discuss and
approve business strategies, plans and budgets prepared by individual
business units. The performance of the Group is reported to the Board
on a regular basis.

—  Risk assessment — The Group identifies, assesses and ranks the risks
that are most relevant to the Group’s business according to their
likelihood, financial consequence and reputational impact on the
Group.

—  Control activities — Policies and procedures are set for each
business function, in which approvals, authorization, verification,
recommendations, performance reviews, asset security and
segregation of duties are included.

— Information and communication — The Group's working systems
document operational procedures of all business units, as well as
authorization and approval procedures for significant decision making.

—  Monitoring — The Group adopts a control and risk self-assessment
methodology, continuously assessing and managing its business risks
by way of assessment by the headquarters of the Group and each
business unit on a regular basis, and communication of key control
procedures to employees.
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During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Board had examined the
internal control system and reviewed the evaluation performed by the
Audit Committee, the management and internal and external auditors, on
the effectiveness of internal control. No significant areas of concern were
identified.

The Board also reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
functions and their training programmes and budget and considered that
they are adequate.

External Auditors

The Group's independent external auditors are Ernst & Young. The Audit
Committee is responsible for the appointment of the external auditors and
reviewing the non-audit functions performed by the external auditors for the
Group. In particular, the Committee will, prior to the execution of contract
with external auditors and the commencement of their duties, consider
whether the non-audit functions will result in any potential material conflict
of interest.

Details of fees paid or payable to Ernst & Young for the year ended 31
December 2010 are as follows:

HE-T-BFT-A=+—BILFE EFRCE
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MER - /E\Iﬁ’ﬂﬁﬁ&%%%ﬁ CREEIF & RIRE
SRR BAERRRTRAN

B A% B i
AEBABI MBI BED R LK ERTEN AT © FX
ZEe B BRI BE R BHZ SR A E
BETH IR B TR - Fh % E B e mINaix
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2010 2009

—E-ZF —TTNEF

RMB'000 RMB'000

Services rendered 12 EIRIE AREET T ARMETFT

Annual audit FEET 3,400 3,250

Interim review AR R 540 540
Non-audit service TR

Review on continuing connected transactions EHHFRHERER S 40 -

Other professional services Hith B PR 860 -

4,840 3,790

The Board is satisfied with the audit fees, process and effectiveness of Ernst %% MELZKEETAEBITNZEER « B RK

& Young and has recommended their reappointment as the Company’s
external auditors at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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Strategy and Development Committee

The Company has established a Strategy and Development Committee on
27 August 2009, which currently comprised two executive Director, Mr.
Yang Wenjun and Mr. Wu Jingshui and four non-executive Directors, Mr.
Ma Jianping, Mr. Jiao Shuge, Mr. Fang Fenglei and Mr. Ma Wangjun. The
Strategy and Development Committee is chaired by Mr. Ma Jianping.

The principal duties of the Strategy and Development Committee include
drawing up long-term development strategies and significant investments
on financing plans of the Company, proposing significant capital investment
for operation projects, and conducting studies and making recommendation
on important matters that would affect the development of the Company.

The Strategy and Development Committee held one meeting during the
year ended 31 December 2010 to discuss mainly the significant investment
plans, budget and performance target for 2011.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted, in terms no less exacting than, the standard
required by the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the Company’s code
of conduct and rules governing dealings by all the directors in the securities
of the Company (“Model Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all the
Directors, the Company confirms that, during the year ended 31 December
2010, all the Directors have strictly complied with the Model Code.

Investor Relations and Communications

The Company adopts a proactive policy in promoting investor relations and
communications. Regular meetings are held with institutional investors and
financial analysts to ensure two-way communications on the Company’s
performance and development. When the Company announces its interim
and annual results, briefings are conducted to apprise investors, analysts and
the press of the Group's operating results as well as business strategies and
outlook. Investor relations website is updated on a timely basis to ensure
that investors are able to have access to the Company’s information, latest
news and reports. Nine out of the fifteen Directors, including the Chairman,
have attended the annual general meeting in June 2010 to be available to
answer questions at the meeting.

Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings for each substantially
separate issue, including election of Directors. Poll voting has been adopted
for decision-making at shareholders’ meeting. Details of poll voting
procedures were included in the circular dispatched to the shareholders
of the Company. The circular also included relevant details of proposed
resolutions and biographies of the Directors standing for election.
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The board of directors (the “Directors”) presents its report together with the
audited financial statements of the Company and the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2010.

Principal Activities and Analysis of Operations

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of the Group’s main operating subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Mengniu
Dairy (Group) Company Limited (“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”), and its
subsidiaries are manufacturing and distribution of dairy products including
liquid milk (comprising UHT milk, milk beverages and yogurt), ice cream and
other dairy products (such as milk powder) in China.

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 19 to the
financial statements.

The Group's revenue is derived principally from business activities in China.
An analysis of the Group'’s performance for the year ended 31 December
2010 by business segments is set out in note 3 to the financial statements.

Results and Appropriations
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010 are set out
in the consolidated income statement on page 71.

The Directors have recommended the payment of a final dividend of
RMBO0.16 (2009: RMBO0.1413) per share, amounting to approximately
RMB278,078,000 (2009: RMB245,465,000) in total, to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members on 10 June 2011.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group and the Company during the year are set out in note 12 to the
financial statements.

Reserves

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 75 to 76 and note 40 to the financial statements. The
Company's distributable reserves, calculated in accordance with statutory
provisions applicable in the Company’s place of incorporation, amounted
to approximately RMB7,814,927,000 as at 31 December 2010 (2009:
RMB8,075,450,000).

Donations
Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year
amounted to approximately RMB12,941,000 (2009: RMB12,901,000).
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Share Capital and Share Options
Details of movement in the Company’s share capital and share options
during the year are set out in notes 39 and 42 to the financial statements.

Directors
The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2010 were:

Executive Directors
Mr. YANG Wenjun
Mr. YAO Tongshan
Mr. BAl Ying

Mr. WU Jingshui

Mr. DING Sheng

(resigned on 1 March 2010)

(appointed on 1 March 2010)
(appointed on 1 March 2010)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. NIU Gensheng (re-designated to a non-executive director
on 9 June 2010)

Mr. NING Gaoning

Mr. JIJAO Shuge (alias JJAO Zhen)

Mr. Julian Juul WOLHARDT

Mr. YU Xubo

Mr. MA Jianping

Mr. FANG Fenglei

Mr. MA Wangjun (appointed on 1 March 2010)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. ZHANG Julin

Mr. LIU Fuchun

Mr. ZHANG Xiaoya

In accordance with Article 112 of the Company’s articles of association,
Mr. Yang Wenjun, Mr. Bai Ying, Mr. Fang Fenglei, Mr. Liu Fuchun and Mr.
Zhang Xiaoya, will retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company considers that Mr. Zhang Julin, Mr. Liu Fuchun and Mr.
Zhang Xiaoya are independent pursuant to the criteria set out in the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”) and that a confirmation of independence has been
received from each of them.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management

Brief biographical details of the Directors and the senior management are
set out on pages 38 to 43.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has service contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.
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Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ Interests, Long and Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at 31 December 2010, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and any associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance) (“SFO") as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”) were as
follows:

Long positions in shares of the Company/Associated Corporation:

EHZ AR

REEB RFREABR - AR TREEEF RS
ERTEMS RARENEBT T AEFEERDE
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Percentage of
the Company’s/
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Corporation’s
Issued
Company/Name of Share Capital
Associated Total Number of {5242 7]/ 8H#
Name of Director Corporation Nature of Interest Ordinary Shares B2 HTRA
EERE AT HECEE SRR EEME EEREE ZBEDL
Niu Gensheng (Note 3)  Company Corporate Interest (Note 1) 78,466,049 (L) 451%
HARAE(BEE3) PA/NE] Al (M)
Interests under Concert Party 144,056,371 (L) 8.29%
Agreement (Note 2)
—BATEN T ek 2 i (FRE2)
Yang Wenjun Company Personal Interest 1,506,196 (L) 0.09%
X% PA/NS| B AR
Interests under Concert Party 144,056,371 (L) 8.29%
Agreement (Note 2)
—BATE T a2 s (PRE2)
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Personal Interest 4,510,460 (L) 0.30%
AEES (VN5
Bai Ying Company Personal Interest 148,837 (L) 0.01%
SEE /NS BN
Interests under Concert Party 144,056,371 (L) 8.29%
Agreement (Note 2)
—BA TR ek s s (FRE2)
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Personal Interest 448,201 (L) 0.03%
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Notes:

1. 78,466,049 shares are held by Yinniu Milk Industry Limited (“Yinniu”), a
shareholder of the Company, which is controlled as to 95.53% by Xin Niu
International Limited (“Xin Niu”). Niu Gensheng, by virtue of a proxy, has been
delegated voting rights of the shares in Yinniu held by Xin Niu.

2. On 24 July 2008, Xin Niu, Yinniu, Jinniu Milk Industry Limited (“Jinniu”),
Niu Gensheng and a group of 21 individuals comprising Directors and
management staff of the Group (the “Management Shareholders”) (together,
the “Concert Parties”) entered into a concert party agreement (the “Concert
Party Agreement”) regarding their interest in the Company. The Concert Party
Agreement constitutes an agreement under section 317 of the SFO. Details of
the shareholding of the Concert Parties (who are not Directors of the Company)
are set out in the section headed " Substantial Shareholders’ Interests” below.

3. On 24 December 2010, Mr. Niu Gensheng has transferred all the equity
interests registered in his name in the Company (68,781,022 ordinary shares),
representing 3.96% interests of the Company’s issued capital, to Hengxin Trust
for charity.

() Indicates a long position.

Certain Directors of the Company have been granted options under the
Company’s share option scheme, details of which are set out in the section
“Share Option Scheme” below.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2010, none of the Directors and
the Chief Executives of the Company had any interests and short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO).

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests

As at 31 December 2010, the interests or short positions of substantial
shareholders, other than the Directors or the Chief Executives of the
Company whose interests, long and short positions in the shares of the
Company and of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) are set out above, in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be maintained under
section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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International Limited([{4 )14 o FIREFEB—H
ZHERRETEFABEZBFRND IR -

2. RZZEZENFEAZ+HTA - E4 - R4 - Jinniu
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)
Percentage
of Issued
Number of Share Capital
Name of Ordinary Shares HERITRA
Substantial Shareholder FERRUER BB EEREE Aok
COFCO Limited FEREHRMERERAR 348,000,000 (L) 20.02%
COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited 347,600,000 (L) 20.00%
Fang Fenglei HESE 347,600,000 (L) 20.00%
Hopu Investment Management Co., Ltd Hopu Investment Management Co., Ltd 347,600,000 (L) 20.00%
Ong Tiong Sin Ong Tiong Sin 347,600,000 (L) 20.00%
Xin Niu =49 78,466,049 (L) (Note KT 1) 451%
144,056,371 (L) (Note Hi3T 2) 8.29%
Yinniu R 78,466,049 (L) (Note HfizT 1) 451%
144,056,371 (L) (Note HizT 2) 829%
Jinniu Cras 26,489,292 (1) 1.52%
144,056,371 (L) (Note KizT 2) 8.29%
Sun Yubin FEE 144,056,371 (L) (Note HizT 2) 8.29%
Deng Jiugiang B N5E 144,056,371 (L) (Note Hi3T 2) 8.29%
Lu Jun EiE 144,056,371 (L) (Note BffzE 2) 8.29%
Sun Xianhong RIAT 144,056,371 (L) (Note HizT 2) 8.29%
Wang Fuzhu T 144,056,371 () (Note 13T 2) 8.29%
Bai Jun Sk 144,056,371 (L) (Note H{3T 2) 8.29%
Hou Jiangbin TR, 144,056,371 (L) (Note H{3T 2) 8.29%
Qiu Lianjun fREE 144,056,371 (L) (Note [f{3E 2) 8.29%
Pang Kaitai BERRZR 144,056,371 (L) (Note BffzE 2) 8.29%
Chu Xiuli TEE 144,056,371 (L) (Note HizT 2) 829%
Li Shurong =S 144,056,371 () (Note ff5F 2) 8.29%
Liu Xiaoling 2E1s 144,056,371 (L) (Note [f{I3T 2) 8.29%
Wang Guisheng TEE 144,056,371 (L) (Note H{3T 2) 8.29%
Wang Ai Suo FiRE 144,056,371 (L) (Note HizT 2) 8.29%
Wang Jishan T4 144,056,371 (L) (Note BffzT 2) 8.29%
Wang Jianbang FEF 144,056,371 (L) (Note HizT 2) 8.29%
Jiang Hong ST4T 144,056,371 (L) (Note FftzF 2) 8.29%
Zheng Wenping B 144,056,371 (L) (Note izt 2) 8.29%
Ren Meicheng (an=oDd 144,056,371 (L) (Note [ff3T 2) 8.29%
UBS AG UBS AG 173,669,071 (L) 9.99%
1,370,142 (S) 0.08%
J P Morgan Chase & Co J P Morgan Chase & Co 155,977,861 (L) 8.97%

2,188,845 (S) 0.13%
150,375,497 (P) 8.65%
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Notes:

(1) 788,466,049 shares are held by Yinniu, a shareholder of the Company, which
is controlled as to 95.53% by Xin Niu. Niu Gensheng, by virtue of a proxy, has
been delegated voting rights of the shares in Yinniu held by Xin Niu.

(2)  On 24 July 2008, Xin Niu, Yinniu, Jinniu, Niu Gensheng and the Management
Shareholders entered into the Concert Party Agreement regarding their interest
in the Company. The Concert Party Agreement constitutes an agreement
under section 317 of the SFO and the aggregate number of shares under the
Concert Party Agreement is 144,056,371, representing approximately 8.29%
of the issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2010. These shares are
beneficially owned by Yinniu, Jinniu, Yang Wenjun, Bai Ying (the shareholdings
of these parties are set out in the table above or in the section headed
“Directors’ Interests, long and short position in shares, underlying shares and
debentures”) and Sun Yubin (as to 2,498,444 shares), Deng Jiugiang (as to
2,753,636 shares), Lu Jun (as to 1,134,104 shares), Wang Fuzhu (as to 704,721
shares), Bai Jun (as to 570,542 shares), Hou Jiangbin (as to 7,085,491 shares),
Qiu Lianjun (as to 9,001,526 shares), Li Shurong (as to 2,029,598 shares), Liu
Xiaoling (as to 2,029,598 shares), Wang Guisheng (as to 1,587,596 shares),
Wang Ai Suo (as to 2,282,170 shares), Jiang Hong (as to 507,399 shares),
Zheng Wenping (as to 3,748,654 shares) and Ren Meicheng (as to 1,512,518
shares).

(S Indicates a short position.
() Indicates a long position.

(P)  Indicates a lending position.

Saved as disclosed above and in the section “Share Option Scheme” below,
as at 31 December 2010, no other interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company were recorded in the register maintained
under section 336 of the SFO.

Continuing Connected Transactions

On 20 January 2010, the Company entered into the Master Sale and
Purchase Agreement with COFCO Corporation, a connected person which
holds 20.02% of the Company, pursuant to which the Group will, subject
to the Group’s regular review and at the Group’s option, purchase white
sugar, oil, other raw materials and other related products from COFCO
Corporation, it's subsidiaries and certain associated companies (collectively
“COFCO Corporation Group Companies”) and COFCO Corporation Group
Companies will supply white sugar, oil, other raw materials and other
related products to the Group, for a period commencing from 20 January
2010 to 19 January 2012.
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The transactions under the Master Sale and Purchase Agreement constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Group. The annual value of the
transactions amount under the Master Sale and Purchase Agreement for
each of the two years ending 31 December 2010 and 2011 is not expected
to exceed RMB290,000,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the total amount paid/payable by
the Group to the COFCO Corporation Group Companies for the purchase
of white sugar, oil, other raw materials and other related products was
approximately RMB110,963,000.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have reviewed the
continuing connected transactions set out above and have confirmed that
these continuing connected transactions were entered into (i) in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group; (i) on normal commercial terms
or on terms no less favourable to the Group than terms available to or
from independent third parties; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole. The Company
confirms that it has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference
to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance with
Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter has been
provided by the Company to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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Share Option Scheme Sk st W ST 1

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the ~ AR EIRA—TEMERAETBI([FTE]) - HAHARE
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who — BIEBKINE SRz & B B2 HEE(EHEE R IEE o
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. The following share A » 5 &IA R ARITE 2 BEARELNT o

options were outstanding under the Scheme during the year.

Number of share options
BREHA
Exercise
Period of Exercise
Asat share options price of

1 January Granted Exercised Lapsed Date of (both dates share

Name or Category of 2010 during during during R=Z—-Z% grantof inclusive) options
Participant R-E-ZF the year the year the year shareoptions  EERETEHE i
SRELRAEG —A-H FREL ERTE EAXK RUBRERY (BRERMR)? TR
HK$

Executive directors
HiTES
Yang Wenjun( 9,000,000 - - - 9,000,000 18.8.2008 188201010 17.8.2014 22.03
B R —ZETNF - fﬁ/\ﬂ AVAES
NATNE Z2-mFENATEH
6,600,000 - - - 6,600,000 23.11.2009 23.11.2011 10 22.11.2015 2440
—ZTNE e sy el = )
+-A-t=8 —Z-a%t-F-1+=A
Yao Tongshan® 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 18.8.2008 188201010 17.8.2014 22.03
SR —ZETNF —ZF- fﬁ/\ﬂ AAED
NATNE —2-FEN\ATEH
1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 23.11.2009 23.11.20111022.11.2015 2440
—ZTNE —E——F4—A=t=HZ
+-A-t=8 —Z-a%t-F-1=A
Bai Ying" 34,250 - - - 34,250 26.10.2006 26.10.2007 t0 25.10.2012 13.40
BB “ETRF gy o s NS E
+A=+AB “Z-—F+A=+hA
3,680,000 - - - 3,680,000 18.8.2008 188201010 17.8.2014 22.03
“ETNF “E-TF\AT/\BZ
NATNE “E-mENATLEA
3,210,000 - - - 3,210,000 23.11.2009 23.11.20111022.11.2015 24.40
—ZTNF ZE—4T-AZT=RZ
+-A=t=8 —T-A%t-A-1=A
Wu Jingshui@ 31,500 - - - 31,500 26.10.2006 26.10.2007 t0 25.10.2012 13.40
REK “EEE “TELF+A-tHE
+AZ+~EB “Z-——F+A-+HA
1,650,000 - - - 1,650,000 18.8.2008 188201010 17.8.2014 22.03
—ZENF —F- fﬁ/\ﬂ AVAED
NATNE Z2-FENATEH
1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 23.11.2009 23.11.2011 10 22.11.2015 2440

“FENF “FFt-AZtZHE
T-A=t+=H ZZ-afFt-A=tZH
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Name or Category of
Participant
SRELMNER

Number of share options

BREHE

Asat

1 January
2010
R-2-%%
—A-H

Exercised
during
the year
FRITHRE

Granted

during
the year
FREH

Lapsed

the year
FREN

Asat

31 December

2010

during R=Z-Bf&

+=R
=t-H

Exercise

Period of

share options
(both dates
inclusive)®

B RETEAR
(BEERMA)®

Exercise
price of
share
options
Bk
TEE

Date of

grant of

share options
RHERERH

Ding Sheng® 24,000 - - - 24,000 26.10.2006 26.10.2007 to0 25.10.2012 13.40
TEe —TTRE “ERHETAZTRAR
+AZt~B  ZE-ZFtA-t+HA
1,850,000 - - - 1,850,000 18.8.2008 188201010 17.8.2014 22.03
—ZTNF —Z-TF\AT/\BZE
NATNR —Z-mFN\A+tH
1,800,000 - - - 1,800,000 23.11.2009 23.11.2011 10 22.11.2015 2440
—TThE T Sy e S
+—R=+=A ZZ-8Ft-A=1ZH
Employees in Aggregate 1,930,919 - (206,056) (56,971) 1,667,892 26.10.2006 26.10.2007 to0 25.10.2012 13.40
EE#0 ZETSF ZERHETAZTAER
+A=tXA ZF-—Ft+A=t+EA
57,809,000 - (589,759)  (1,273,961) 55945280 18.8.2008 188201010 17.8.2014 22.03
“EENE “E-TF\AT/\BZE
NATNR “S-mENATEA
74,915,000 - - (24870000 72,428,000 23.11.2009 23.11.20111022.11.2015 24.40
—ZTNE ZE—4T-AZT=RZ
+—AZ+t=H —E-RF+-A=fZH
- 4,470,000 - - 4,470,000 6.12.2010 6.12.2012105.12.2016 22.809
—E-%F o2 il NS
tARR SB-AEoAEE
166,034,669 4,470,000 (795,815)  (3,817,932) 165,890,922
(1) Xin Niu, Yinniu, Jinniu and the Management Shareholders entered into the (1) &4 B4 4 REEEBREAN -_ZSN\E+ A

Concert Party Agreement on 24 July 2008 and accordingly, Xin Niu, Yinniu,
Jinniu and the Management Shareholders (who include Yang Wenjun and Bai
Ying) were all deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 31,564,500 share
options in the Company under the SFO as at 31 December 2010.

The exercise period of the share options granted commences after a certain
vesting period and the fulfilment of certain performance targets, and ends on
a date which is no later than six years from the date of grant of such options.
Further details of the share option scheme are set out in note 42 to the financial
statements.

The closing price of the Company'’s shares immediately before the date of grant
(i.e. 6 December 2010) was HK$22.90.

Mr. Yao Tongshan was resigned as executive Director with effect from 1 March
2010. On the same date, Mr. Wu Jingshui and Mr. Ding Sheng were appointed
as executive Directors.

3)

()

ZHMBRIY BT A RE AR —TF
TZA=F+—8 =4 RF SFELREEERE
(BEBXERBE)BEESRPRKIEREARE
#1.231,564,50010 AR FIEREP A E o

ZEERETEYRE TRESMENRETRESR
TREAREN  TERIZSHERERRLEE A TE
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The values of share options calculated using the binomial model are subject
to certain fundamental limitations, due to the subjective nature of and
uncertainty related to a number of assumptions of the expected future
performance input to the model, and certain inherent limitations of the
model itself. Details of the valuation are set out in note 42 to the financial
statements.

The value of an option varies with different variables of certain subjective
assumptions. Any change to the variables used may materially affect the
estimation of the fair value of an option.

Pre-emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to its existing shareholders.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s
Listed Shares

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

Public Float

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the Listing Rules, based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.

Major Customers and Suppliers
The percentage of purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers of the
Group combined was less than 30% of the total purchases of the Group.

The percentage of revenue attributable to the five largest customers of the
Group combined was less than 30% of the total revenue of the Group.

Bz BERA -BEHEEAGE B EE?F’\‘ETFFT
RMNZARRRRBRAFENTBER TS
B ARBAARG ZETRERS Hﬂ(ﬁtaﬂ?b‘/z%
FETEARS - HEFBHNMBEREM 42 -
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EREHEAESRGHBEREZ B AR EEE
REAFE

1 SE R
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REAE -
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AREER ETES ©
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Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2010, the Group pledged certain bank deposits, land
use rights and certain property, plant and equipment aggregating to
approximately RMB291,881,000 (2009: RMB459,410,000). Details are set
out in respective notes to the financial statements.

Commitments and Contingent Liabilities
Details of commitments and contingent liabilities are set out in notes 45 and
46 to the financial statements.

Financial Summary

A summary of the results for the year and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group as at 31 December 2010 and for the previous four financial periods
are set out on page 204.

Corporate Governance
The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 46 to 55.

Auditors

The financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as auditors of the Company will
be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board of Directors

Yang Wenjun
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 31 March 2011
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
N E R
Board of Directors

Executive Directors
Mr. YANG Wenjun

Mr. YAO Tongshan (resigned on 1 March 2010)
Mr. BAl Ying

Mr. WU Jingshui (appointed on 1 March 2010)
Mr. Ding Sheng (appointed on 1 March 2010)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. NIU Gensheng (re-designated to a non-executive
director on 9 June 2010)

Mr. NING Gaoning

Mr. JIJAO Shuge (alias JJAO Zhen)

Mr. Julian Juul WOLHARDT

Mr. YU Xubo

Mr. MA Jianping

Mr. FANG Fenglei

Mr. MA Wangjun (appointed on 1 March 2010)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. ZHANG Julin

Mr. LIU Fuchun

Mr. ZHANG Xiaoya

Senior Management
Mr. LU Jianjun
Mr. YAQO Haitao
Ms. ZHAO Yuanhua
Mr. LIU Weixing
Mr. KWOK Wai Cheong, Chris
(Qualified Accountant & Company Secretary)

Stock Code
Hong Kong Stock Exchange 2319

Investor Relations Contact
Mr. KWOK Wai Cheong, Chris

Unit 1001, 10th Floor, Jubilee Centre
18 Fenwick Street, Wanchai

Hong Kong

Email: info@mengniuir.com

Website: www.mengniuir.com
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Place of Business in Hong Kong
Unit 1001, 10th Floor, Jubilee Centre

18 Fenwick Street, Wanchai

Hong Kong

Registered Office
Maples Corporate Services
P.O. Box 309

Ugland House

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

Principal Share Registrar
Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Cayman) Limited
Butterfield House

68 Fort Street

P.O. Box 609

Grand Cayman, KY1-1107

Cayman Islands

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
46th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai

Hong Kong

Legal Advisors
As to Hong Kong Law
Norton Rose

As to Cayman Islands Law
Maples and Calder Asia

Principal Bankers
Agricultural Bank of China

Bank of China

Industrial Commercial Bank of China
BNP Paribas
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT

¥ S A% B e

Ell ERNST & YOUNG

=z K

Ernst & Young
18th Floor

Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street, Central

Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2846 9888
Fax: (852) 2868 4432

www.ey.com

To the shareholders of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Mengniu
Dairy Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Group”) set out on pages 71 to 203, which comprise the consolidated
and company statements of financial position as at 31 December 2010,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of these
consolidated financial statement that give a true and fair view in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

Rk EEHEFE R AT
PR AR
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EEE: (852) 2846 9888

{82 (852) 2868 4432
www.ey.com
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31
December 2010, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 31 March, 2011
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
e IR B

For the year ended 31 December 2010 #HE—Z—ZF+_A=+—HIFE

2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNF
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETFTT
REVENUE WA 4 30,265,415 25,710,460
Cost of sales SHERZN (22,478,979) (18,858,229)
GROSS PROFIT ER 7,786,436 6,852,231
Other income and gains H AU A Rz 4 193,472 80,959
Selling and distribution costs FHE N A i E (5,429,141) (4,653,460)
Administrative expenses 1TEE (1,036,039) (863,750)
Other operating expenses Hihea &M 5 (59,745) (113,045)
PROFIT FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES R TS 1,454,983 1,302,935
Interest income FLEUWA 87,884 85,042
Finance costs BRE R A 8 (45,203) (61,153)
Share of profits and losses of associates (GBS A RIA)E K E51E 40,438 19,522
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BLATR 6 1,538,102 1,346,346
Income tax expense FTSfisz 9 (182,185) (126,240)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ARERE 1,355,917 1,220,106
Attributable to; AT &5 e
Owners of the Company RRAFER A 1,237,273 1,115,799
Non-controlling interests IHEAIAT R 118,644 104,307
1,355,917 1,220,106
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO RATZBERERA
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE EEERER
COMPANY (EXPRESSED IN RMB PER SHARE) (LS A RYETTET) 11
— Basic —HAK 0.712 0.681
— Diluted — g 0.711 N/A 7N

Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are disclosed in

note 10 to the financial statements.

A BB R BIE RS R R B IS R R 310
R -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
»‘/T 0 3= AE L&ﬁﬁi%

For the year ended 31 December 2010 &HE=—Z—ZF+_A=+—HIFE

2010 2009
—E-EF —EENF
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000
FI=E AREF T ARETFTT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR N R 1,355,917 1,220,106
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hit 2 Az
Available-for-sale investments: AIEHERSE :
Changes in fair value N EEE) 22 145,366 -
Income tax effect FriSTiRy s & 22 (39,865) =
105,501 —
Exchange differences on translation of BEGINETSHIE 258
foreign operations (150,885) (4,535)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FORTHE FEH 2 mEUkE -

YEAR, NET OF TAX MERBIE (45,384) (4,535)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FEE2ENEETE

FOR THE YEAR 1,310,533 1,215,571
Attributable to; A& FE(L -

Owners of the Company KR A 1,183,864 1,111,264

Non-controlling interests FEFER AR R 126,669 104,307

1,310,533 1,215,571




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A o B B AR DL AR

As at 31 December 2010 R=Z—ZF+=-HA=+—H

2010 2009
—E-=F ZEThF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt AR%TR ARETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE

Property, plant and equipment Wz - WE KRR 12 5,380,385 4,919,608
Construction in progress EETIE 13 535,104 326,679
Land use rights + (s PR A 14 484,572 367,191
Goodwill [EES 15 451,613 199,143
Other intangible assets HEihmpEE 16 221,508 31,637
Investments in associates REFE R BRI E 20 113,857 67,383
Available-for-sale investments A ERE 22 301,681 17,409
Deferred tax assets RIEFTSREE 23 81,060 131,741
Other financial assets HEthemEE 24 71,754 20,868
7,641,534 6,081,659

CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories 7531 25 1,176,423 714,897
Bills receivable NS 26 20,539 52,449
Trade receivables FEUERSR 27 554,933 527,303
Prepayments and deposits AN MRS 28 942,303 272,627
Other receivables E {th el 08 29 169,897 66,202
Pledged deposits REBEEIFHK 30 102,399 230,968
Cash and bank balances IB& NMERTTHTF 30 6,697,813 6,150,021
9,664,307 8,014,467

CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAE
Trade payables FERTBREX 31 2,061,193 1,531,366
Bills payable HANES7 32 1,487,302 808,409
Deferred income RIEWZS 37 15,082 13,162
Accruals and customers’ deposits JERRBAMEFR® 33 880,142 559,291
Other payables H At (T RIR 1,061,253 1,211,172
Interest-bearing bank loans T EERITER 34 550,786 323,593
Other loans HA &R 35 140,018 106,947
Income tax payable FERTERSHR 42,513 =
6,238,289 4,553,940
NET CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE 3,426,018 3,460,527
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES HWEERREAE 11,067,552 9,542,186

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2010



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION coninue)
A BRI I 3% (a0

As at 31 December 2010 A=Z—ZF+-HA=+—H

2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNF
RMB'000 RMB’000
AREF T ARETFTT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREESF
Interest-bearing bank loans HESRITER 34 150,000 350,000
Long term payables REAFEN IR 36 14,102 49,879
Deferred income IREW S 37 226,049 230,613
Deferred tax liabilities REMEHAaE 23 39,865 -
Other finandial liabilities Hit & maE 38 420,027 -
850,043 630,492
NET ASSETS BEE 10,217,509 8,911,694
EQUITY =R
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ~ ZNA RS AFE(GHERS
Issued capital BEITIRA 39 178,679 178,611
Retained earnings IREB A 2,050,216 1,294,766
Other reserves E b 40(A) 7,529,169 7,102,301
9,758,064 8,575,678
Non-controlling interests AR AR R A R 459,445 336,016
TOTAL EQUITY AR 10,217,509 8,911,694
Niu Gensheng Yang Wenjun
HiRE BX®&
Director Director

£ EF



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
»‘/T = %ﬁﬁ%@]i@

For the year ended 31 December 2010 #HE—Z—ZF+_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company
ADAREABGLRE

Non-

Issued Other  Retained controlling Total

capital ~ reserves  earnings Total interests equity
BRTRE HitRE RENE Bt FERER s
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
M ARMTRT ARMTRT ARWMTRT ARWTR AR®TR AR¥TR

Note 40(A)
HzE40(A)
At 1 January 2009 RZZTNF—H—H 163,137 3,937,924 363555 4,464,616 273,355 4,737,971
Profit for the year AEFE - - 1115799 1,115799 104,307 1,220,106
Other comprehensive income EFHMDEUES
for the year:
Exchange difference on translation & EINETFHIE X,
of foreign operations bt = (4,535) - (4,535) - (4,535)
Total comprehensive income FEZANGESR
for the year - (4,535) 1,115,799 1,111,264 104,307 1,215,571
Issue of shares B1lR{D 39 15,320 2,679,163 - 2,694,483 - 2,694,483
Shares issued under equity-settled  1R{E AR (R 32 5 #OBERL 2
share option arrangements THEERTIR D 42 154 20,515 - 20,669 - 20,669
Equity-settled share option DA 7 S5 R R
arrangements ZHE 42 - 284,646 - 284,646 - 284,646
Transfer to statutory reserves EREE TG = 184,588  (184,588) - - -
Dividends paid to non-controling  [IZHZER AR BRI S,
shareholders - - - - (33,563) (33,563)
Deemed disposal of asubsidiary ~ BRIHE—FFNA 44 - = = = (8,083) (8,083)
At 31 December 2009 R-TTNF
+-A=1+—H 178,611 7,102,301 1,294,766 8,575,678 336,016  8911,694
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY conmnuen)

AR RESR A B AR (a0

For the year ended 31 December 2010 &HE=—Z—ZF+_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

AATEE AL EDS
Non-
Issued Other  Retained controlling Total
capital reserves  earnings Total interests equity
ERTRE Htf#E REFE &t FERRER B
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
M AR¥TRT ARBTR AR¥TR ARBTR AR%TR AR%TR
Note 40(A)
HizE40(A)
At 1 January 2010 RZZT—ZTF—-H—H 178,611 7,102,301 1,294,766 8,575,678 336,016 8,911,694
Profit for the year REFIE - - 1,237,273 1237273 118644 1,355,917
Other comprehensive income EFHMAEUES
for the year:
Changes in fair value of available- At EREAA(E
for-sale investments, net of tax ) HIBRTIA - 97,476 - 97,476 8025 105,501
Exchange difference on translation  #&EINEFRRIE K,
of foreign operations =8 - (150,885) - (150,885) - (150,885)
Total comprehensive income FREPENGEE
for the year - (53,409) 1,237,273 1,183,864 126,669 1,310,533
Shares issued under equity-settled  HRIESARL (D 32 5 #OBERL A2
share option arrangements ZHRITRM 4 68 13,343 - 13,411 - 13,411
Equity-settled share option AR 5 1+ 6 B s e
arrangements ZHE 42 - 366,183 - 366,183 - 366,183
Transfer to statutory reserves BT LTRE - 236378  (236,379) - - -
Final 2009 dividend declared BEER=ZZTNEH
RIS 10 - - (245,445)  (245,445) - (245,445)
Dividends paid to non-controlling  [AZEZAR ARSI &
shareholders - - - - (27,228) (27,228)
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—R 727 43 - - - - 221,287 221,287
Derecognition of puttable BRI RS IR
non-controlling interests RS 38 - (135,627) - (135627) (197,299)  (332,926)
At 31 December 2010 RZT—TF
+-A=1—H 178,679 7,529,169 2,050,216 9,758,064 459,445 10,217,509




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
A Bl i B

For the year ended 31 December 2010 #HE—Z—ZF+_A=+—HIFE

2010 2009
—E2-BF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR%T R ARETT
Cash flows from operating activities REXBELENESRE
Profit before tax MEATAE 1,538,102 1,346,346
Adjustments for: YIS IREL %
Interest income FEWA (87,884) (85,042)
Finance costs BB 8 45,203 61,153
Depreciation of items of property, plant and Wz - BB REEITE
equipment 6 697,996 663,863
Amortisation of land use rights -t {sh PR AR 5 6 9,172 7,231
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hiah R g e 6 5,608 4,304
Loss on disposal of items of property, BREVE - MBENMERE
plant and equipment [E518 5 18,661 7,834
Share-based payment expense VARR D RERE RS A 42 366,183 284,646
Provision/(write-back of provision) for trade FEUBR 7R N2 ELAth FE IR IR
receivables and other receivables Bt/ (BsEpglm) 6 (1,013) 15,980
Share of profits and losses of associates JE(RES N T FE M EE (40,438) (19,522)
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 77 &5 & Al 217 % (E 5 865 1,033
Amortisation of deferred income IRIE U S 4 (14,857) (13,795)
Foreign exchange differences, net ME W AR 4 (57,338) (541)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary acquired HERFEFEN—RT
with a view to resale NGl - 407
Loss on deemed disposal of a subsidiary BREALE—XRTRAERE 44 - 1,073
Gain on deemed disposal of an associate HRELE—KEE QA
Wz 4 (6,256) =
2,474,004 2,274,970
Increase in other financial assets Hih S ahE g (58,552) (22,750)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL,/(38m) (425,877) 103,062
Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills receivables  FEURBE TR % FE G =42
() 41,417 (241,101)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits REBESTFZOR L, (E0) 57,389 (103,195)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits TERK - Re REM
and other receivables FEM R IER A, (32 0) (632,163) 51,441
Increase/(decrease) in trade and bills payables FEBRER K FE N =
i,/ Os ) 1,053,248 (54,627)
Increase in accruals and other payables TELR B A M HE MR FRIR
bl 116,273 210,969
Cash generated from operations IR SR EE IR S 2,625,739 2,218,769
Interest paid X AHLE (38,864) (50,610)
Income taxes paid S ASPrASER (101,758) (36,588)
Net cash flows from operating activities REERELNTEESRE 2,485,117 2,131,571
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (conminuen)

HABlEmER@

For the year ended 31 December 2010 #HZ=E=Z

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of items of property,

—ZBE+_A=t—HLHEE

REFHELENRERE
BREWE - BMENZ

Notes

FEE

2010
—z-25

RMB’000

AR®TT

2009
—ETNF
RMB’000
AREBTIT

plant and equipment Fr{SsIA 3,740 9,722
Purchase of items of property, plant and equipment FEE 42 Jﬁﬁ%&?& (218,080) (244,431)
Purchase of construction in progress e T RRE 13 (865,743) (368,265)
Purchase of other intangible assets Huhm &2 16 (1,678) (11,047)
Purchase of land use rights b RS AN (54,166) (72,195)
Disposal/(purchase) of available-for-sale investments & /(BEE ) Al HEIRE (129,776) 620
Acquisition of subsidiaries UBETAa) (281,639) =
Capital injection to associates %’TH@‘?%’D\ AEE (4,374) (4,077)
Capital injection to a jointly-controlled entity H—RHRAEHIEETE - (40,000)
Receipt of government grants HQHXLBZKTT%%E)J@ 10,713 51,422
Purchase of time deposits with original maturity of REIHEIE A=1&F LA £

more than three months B E BT 3 A0 (759,161) (1,340,397)
Interest received UG ERF & 82,020 67,735
Dividends received from associates L HRESE 5 RIS 12,559 25,364
Dividends received from an available-for-sale AR ERERIAIAR S

investment 867 =
Disposal of associates =SNG 250 -
Disposal of a subsidiary acquired with HEREFEN—RTAH

a view to resale - 96,199
Deemed disposal of a subsidiary BREEE—KFAA 44 - (6,.288)
Net cash flows used in investing activities ~ REEHFTATZRERE (2,204,468) (1,835,638)
Cash flows from financing activities RETEHELENESRE
Proceeds from interest-bearing bank loans HESRITERFRERIE 139,246 665,582
Repayment of interest-bearing bank loans EEFT BIRITER (311,694) (1,720,636)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits RITERNRBSTR

for bank loans (&) 81,180 (86,080)
Dividends paid to owners of the Company SRR ARHES ARRRE 10 (245,445) -
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders s fAH3HZE RS A% BR AUA% B (27,228) (32,640)
Proceeds from other loans HE RS E 42,356 48,565
Repayment of long term payables 151%535@}&“17 (87,407) (154,209)
Capital contribution by the joint venture partner BEMTE - 40,000
Shares issued under equity-settled share option $ETJ§L/{HXT§}SEH HOES A

arrangements LRI, 42 13,411 20,669
Proceeds from issuance of new shares BATHIRFTS 58 39 - 2,696,341
Share issue costs BATARMA B AN 39 - (1,858)
Net cash flows from financing activities REIBELENTEESRE (395,581) 1,475,734




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (conmnuen)

BEBHeRER@®

For the year ended 31 December 2010 #ZE=Z—

FET_A=1t—BLHFE

2010 2009
—E-EfF ZETNF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
BisE AR%T R ARETT
Net increase/(decrease) in cash He MRSEEY
and cash equivalents &g Ol ) %58 (114,932) 1,771,667
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FHINRERBEEZEY
of year 30 3,986,624 2,218,965
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [E RS E(FE) (96,437) (4,008)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRNRERALSEEY 30 3,775,255 3,986,624
Analysis of balances of cash and REeRESEBYEHDIN
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances as stated in the RirE M BARRRPTIERE
consolidated statement of financial position RE NIRTT4TE 30 6,697,813 6,150,021
Time deposits with original maturity more than ~ REIHEAR A=1&F A =
three months HE BATER 30 (2,922,558) (2,163,397)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in RERERSRERTPIIRL
the consolidated statement of cash flows B RIS EEY) 30 3,775,255 3,986,624
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
RPNV

As at 31 December 2010 A=Z—ZF+=-HA=+—H

2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETFTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment S S 12 17 28
Available-for-sale investments A HERE 22 114,831 =
Loans to a subsidiary FE—KFARIRIE 18 2,680,430 -
Investments in subsidiaries RFARRIZE 19 5,017,482 4,819,857
7,812,760 4,819,885
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Dividends receivable FEUAZ B, 357,247 106,355
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TR - e REAM
FEU IR 29 36,949 1,437,024
Cash and cash equivalents IR NIHSZEEY) 30 599,995 2,354,922
994,191 3,898,301
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Accruals and other payables TEIR & B M HE AR IR 1,544 2,516
1,544 2,516
NET CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE 992,647 3,895,785
NET ASSETS FEE 8,805,407 8,715,670
EQUITY s
Issued capital B2 TRAS 39 178,679 178,611
Reserves B 40(B) 8,626,728 8,537,059
TOTAL EQUITY PREZS 8,805,407 8,715,670

Niu Gensheng
HRE

Director

BEF

Yang Wenjun
B &

Director

EBEF



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S 265 e P

2.1

Corporate Information

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands. The Company is an investment
holding company and its subsidiaries are engaged in the manufacture
and distribution of dairy products mainly in the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC").

Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have
been prepared on a historical cost basis except for share options
and certain available-for-sale equity investments which have been
measured at fair value. They are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2010. The financial
statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting
period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies. All intra-
group balances, transactions, unrealised gains and losses resulting from
intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated on consolidation
in full. The result of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of
acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the day that such control ceases.

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest
even if that results in a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership of a subsidiary, without a loss of control,
is accounted for as an equity transaction. The carrying amounts of
the Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the
carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (jii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the
fair value of the consideration received, (i) the fair value of any
investment retained and (jii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group's share of components previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained
profits, as appropriate.
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A ERE
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Al e ARAN—RBEEBRAR - MEFAF
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B RISHET -

A LI

ZEMBREERRER G ENZEG(TE
RETEAZEE ) RME)BEIRM G IREER
([ERHBEHREER ) REBRRDENRE
MERBLMAX > PSRRI IAE L RAERE -
HERB AR 5 T A W E AR E LR R ER
E - UBHRAARE(TARE D27 - WA
BEERZHEERIN  HFEEREAN T -

mEEE
REPBRRBEARRFREFRB (SRR
SEDBE_FTZTF+_A=1t—HLFE
M |RER - MET ABMBERRN 2B
HEARNFMER - SFARRTEH B - EE
BEARRIEES X5 BEERARRIERS
EENARBRNERBENMEEHAERES
REF 2B - FARIFERWERB(AIRE
BESEZEHEE B EEA AR - BEEEGED
BEEZERIE -

FERBRRENZF AT EE - BMEIEER
PR AER AR R -
FRANABEEE (I EREIEHIE) R

RHNER - Bt AEBEBEFERBERD ZH
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WHEZz AR ENEZRERT AL HFBER
RRREBA °

HAREREE FRBROEEGIE - BIE AR T
Rz TARMEBE(RRERE) RARE - ()E
A S 122 S AOCER 4 25 1O R T 1B % (i) I #E 25 9 AT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueo)
A 785 e A Ff )

2.2 Impact of New and Revised IFRSs

The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs for the

first time for the current year’s financial statements.

IFRS 1 (Revised) First-time Adoption of International
Financial Reporting Standards

IFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards — Additional
Exemptions for First-time Adopters

Amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based

Payment — Group Cash-settled

IFRS 2 Amendments
Share-based Payment Transactions

IAS 39 Amendment Amendment to IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement — Eligible Hedged
Items

IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets
to Owners

Amendments to IFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations —

Amendments to IFRS 5
included in Improvements to
IFRSs (May 2008)

Plan to sell the controlling interest
in a subsidiary

Improvements to IFRSs Amendments to a number of IFRSs

(April 2009)

Other than as further explained below, the adoption of the new and
revised IFRSs has had no significant financial effect on these financial
statements.

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised IFRSs are as
follows:

Improvements to IFRSs (April 2009)

In April 2009, the IASB issued its second omnibus of amendments to
its standards, primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies and
clarifying wording. There are separate transitional provisions for each
standard. The adoption of the following amendments resulted in
changes to accounting policies but did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

2.2 Fn AR A Sz 8 4G T 1B B s o

RO 2
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Wit RIS 3T BB A T R ) -
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HER]
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U2 EE AR5
B 5 [AERT
BIFR &R RERTERE3R/ 2H T
F39RMIEET ARG E-FTEIF

HragEIE A JRERT

BB 53R 208
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueo
A 785 e A Ff a0

2.2 Impact of New and Revised IFRSs (contivuen)
Improvements to IFRSs (April 2009) (continuep)

e IFRS 8 Operating Segment: Clarifies that segment assets and
liabilities need only be reported when those assets and liabilities
are included in measures that are used by the chief operating
decision maker. As the Group’s chief operating decision maker
does review segment assets and liabilities, the Group has
continued to disclose this information in note 3.

e |AS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: States that only expenditure
that results in recognising an asset can be classified as a cash
flow from investing activities. This amendment will impact
amongst others, the presentation in the statement of cash flows
of the contingent consideration on the business combination
completed in 2010 upon cash settlement.

e |IAS 36 Impairment of Assets: Clarifies that the largest unit
permitted for allocating goodwill, acquired in a business
combination, is the operating segment as defined in IFRS 8
before aggregation for reporting purposes. The amendment
has no impact on the Group as the annual impairment test is
performed before aggregation.

Other amendments resulting from Improvements to IFRSs did not
have any impact on the accounting policies, financial position or
performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueo)
A 785 e A Ff )

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective IFRSs 2.3 T A A M i A A 2% ) 3 s B S

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs,

that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

IFRS 1 Amendment

IFRS 1 Amendment

IFRS 1 Amendment

IFRS 7 Amendments

IFRS 9

IAS12 Amendments

IAS 24 (Revised)

IAS 32 Amendment

IFRIC-Int 14 Amendments

IFRIC-Int 19

Amendment to IFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards — Limited
Exemption from Comparative IFRS 7
Disclosures for First-time Adopters?

Amendment to IFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards — Replacement
of “fixed dates” for Certain Exceptions
with “the date of transition to IFRSs™

Amendment to IFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards — Reporting
Standards — Additional Exemption for
Entities Ceasing to Suffer from Severe
Hyperinflation*

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Transfers of
Financial Assets*

Financial Instruments®

Amendments to IAS12 Income Taxes —
Recovery of Underlying Assets>

Related Party Disclosures

Amendment to IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation-Classification
of Rights Issues'

Amendments to IFRIC-Int 14
Prepayments of a Minimum Funding
Requirement?

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with
Equity Instruments?
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueo)
A 785 e A Ff a0

2.3

2.4

Issucd But Not Yet EffCCtiVC IFRSs (CONTINUED)

Apart from the above, the IASB has issued Improvements to IFRSs
2010 which sets out amendments to a number of IFRSs primarily
with a view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording. The
amendments to IFRS 3 and IAS 27 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2010, whereas the amendments to IFRS 1,
IFRS 7, IAS 1, IAS 34 and IFRIC-Int 13 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2011 although there are separate
transitional provisions for each standard.

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012

® Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact
of these new and revised IFRSs upon initial application. The Group
considers that these new and revised IFRSs are unlikely to have a
significant impact on the Group's results of operations and financial
position.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies the
Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as to obtain benefits from
its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company’s interests in subsidiaries that are not classified as held-for-
sale in accordance with IFRS 5 are stated at cost less any impairment
losses.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueo)
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies conrvuen)

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a jointly-controlled
entity, in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not less
than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a position
to exercise significant influence.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group’s share of net assets under
the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. The
Group's share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of associates
is included in the consolidated income statement and consolidated
reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s investments in the associates, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates
is included as part of the Group’s investments in associates and is not
individually tested for impairment.

The results of associates are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company's investments in associates are treated as non-current assets
and are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Jointly-controlled entities

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject to joint
control, resulting in none of the participating parties having unilateral
control over the economic activity of the jointly-controlled entity.

The Group's investments in its jointly-controlled entities are accounted
for by the proportionate consolidation method, which involves
recognising its share of the jointly-controlled entities’ assets, liabilities,
income and expenses with similar items in the consolidated financial
statements on a line-by-line basis. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its jointly-controlled entities
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the jointly-
controlled entities, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred. Adjustments are made to bring
into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies conrmue) 2.4 OO FT R BESE (4)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations from 1 January 2009

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in
the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs are expensed as
incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition
date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is remeasured to fair value as at the acquisition date through
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes
to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to
be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance with I1AS 39 either
in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If
the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it shall not be
remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate
of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the Group'’s previously held
equity interests in the acquiree over the net identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired,
the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a
gain on bargain purchase.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueo)
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies conrvuen)

Business combinations and goodwill conminuep)

Business combinations from 1 January 2009 (conTiNUED)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included
in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain
or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this
circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Business combinations prior to 1 January 2009 but after 1
January 2005

In comparison to the above-mentioned requirements which were
applied on a prospective basis, the following differences applied to
business combinations prior to 1 January 2009:

Business combinations were accounted for using the purchase method.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition formed part
of the acquisition costs. The non-controlling interest (formerly known
as minority interest) was measured at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted for as
separate steps. Any additional acquired share of interest did not affect
previously recognised goodwill.

2.4 TR BORBEZE 50

EBREHREE @

R-BENFE—F— ABETHEEE O ()
BEOERE  BHERRAEREENRHRE
BRHE - HESENRRTEIRE 24
EHRBERE B REAEYEHRRE - 8
SEHATHRTIR - AEEA+=_A=+—8
ETEFERERENR REARATS - 2
BApE BB kEAI SRR REAEE
SREEEBEMN(KRLELEMMAT) - TH
AEEEMEERABEREAREZSEMR
BRAR  BEHESERAMHZHRRETZ

E\

S o

BEREMEBAHENESELENCREELSE
fr#85)) AT B S R EERE - WERSELSE
fr(REEEBMAR) AT E S BEREKE
8 - AIRERREERX - CHERNEERERR
TEFELAR B R M o

HEEENReELENCReELEMAER)
— o RZHEEEMTNER D - BIRE
EREBH LSRR EEE B hEE
BN AET AZEHENEREE - FUiFR
THENHEREMBEXBNABEENMN
RERGELBMNIEIE -

R-BENF-—A—HAER-FELF—H
— A& ETHIEEE O

HERN EAERRNARAERENRE » AT =
EEAR_ZETNE A BETHNERAS
ot

EBAHRABEZEAR - TEERFEBNER
BHHXZRABRBRERAN—ED - IFER
PR A s (ATRE D BRI 25 ) IR B (S R 77
MR ERIFEEMNLPIEE -

DB ST MR T A FHZE R ZBRARK - £
BINERHREERY T E AR E -
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies conrvuen)

Business combinations and goodwiill conminuep)

Business combinations prior to 1 January 2009 but after 1
January 2005 (conTINUED)

When the Group acquired a business, embedded derivatives separated
from the host contract by the acquiree were not reassessed on
acquisition unless the business combination resulted in a change in the
terms of the contract that significantly modified the cash flows that
otherwise would have been required under the contract.

Contingent consideration was recognised if, and only if, the Group
had a present obligation, the economic outflow was more likely than
not and a reliable estimate was determinable. Subsequent adjustments
to the contingent consideration were recognised as part of goodwill.

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost (or valuation) less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. \When an item of property, plant and equipment is
classified as held for sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as
held for sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance
with IFRS 5, as further explained in the accounting policy for “Non-
current assets and disposal groups held for sale”. The cost of an item
of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the income statement in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciation.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost
of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value
over its estimated useful life.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueo)
A 785 e A Ff )

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies conrvuen)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as

follows:

Buildings and structures 20 years
Plant and machinery 51to 10 years
Office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable
basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the income statement in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents plants and properties under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and
is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction
and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during
the period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or
indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the
useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueo
A 785 e A Ff a0

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies conrvuen)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) continue)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Trademarks

Trademarks acquired separately are measured at cost. Trademarks
acquired as part of a business combination are valued at fair value
based on the royalty relief method.

Trademarks with finite useful life are amortised on the straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 10 years. Trademarks with
indefinite useful life are tested for impairment annually.

Patents and licences
Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of 10 years.

Research and development costs
Al research costs are charged to the income statement as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the
technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will
be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability
to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and the
ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.
Product development expenditure which does not meet these criteria is
expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised using the straight-line basis over the
commercial lives of the underlying products commencing from the
date when the products are put into commercial production.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueo)
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies conrvuen)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) conminuen)

Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the
costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. These
costs are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives of 3 to 10 years.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale
Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale
if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sales
transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case,
the asset or disposal group must be available for immediate sale in its
present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary
for the sale of such assets or disposal groups and its sale must be
highly probable. All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a
disposal group are reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether
the Group retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary
after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less
costs to sell. Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, construction
contract assets, financial assets, investment properties, goodwill and
non-current assets/a disposal group classified as held for sale), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair
value less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is charged to the income statement in the period in which it arises in
those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueo
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies conrvuen)

Impairment of non-financial assets conminuep)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the
income statement in the period in which it arises (only if there are
revalued assets in the financial statements), unless the asset is carried
at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy
for that revalued asset.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and
conditions are accounted for as follows:

Raw materials - cost on a weighted average basis;

Finished goods - cost of direct materials and labour and a
proportion of manufacturing overheads based
on normal operating capacity but excluding
borrowing costs on a weighted average basis.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price less any estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale.

‘\ 92-93 |

L

2.4 R BORMEE 40

& EEERE @

REREDR  AEEFGHERTEEABRE
RO HER AR E IR A e T BEER D LR
Do MERERR  AEBESGHFATRE S
Ho BERANETHERIIEENTRDESE
MG AERE  HEREENERZEENR
BiE%  HLBETESRBBREREAEEBRASE
BN EERREERL  FEETENREEEIR
EAFE,#iEE) o BERABDE AZEES
REMBERD (EEPBRERTEEEGHEED
BRT) - M EENERHSESIE - AlREE
SNBOREZEHEENBEETREARE -

rE
FE A AN E B AT IR E M M RE R
A -

REEmEERIFERRRELNKN TN S
SHERIETTAMT ¢

RE# - RARGRIVETFISETE)

P am - BEEMHREEATIRAE ARk
RIBEZEFEELPHENEE
KEEBR BTEEEEER
(FRIEFEEE)

AR FEZGFEERE A EIRA
RiGFHHEMBZERERE

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2010



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueo)
A 785 e A Ff )

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies conrvuen)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and
short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, and have a short maturity of three months or less when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term
deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as
to use.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables
and available-for-sale investments, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group
determines the classifications of its financial assets at initial recognition.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair
value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit
or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace.

The Group's financial assets include cash and bank balances, trade and
bills receivables, other receivables, entrusted loans and quoted and
unguoted available-for-sale equity investments.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuep)
B A M ) \

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies conrmue) 2.4 OO FT R BESE (4)

Investments and other financial assets conminuep)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. After
initial measurement, loans and receivables are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance income in the
consolidated income statement. The loss arising from impairment is
recognised in the consolidated income statement in other operating
expenses.

Available-for-sale investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial
assets in listed and unlisted equity and debt securities. Equity
investments classified as available for sale are those which are neither
classified as held for trading nor designated at fair value through profit
or loss. Debt securities in this category are those which are intended
to be held for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in
response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in market
conditions.

After initial recognition, available for sale investments are subsequently
measured at fair value, with unrealised gains or losses recognised
as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale investment
valuation reserve until the investment is derecognised, at which time
the cumulative gain and loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement in other income, or until the investment is determined to
be impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised
in the consolidated income statement in other operating expenses
and removed from the available-for-sale investment valuation reserve.
Interest and dividends earned are reported as interest income and
dividend income, respectively and are recognised in the consolidated
income statement as “Other income and gains” in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueo)
A 785 e A P )

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies conrvuen)

Investments and other financial assets conminuep)
Available-for-sale investments (contivuep)

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot be reliably
measured because (a) the variability in the range of reasonable fair
value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities
of the various estimates within the range cannot be reasonably assessed
and used in estimating fair value, such securities are stated at cost less
any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates its available-for-sale financial assets whether the
ability and intention to sell them in the near term are still appropriate.
When the Group is unable to trade these financial assets due to
inactive markets and management’s intent to do so significantly
changes in the foreseeable future, the Group may elect to reclassify
these financial assets in rare circumstances. Reclassification to loans
and receivables is permitted when the financial assets meet the
definition of loans and receivables and the Group has the intent and
ability to hold these assets for the foreseeable future or to maturity.
The reclassification to the held-to-maturity category is permitted only
when the entity has the ability and intent to hold until the maturity
date of the financial asset.

For a financial asset reclassified out of the available-for-sale category,
any previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised in
equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of the
investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference between
the new amortised cost and the expected cash flows is also amortised
over the remaining life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If
the asset is subsequently determined to the impaired, then the amount
recorded in equity is reclassified to the income statement.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuto
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies conrvuen)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is
any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets
is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed
to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment
as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event
has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence
of impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group
of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they
will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable
data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions
that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses
individually whether objective evidence of impairment exists for
financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred,
the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred). The
present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the
financial asset's original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest
rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current
effective interest rate.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueo)
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies conrvuen)

Impairment of financial assets conminuen)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (conTinueD)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an
allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the
consolidated income statement. Interest income continues to be
accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate
of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with
any associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of the event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a further
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the income
statement.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred
on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair value
because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the amount of the
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Impairment
losses on these assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at the
end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that
an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment and
amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in the consolidated income statement, is
removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the
consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuto
S 785 e A P a0

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies conrvuen)

Impairment of financial assets conminuen)

Available-for-sale financial investments (contivuep)

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline in
the fair value of an investment below its cost. The determination of
what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgement. “significant”
is evaluated against the original cost of the investment and “prolonged”
against the period in which the fair value has been below its original
cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss
— measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and
the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment
previously recognised in the consolidated income statement — is
removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in
the consolidated income statement. Impairment losses on equity
instruments classified as available for sale are not reversed through
the consolidated income statement. Increases in their fair value after
impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

In the case of debt instruments classified as available for sale,
impairment is assessed based on the same criteria as financial
assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded for
impairment is the cumulative loss measured as the difference between
the amortised cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that investment previously recognised in the income statement.
Future interest income continues to be accrued based on the reduced
carrying amount of the asset and is accrued using the rate of interest
used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as part of finance
income. Impairment losses on debt instruments are reversed through
the income statement if the increase in fair value of the instruments
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised in the income statement.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuto)
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies conrvuen)

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part
of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:

e therights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the
Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised
to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings or
as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge
as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its financial
liabilities at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueo)
SR 785 e A Ff a0

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies conrvuen)

Financial liabilities continuep)

Initial recognition and measurement (conTivuED)

All financial liabilities are recognised at fair value and in the case of
loans and borrowings, plus directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and bills payables, other
payables, financial guarantee contracts, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings and other financial liabilities.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated income statement when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate method amortisation
process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the consolidated income
statement.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its
fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the Group measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher
of: (i) the amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period; and
(i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuto)
A 785 e A Ff ik 0

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies conrvuen)

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing
liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if, and only if, there is
currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active financial
markets is determined by reference to quoted market prices or dealer
price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short
positions), without any deduction for transaction costs. For financial
instruments where there is no active market, fair value is determined
using appropriate valuation techniques. Such techniques include using
recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current
market value of another instrument which is substantially the same;
and a discounted cash flow analysis.

Provisions

A provisions is recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
income statement.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueo)
SR 785 e A Ff a0

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies conrvuen)

Provisions (continuep)

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially
measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured at the higher
of (i) the amount that would be recognised in accordance with the
general guidance for provisions above; and (i) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
in accordance with the guidance for revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or
loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current income tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period,
taking into considerations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred income tax

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method on temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and a joint venture, where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueo)
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies conrvuen)

Deferred income tax (conNTINUED)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences, and
the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

e where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and a joint venture,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of the reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future
taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current income tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable
entity and the same taxation authority.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies conrmue) 2.4 OO FT R BESE (4)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be measured
reliably, on the following bases:

Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the goods have been transferred to the buyer, provided
that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the
degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective control over
the goods sold.

Interest income

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or
a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

Dividends
Revenue is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive the
payment is established.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an
expense item, it is recognised as income over the periods necessary to
match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to
compensate.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the consolidated income
statement over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and released to the consolidated income statement by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies conrvuen)

Government grants (conTinuep)

Where the Group receives a non-monetary grant, the asset and the
grant are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary asset and
released to the consolidated income statement over the expected useful
life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no or at a
below-market rate of interest for the construction of a qualifying asset,
the initial carrying amount of the government loans is determined
using the effective interest rate method, as further explained in the
accounting policy for “Financial liabilities” above. The benefit of the
government loans granted with no or at a below-market rate of
interest, which is the difference between the initial carrying value of
the loans and the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant
and released to the consolidated income statement over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use, are
capitalised as a part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of
such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in the
consolidated income statement in the period in which they are
incurred.

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

2.4 TR BORMEZE 50

BB 2 (80)
EAEEBEEERBENE  BERBDEE
FERBENARBENE  YRBEWEENE
HAERESRA  USEFLRBESREME
%o

BN ERE RS B R A R R E B SRR
MISMENBAER - BBFEROYZRE
BERAERNLZEE(EXERI A E N
S BRTBE—SHE) - IRBESHER
SN EAOBRFERO N (BN E R RE
BEEMEEGIENZ5) R ABNHB AL RNAE
MEEMNEFSAERFNA  UERFSRAR
EERAFEE -

BEEA

FEEEREEBNREE HENLEESRE
REE(NZFERERREAIREAENE
E) IBEREAERZSTEERAN—EHD -
i & A8 7 & E A BUE D3 AEE - Bl BE
ZEEEERBRELR - AUXNEEREE
B RF TE fif SR B0 R 5 % 8 T R ER A 4 8 LR 35 A
REANEEERTME -

MAEEMEEERENELRRERAMER
HH e

EEEARENERERRESBEMELN
HMMRA -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueo)
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies conrvuen)

Leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of
any incentives received from the lessor are charged to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating lease are initially stated
at cost and subsequently recognised as an expense in the consolidated
income statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms of 50
years.

Foreign currency translation

Each entity in the Group determines its functional currency based on
the assessment of its specific facts and circumstances. The Company,
established in the Cayman Islands, uses the Hong Kong dollar as its
functional currency and the subsidiaries, established in the PRC, use
the RMB as their functional currency. As the Group mainly operates
in Mainland China, RMB is used as the presentation currency of the
Group. Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at
the functional currency rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting period. All differences are taken to
the consolidated income statement. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rate as at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies conrvuen)

Foreign currency translation (conmnue)

As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of companies
whose functional currency differs from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group at the
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period and their
income statements are translated at the weighted average exchange
rates for the reporting period. The exchange differences arising on
the retranslation are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in a separate component of equity. On disposal of a
foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RIMB at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for the
year.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefits

The Group's subsidiaries operating in Mainland China except for Hong
Kong participate in a central defined contribution retirement plan
managed by the local municipal government in the locations in which
they operate. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
companies’ payroll costs and are charged to the consolidated income
statement as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.

The Company also participates in the defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made to a separately administered fund based on
a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
consolidated income statement as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies conrvuen)

Employee benefits conmnuep)

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of
share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date on which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 42 to the financial
statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with
a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which
the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the consolidated income statement for the period represents
the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning
and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest,
except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is conditional
upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service conditions
are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the
minimum expense recognised is the expense if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. An additional
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair
value of the share-based payment transaction or is otherwise beneficial
to the employee as measured at the date of modification.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies conrvuen)

Employee benefits conmnuep)

Share-based payment transactions (conTINUED)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised
for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award
where non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group
or the employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted
for the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement award on
the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated
as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in
the previous paragraph. All cancellation of equity-settled transaction
awards are treated equally.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share (further details
are given in note 11).

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a separate
allocation of retained earnings within the equity section of the
statement of financial position, until they have been approved by the
shareholders in a general meeting. When these dividends are approved
by the shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because
the Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the
directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised directly as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuto)
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2.5 Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of
reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. Details of goodwill are given in note 15 to the
financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses Whether there are any indicators of impairment for
all non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period. Indefinite
life intangible assets are tested for impairment annually and at other
times when such indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested
for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value
of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.
The calculation of the fair value less costs to sell is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm'’s length transaction
of similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for
disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueo)
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2.5 Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates

(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continuep)

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group determines the provision for impairment of trade and
other receivables based on an assessment of the recoverability of
the receivables. This assessment is based on the credit history of
its customers and other debtors and the current market condition.
Management reassesses the provisions at the end of each reporting
period.

Useful lives, residual values and depreciation of property, plant
and equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for the Group’s property, plant and equipment.
This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.
The Group will revise the depreciation charges where useful lives are
different to those previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ from estimated
useful lives; actual residual values may differ from estimated residual
values. Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable lives
and residual values and therefore depreciation expenses in the future
periods.

Share-based payments

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments
at the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair value requires
determining the most appropriate valuation model for a grant of
equity instruments, which is dependent on the terms and conditions
of the grant. This also requires determining the most appropriate
inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the option,
volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them. The
assumptions and models used are disclosed in note 42 to the financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuto
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2.5 Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates

(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (conminuep)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits, which affects the
probability of utilisation and the tax rate to be used in the calculations.
Details of deferred tax assets are contained in note 23 to the financial
statements.

Fair value measurement of contingent consideration

Contingent consideration, resulting from a business combination,
is valued at fair value at the acquisition date as part of the business
combination. Where the contingent consideration meets the
definition of a derivative and thus, a financial liability, it is subsequently
remeasured to fair value at each reporting date. The determination of
the fair value is based on discounted cash flows. The key assumptions
take into consideration the probability of meeting each performance
target and the discount factors.

Fair value of financial instruments

Where the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
in the consolidated statement of financial position cannot be derived
from active markets, their fair value is determined using valuation
techniques including the discounted cash flow model. The inputs
to these models are taken from observable markets where possible,
but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in
establishing fair values. The judgments include considerations of inputs
such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions
about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial
instruments.

Impairment of available-for sale investments

The Group classifies certain assets as available for sale and recognises
movements of their fair values in equity. When the fair value declines,
management makes assumptions about the decline in value to
determine whether there is an impairment that should be recognised
in the consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueo)
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Operating Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and has three reportable
operating segments as follows:

e Liquid milk products segment — manufacture and distribution of
ultra-high temperature milk (“UHT milk”), milk beverages and
yogurt;

e |ce cream products segment — manufacture and distribution of
ice cream; and

e  Other dairy products segment — mainly manufacture and
distribution of milk powder.

Management monitors the results of its operating segments separately
for the purpose of making decisions about resources allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit/(loss), which is a measure of adjusted
profit/(loss) before tax. The adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax except that
interest income, finance costs, dividend income, as well as head office
and corporate expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude equity investments at cost and other
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets are
managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude other unallocated head office and corporate
liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the
selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then prevailing
market prices.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conminuen)
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3. Operating Segment Information (conrmue) 3. BB EER @)
Year ended 31 December 2010 BE-_Z-ZEH5+-A=1t—HILEE

Liquid milk Ice cream Other dairy
products products products Total

REMER KEAER HUIRH et

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTRT AR®BTRT ARBTR

Segment revenue: DEBUA :
Sales to external customers HE TFINEE S 26,871,834 3,111,521 282,060 30,265,415
Intersegment sales SEREHE 75,917 736 250,196 326,849
26,947,751 3,112,257 532,256 30,592,264

Recondiliation: TR
Elimination of intersegment sales ¥} §8 5 SSESH & (326,849)
Revenue WA 30,265,415
Segment results o ERELE 1,836,040 17,125 (25,181) 1,827,984
Interest income FEUA 87,884
Finance costs R E A (45,203)
Share of profits and losses i NS EDEDN

of associates i 40,438
Unallocated corporate expenses N EZBHJA &S H (373,001)
Profit before tax 5 B A 1,538,102
Income tax expense Fri5Fi~ 1 (182,185)
Profit for the year ZRFF) 1,355,917
Segment assets DEHEE 11,499,448 1,387,524 372,228 13,259,200
Reconciliation: TR
Elimination of intersegment 558 7 20 e FE U FR IE

receivables (3,938,771)
Unallocated corporate assets DERI N A EE 7,985,412
Total assets BEE 17,305,841
Segment liabilities PEEE 8,995,050 848,956 275,372 10,119,378
Reconciliation: SHER
Elimination of intersegment 58 5 =0l FE AN 7008

payables (3,938,771)
Unallocated corporate liabilites RO #HI A 7 & & 907,725
Total liabilities wEE 7,088,332
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuen)
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3. Operating Segment Information conrmuen) 3. ,@Mﬁ;}‘ﬁﬁﬁﬂ(zg
Year ended 31 December 2010 (continuep) BE-_Z-—ZSF+-BA=+—HLEE

(/%)

Liquid milk Ice cream Other dairy

products products products Total
RETER  KHEMAER W HIHEE et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREBTT ARETT ARETT

Other segment information: BiboEpER :

Depreciation and amortisation %ﬁ%&%ﬁﬁ 569,016 83,855 22,727 675,598
Unallocated amounts TOEBFK 37,178
Total depreciation and e R HEE
amortisation 712,776
Capital expenditure BARFS 1,305,886 70,429 4,325 1,380,640
Unallocated amounts Do EIE 45,423
Total capital expenditure EENGRE 1,426,063*
Impairment losses recognised AR & FERMER
in the consolidated income RORERSTE
statement (889) 178 563 (148)
Other non-cash expenses Hi3eR e 147,262 8,814 4,140 160,216
Unallocated amounts Do EFIE 205,967
Total non-cash expenses R B AR 366,035
*  Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * BARXBEAEYE  KBERRE ERL
equipment, construction in progress, intangible assets, land use rights, B BEEE  TiERERKEEREQTMN

and assets from the acquisition of associates and subsidiaries. RNAEBHEE -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuen)

Fo 75 % B 3 )

3.

Operating Segment Information (conrivuen)
Year ended 31 December 2009

3. BEEER @)
EZAFE+-_A=1t—HLEE

BE—=

Liquid milk Ice cream Other dairy
products products products Total
wERMNER KEMER HUEHM st
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ABBTT AR¥BTIT ARETT ARETR
Segment revenue: 2 A:
Sales to external customers HE FINBE P 22,736,162 2,685,056 289,242 25,710,460
Intersegment sales DEPEIHE 61,408 16,115 4,633 82,156
22,797,570 2,701,171 293,875 25,792,616
Reconciliation: R
Elimination of intersegment sales ¥ 4§45 B 1§ & (82,156)
Revenue WA 25,710,460
Segment results DEPELE 1,648,996 29,149 (11,901) 1,666,244
Interest income FEWA 85,042
Finance costs A& A A (61,153)
Share of profits and losses of FE (B R R FIE
associates RIE1E 19,522
Unallocated corporate expenses R #PRIA Al (363,309)
Profit before tax Mt AT AE 1,346,346
Income tax expense FrS Bz i (126,240)
Profit for the year REFH 1,220,106
Segment assets DEPEE 8,398,855 1,172,153 336,725 9,907,733
Reconciliation: HE
Elimination of intersegment ¥ 8H 9 P E R U IR
receivables (2,870,958)
Unallocated corporate assets DEE AR E E 7,059,351
Total assets REE 14,096,126
Segment liabilities PEHEE 5,139,046 766,052 216,681 6,121,779
Recondiliation: THEE
Elimination of intersegment ¥ 8H 9 S E FET BIE
payables (2,870,958)
Unallocated corporate liabilites T2 #fH AR B E 1,933,611
Total liabilities BAR 5,184,432
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3. Operating Segment Information (CONTINUED) 3. @%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ(?ﬁ)
Year ended 31 December 2009 (continuep) BE-_ZEZhEFE+-A=1+—HLEE

(/%)

Liquid milk Ice cream Other dairy
products products products Total

REPER  KHEMER HtAERA met
RIMVB'000 RIMVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBETT ARETRT

Other segment information: BioIER

Depreciation and amortisation e K sH 530,942 87,577 22,357 640,876
Unallocated amounts Ao EpFRIE 34,522
Total depreciation and e R e
amortisation 675,398
Capital expenditure BARFAX 556,128 16,049 11,913 584,090
Unallocated amounts 9 EBFIA 56,115
Total capital expenditure NG EE 640,205*
Impairment losses recognised RARE PR MER
in the consolidated income KRB TE
statement 15,631 233 1,149 17,013
Other non-cash expenses BEMIER ST 110,786 26,419 4,063 141,268
Unallocated amounts T 2P IE 143,378
Total non-cash expenses e e H4EEE 301,659
*  (Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and *  BARXBREABYE  EBERRE ERL
equipment, construction in progress, intangible assets, land use right, 2 E\BEEE  LihfFRERKEREZ QR
and assets from the acquisition of associates and subsidiaries. FRREGHNEE -
Geographical information wEER
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) REIZBEFHIPA
Over 90% of the revenue is contributed by customers in 90% JA I 89 I A 2R B iz 7Y AR B K B 9 &
Mainland China. F o
(b) Non-current assets (b)) HHEEE
Over 90% of the Group's non-current assets are located in REEE90% A ERIFEREN B EE SN

Mainland China. RPBE o



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conrinuen)
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4. Revenue, Other Income and Gains 4. WA ~ HABKA KK
Revenue, being the turnover of the Group, represents the net WABREBERNESER  EEEHERAEE
invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for goods returns and FE RHBRRERBE ST - ARKHEEE
trade discounts, and after eliminations of all significant intra-group NETBRRIBMZEAR HEFISRIEEE °
transactions.
An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and gains is as AEBEMBA ~ EMRARKZHSHTAT
follows:

2010 2009
—E-EfF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREFTT

Revenue: WA -

Sales of goods BmiEE 30,265,415 25,710,460

Other income and gains: Huap g A R Ugzs -

Government grants eGSRk @) 77,365 48,474
Amortisation of deferred income 5 2 ST o 22 6 (b) 14,857 13,795
Gain on deemed disposal REHE —FKEEE QA
of an associate W =5 6,256 -
Foreign exchange gains, net BEE 5 U 25 /R 58 57,338 541
Others HAh 37,656 18,149
193,472 80,959
30,458,887 25,791,419

Notes: B & -

(@  The government grants in the form of cash donations have been received (@) AKBEEZREMILEMITEEERNEMm L
for the Group’s contribution to the local economy with respect to the FEBEGRER - #ER B XNOBTH
establishment of infrastructure relating to the dairy products industry. B o 5% %5l Bl < N A B A5 0 AT R 2 AR A 161
There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies attaching to these A EIE o
grants.

(b)  The Group has received certain government grants in the form of (b) BUFAME - BEM RGBSR € BE AR
property, plant and equipment donations or cash donations to purchase BYE BERREFIN MEAKESETE
items of property, plant and equipment. The grants are initially recorded as THB) - ZEMBSVIRRERASELT K - I
deferred income and amortised to match the depreciation charge of the R EEN T A2 A EHI G - AR5 AE
underlying property, plant and equipment in accordance with the assets’ M BB RRENFTERS

estimated useful lives.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuen)

S 205 o M e )
5. Other Operating Expenses 5. HibhxR2&E
2010 2009
—EB-=F —ZETNF
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET ARBTT
Write-off of inventories MiHFEE 6,740 45,305
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 7 &H#Us & Al &35 F(E 865 1,033
Loss on disposal of items of property, BEMZE - WE R&EEE
plant and equipment 18,661 7,834
Donations B 12,941 12,901
Provision/(write-back of provision) for trade FEURBR N Hfth RS IR B,
receivables and other receivables (BefE#smE]) (1,013) 15,980
Compensation to customers BB IE - 18,699
Others Hih 21,551 11,293

59,745 113,045




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuen)

5 5 R A B i )
6. Profit Before Tax 6. FhHTAITE
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): ANEBEEAIFE LB (GTA) T5 &8

W EAE -

2010 2009
—-%% =N

RMB'000 RIMB'000
ARBT T ARETT

Cost of inventories sold HEFERA 22,478,979 18,858,229

Employee benefit expense (excluding directors’ (& B8 FI & B (T B &M 757

remuneration as disclosed in note 7) WENESINE)
—Wages, salaries, housing benefits and other —I8& %H4a  FEEMNE
allowances H 284 1,172,323 1,021,717
— Retirement benefit contributions —RREFIETK 93,941 71,695
— Share-based payment expense (note 42) — DARR ) B ERER S AT
(Bi5E42) 290,587 223,902
1,556,851 1,317,314
Depreciation of items of property, Y -~ B REEITE
plant and equipment 697,996 663,863
Amortisation of land use rights I Hh {5 PR A 8 9,172 7,231
Amortisation of other intangible assets E At T B S 5,608 4,304
Research and development costs — EEMEREER
current year expenditure 37,111 42,158
Provision/(write-back of provision) JFEE Uk B R R L th JE it ok T A
for trade receivables and other receivables (B R mE) (1,013) 15,980
Minimum lease payments under operating EERETEERENEE
leases on buildings and certain production HEREHES
equipment 252,888 222,429
Display space leasing fees BRZIZ=EHE B 495,076 172,306
Auditors’ remuneration ZEEN < 3,980 3,790
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuen)

S 25 R M R )

7. Directors’ and Senior Executives’ Emoluments 7. EEKEHFITBNE M4
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules REBEBHEXISHMERAREZS LTREA
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong (I E#RAI]) REA D REFIFE 161 {FHREHAR
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and Section 161 of the Hong Kong FEEEMENT :

Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

2010 2009

—E-FF —ETHE

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

Fees we 1,001 320

Other emoluments H b B &

— Basic salaries, housing benefits, other —HAFE FEEF - Hib

allowances and benefits in kind AN B 8,729 6,280

— Retirement benefit contributions —RIRE R 201 91

9,931 6,691




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conminuen)

B 5 i 2 B R (a0
7. Directors’ and Senior Executives’ Emoluments 7. ERERFHFITBENEBME @
(CONTINUED)

Basic salaries,

housing

benefits, other
allowances Retirement
and benefits benefit Total
inkind contributions remuneration
EXHE
EERA
Htn 2R
e BYRE RIMERMER e
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Biex ARBTET AR%®TR AR¥®TR AR®T:R

2010 —E-FF
Executive directors WTES
—Mr. Yang Wenjun — X ERE 30 2,625 34 2,689
—Mr. Yao Tongshan — kRl AE (@) 3 13 3 19
— Mr. Wu Jingshui —REkEE (@) 28 1,149 34 1,211
—Mr. Bai Ying —BEEE 30 2,050 34 2,114
— Mr. Ding Sheng —~TE®k4E (a) 28 1,566 62 1,656
Non-executive directors FMITES
—Mr. Niu Gensheng —HIRESE 30 1,326 34 1,390
—Mr. Ning Gaoning —EoBELA (b) 100 - - 100
—Mr. Jiao Shuge —EREEE (b) - - - -
— Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt —Julian Juul
Wolhardts & (b) - - - -
~Mr. Yu Xubo —THREAE (b) 100 - - 100
—Mr. Ma Jianping — s (b) 100 - - 100
—Mr. Fang Fenglei —hREEE (b) 100 - - 100
—Mr. Ma Wangjun —-ETELA (@)(b) 92 - - 92
Independent non-executive BYFRITES
directors
—Mr. Zhang Julin —REMEE 120 - - 120
—Mr. Zhang Xiaoya —REETR R4 120 - - 120
~Mr. Liu Fuchun —BlRELL 120 - - 120
1,001 8,729 201 9,931
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B 5 ik 2 B R ()
7. Directors’ and Senior Executives’ Emoluments 7. BEHEEEFITHENEWME @)
(CONTINUED)

Basic salaries,

housing

benefits, other
allowances Retirement
and benefits benefit Total
inkind  contributions  remuneration
EXF®
EEEHN
HA28h &
ik Bl RIEME B
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BT ARBTT ARETTT AREBTT ARBTT

2009 “TTNF
Executive directors WITES
—Mr. Niu Gensheng —FRERE 30 1,055 19 1,104
—Mr. Yang Wenjun — X EEE 30 2,284 19 2333
—Mr. Sun Yubin —BRERELE @) 15 559 15 >89
— Mr. Yao Tongshan — kRIS A4 @ 30 429 19 478
—Mr. Bai Ying —HERE 30 1,953 19 2,002
Non-executive directors FITES
— Mr. Ning Gaoning -ERBE4E (b) = - - -
—Mr. Jiao Shuge —EREEE (b) - - - -
— Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt —Julian Juul
Wolhardtst & (b) - - - -
—Mr. Yu Xubo — FhER 4 (b) - - - -
— Mr. Ma Jianping —ERTEE (b) = - - -
— Mr. Fang Fenglei —hREEE (b) - - - -
Independent non-executive BUFBTES
directors
— Mr. Wang Huaibao —FEEEE @) 25 - - 25
— Mr. Zhang Julin —REMELE 68 = - 68
— Mr. Zhang Xiaoya —REDELE 42 - - 42
—Mr. Liu Fuchun —2IRELE 42 - - 42
—Mr. Li Jianxin —EHEE @ 8 - - 8

320 6,280 91 6,691




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conrinuen)
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7. Directors’ and Senior Executives’ Emoluments

(CONTINUED)
Notes:

(@  Mr. Sun Yubin, Mr. Wang Huaibao and Mr. Yao Tongshan resigned
as directors on 27 August 2009, 1 May 2009 and 1 March 2010,
respectively. Mr. Wu Jingshui, Mr Ding Sheng and Mr. Ma Wangjun
were appointed as directors on 1 March 2010.

(b)  The two (2009: six) non-executive directors agreed to waive
their entitlements to directors’ fees totalling RMB200,000 (2009:
RMB183,000) for the year. Other than the aforementioned, there was
no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year.

(©  Mr. Li Jianxin passed away on 20 February 2009. Details were disclosed
in the Company’s announcement dated 23 February 20009.

(d)  During the year, certain directors were granted share options in respect
of their services to the Group under the share option scheme of the
Company, further details of which are set out in note 42 to the financial
statements. In accordance with IFRS 2, share option benefits represent
the fair value at grant date of the share options issued under the share
option scheme of the Company amortised to the consolidated income
statement during the year disregarding whether the options have been
vested/exercised or not. During the year, the share option benefits relating
to the share options granted to Mr. Yang Wenjun, Mr. Yao Tongshan,
Mr. Wu Jingshui, Mr. Bai Ying and Mr. Ding Sheng were approximately
RMB37,189,000 (2009:RMB34,709,000), RMB5,332,000(2009:
RMB5,660,000), RMB7,575,000 (2009:RMB6,582,000), RMB 16,686,000
(2009: RMB14,954,000) and RMB8,814,000 (2009: RMB7,487,000),
respectively. Share option benefits relating to the share options granted
to the five directors are not included in the above analysis.

Four (2009: three) of the five highest paid individuals were directors
whose emoluments have been shown above. Details of emoluments
paid to the remaining one (2009: two) non-director, highest paid
individual who is a senior executive for the year was as follows:

7. EHEEEPITENE ML @

PGE :

(@) HREBELEE FEBAERBRLEEDBIR
—ZEZAFNAZT LR ZZEEAFHA—
BR-Z—SF=A—BHEEF - RRKE
£ TEEAEREEERENR-ZE—TF=A
—HEZERES -

by RAEE:  ML(ZBBAE : N6 EHTT
EEREREEEESWNE  SHEAEARE
200,0007C (= ZFhF : AR 183,0005T) °
KAt E N ARFEELBETMNEEESEREL
R EREEAMESH T

(0 ZFEFEEN-_ZTAF_A-t+BEL .
EBRABHENARARANAE-—ZTTAE—A
—t+=HWRAMH -

(d) FA ETESREUAEENRBEEERRQF]
BB RT 2I9% B AR (B R B R B 15
R TES2) o IRIBBIRR IS 3RS 2RI SE25% -
BB R AR IR A A R B AR St B T B 1T M BB
RERFRLHBHNARE  FREREZEFE
RATUAES  MARZEERESETDRE
S R AR TIEXEEE - BhE L
Sk REKEAE AREER T ELABER
ERERERT D RK A ARY37,189,0007T
(ZZZTNFE : ARKE34,709,0007T) « AR
5,332,000 L (=ZZFZTAF : ARK¥5,660,000
JT) « AR#7,575000T(ZETHhEF : ARK
6,582,0007T) * AR#16,686,000C( =/,
& @ ANR#14,954,0007T) & A K #8,814,000
T(ZETNF : ARM7,487,0005T) ° Lt
MTEBIEERAAZESE L BRENER
BT o

EuZKeSHATEEAL(ZZTNEF : =41)
B FRARSHMSBERERLEXER - &
FEXNTESB—MR(ZZETNF : ML) FE
E BReHSBRITRASNMEIT

2010
—E-BF

RMB’000
AR®T

Basic salaries, housing benefits,

EAXFe  EERN -

HAh

other allowances and benefits in kind YNGRy 1,364 2,003
Retirement scheme contributions RIRERET B 61 114
1,425 2,117
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuen)

W R B T a0

7. Directors’ and Senior Executives’ Emoluments 7. BREREFITENEBME @
(CONTINUED)
The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose MEH AL T8RN S S EHIEEEEENSE
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: m

Number of employees

EE&E
2010
—B-BF
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,0018 7% 1,500,000/ 7T - 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/% 022,000,000/ 7T 1 -
1 2
During the year, share options were granted to one (2009: two) FH - —R(ZZTTNF  MB)EREFTHEES
non-director, highest paid employee in respect of his services to the EEREAARNEErRIFERERE (B @S
Group, further details of which are set out in note 42 to the financial EHBREMT20EE) - £AF 0 BEAZE
statements. During the year, the share option benefits relating to the BRyiESEERDBERENERERE
share options granted to the non-director, highest paid employee is H#) B ARE9,300,000L(ZFENF : AR
approximately RMB9,300,000 (2009: RMB15,471,000) in aggregate. #£15,471,0007T) ° Bty T BB 15 A M4
The share option benefits relating to the share options granted to AEREFIFESRERDBRENERERT
this non-director, highest paid employee is not included in the above
analysis.
8. Finance Costs 8. M A
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BEKANAFTAT
2010 2009
—B-BF ZZTNEF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET ARBTT
Interest on long term payables REFERFIEFLE 6,339 10,543
Interest on bank loans wholly repayable BARAFAZHEENRITE
within five years FAFI B 38,864 50,610

45,203 61,153




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conrinuen)
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9. Income Tax Expense 9. FifeBisz
Hong Kong profits tax has not been provided as the Group had no TN B R NG BN MBS S A (AT FE AR A A
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. The tax charge B WETIRBENEHEME - HEIHiEE
represents the provision for the PRC corporate income tax (“CIT") and AENFIROPBEDEMSH([EEMBEH])
deferred tax for the year. FORIEFTIS T B o
Under the PRC income tax law, except for certain preferential BEPEFAERE  BRTAEE- (==
treatment available to twenty-two (2009: twenty-one) of the Group's TRE: —+—f) TR —EEEIEHEE
subsidiaries and a jointly-controlled entity, the entities within the EESETHEEERIN  AEBETHLEER
Group are subject to CIT at a rate of 25% (2009: 25%) on the taxable EOXEMR B T2 WMERTI A EZ25% (ZZFZ N,
income as reported in their statutory accounts which are prepared F o 25%) ZIHEBRIMBERSH  AERE =
in accordance with the PRC accounting standards and financial IRIBRPEEsHER RS E R AR -
regulations.

2010 2009
—E-BF ZTThEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T T AREFTT
Current income tax BIERFRSH
Current income tax charge BUERERS s 131,504 71,100
Deferred income tax RAEFTISH
Relating to origination and reversal of tax losses 8 BAR B ETE M LB EZEE K
and temporary differences (note 23) EEAE M BB (FI5E23) 50,681 55,140

182,185 126,240
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9. Income TaX Expcnse (CONTINUED)
A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable to profit before
tax at the statutory income tax rate to the income tax expense at the

Group's effective income tax rate for the year is as follows:

BB % o)

EEER RBAFSRAE AR R E
BIFT IS B - B 15 5E A 4 B O 43 e o
HEMFTERTE  BHMT -

2010 2009
—E-2F —ETNF
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T AREBTIT
Profit before tax 5 A ) 1,538,102 1,346,346
At CIT rate of 25% (2009: 25%) %25%(ZZTNF : 25%)
EMSHMETE 384,525 336,587
Non-deductible items and others, net AN A IEEB K EA
OF#R) 55,376 63,888
Adjustment recognised in the year FARAEFE HATSHHER
for current tax of prior years B B 953 1,017
Effect of preferential tax rates BERENZE @) (148,950) (173,623)
Effect of tax exemptions R 2 @) (68,368) (55,432)
Tax losses not recognised RIERRISEE 7,514 1,092
Utilisation of previously unrecognised AL R AR RO G HE R
tax credits (48,865) (47,289)
At the effective income tax rate of 11.8% #%11.8% ( =—ZZ .4 :
(2009: 9.4%) 9.4% ) B FTSF =
& 182,185 126,240
Notes: BaE -

(@  Twenty-two (2009: twenty-one) subsidiaries and a jointly-controlled
entity were subject to tax concessions in 2010. The total taxable profits
of the subsidiaries that are subject to tax concessions amounted to
approximately RMB804,315,000 (2009: RMB792,749,000) in aggregate.
Out of the twenty-two subsidiaries, fifteen (2009: sixteen) plus the jointly-
controlled entity were granted tax concessions by the state tax bureau
in accordance with the New Tax Law and the corresponding transitional
tax concession policy and “The notice of preferential tax policies for
companies located in West China”. Ten (2009: five) subsidiaries were
granted tax concessions in accordance with the policy of “The notice of
preferential tax policy for preliminary processing of agriculture products”.

(b)  The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to approximately
RMB9,948,000 (2009: RMB8,178,000) is included in the share of
profits and losses of associates on the face of the consolidated income
statement.

(a)

(b)

RZZE—ZTF —+-_MCCEENAF: —+—
M) TFARR—HERZEHEEZZHERE
ZEEREREN T RARNERRABEEA
sFH AR 804,315,000t (Z T AF : A
R#792,749,0007T) - —+t —MF ARG - B
THRE(ZZEZAF « +50) FRAIKRZER
EHERERERREBE T OB E AR
AR BB B ERIEBOR RS ERED « R
HHaE - BRIEE BN A F BB BBk
BHBANBERE - TH(ZZETAF : A
M) FRRNBEREAC AR EHRZZLER
BHREZSBROEZERVMNIHE(FT)ME
BB A% o

Bt AR EIETIB A A AR 9,948,0007T (=
TTNF : ARKS 178,0007T) © Bt AL&RA
FEROEGHBEATFBERERA
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10. Dividends 10. i &

2010 2009
—g-®F  —TTAA
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREFTT
Declared and paid during the year REFT IR T
Equity dividends on ordinary shares TRARAR S 245,445 =
Proposed for approval at the AGM ZBIEERREFAFAD
i3
Equity dividends on ordinary shares: EBRALE
Proposed final — 0.16 (2009: 0.1413) FRAARR S — EBiREB
per ordinary share BZ0.16TC(ZEZTNF ¢
0.14137T) (a)(b) 278,078 245,465
Notes: B EE -
(@  The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the (@) #EIKFEHIRAR BB B AR B AR R AE & E AR
Company's shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting RBFAG([RRBFAEDHE - ZZFRE
(the “AGM"). This dividend was not recognised as a liability in the WAREZZT—TFEF+_A=+—HHNEEHK
consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2010 but was HREERAASE  BERMABEZE—_T——F
reflected as an appropriation of retained earnings for the year ending 31 TZA=T—HIEFENRBAIESER
December 2011.
(b)  The proposed final dividend for the year is appropriated from the (b) BWEKEEBMRREX-_ZTNF—R—HAFM
undistributed profit earned before 1 January 2008. BEHRDEMBHEL -
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11. Earnings Per Share Attributable to Ordinary Equity 11 A A W) 3% 78 i B\ FEAG 1Y 4 ik

Holders of the Company ekl

The basic earnings per share for the year is calculated by dividing REEHNERERBFNDBBEFARAGEH
the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of X HEA AFEMRFIEE LAE A 31T E mARAY AN
the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares T HETE -

outstanding during the year.

The diluted earnings per share was calculated by dividing the profit for FIREBEERNTIRBEFEARNR R L ERES A
the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company by the JEAEF B B LA B BT E Z AR B A B F iR A #Y
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during that year, FAEBETEBRMEFLHSEUBRRFARE
as used in the basic earnings per share calculation; and the weighted B AR T AR I B B & 5T 22 R 553358/ 248
average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at B A T BB ERERERITHNE R
no consideration on the deemed exercise of all share options during INEFEHEETE -

the year pursuant to the contingent ordinary share provision in I1AS 33

Earnings per Share.

The share options outstanding had no dilutive effect on the calculation RTEBEREGHAE ST NFESREBER
of diluted earnings per share for 2009. T s & -

A reconciliation of the weighted average number of shares used in =T E AR B AR N 58 2 A B B AR N RE SE S AR (D
calculating the basic and diluted earnings per share amount is as B AT -

follows:

2010 2009
—E—=F ZEThF
Number of Number of

Shares SEEIES

BHEE e A
'000 '000
Fht FhR

Weighted average number of ordinary shares ATEERERBFETAR LB
for the purpose of the basic earnings per s hntE 15 25
share calculation 1,737,398 1,637,304

Weighted average number of ordinary shares,  fRa%F R FTA BB AR T (=10

assuming issued at no consideration RERERT T RRME
on the deemed exercise of all share options 5 E
during the year 3,443 =

Weighted average number of ordinary shares ATEEREERNTAN LB
for the purpose of the diluted earnings RNt S5 25
per share calculation 1,740,841 1,637,304
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12. Property, Plant and Equipment

Movements of the Group’s property, plant and equipment during the

year are as follows:

12. 993 ~ W53 Je s

REBNYE  BERREBNAFAZEIT

Buildings
and Plant and Office Motor
structures machinery equipment vehicles Total
EERESEY HER#KSE WORE "E st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETRT AR%STr AR%®TR AR%Tr AR¥Tx
At 1January 2010, netof ~ R-Z—F4F
accumulated depreciaton ~ —A—H » 1)
SHIFE 1,469,824 3,304,678 127,592 17,514 4,919,608
Acquisition of a subsidiary ~ WEE—FR T AR
(note 43) (PFifsE43) 127,657 175,635 7,346 6,397 317,035
Additions #0 58,075 87,191 70,299 16,338 231,903
Transfers from construction B EERE TR
in progress (note 13) (BFzE13) 177,197 453,412 11,560 2,051 644,220
Disposals BE (5,101) (25,846) (555) (2,883) (34,385)
Depreciation provided FAFERE
during the year (105,578) (526,802) (58,303) (7,313) (697,996)
At 31 December 2010, RZZ—ZTF
net of accumulated +=-—A=+—8"
depreciation MR 25t E 1,722,074 3,468,268 157,939 32,104 5,380,385
At 1 January 2010 RZF—ZF
—HF—H
Cost KANME 1,833,736 5,441,320 261,79 47,167 7,584,019
Accumulated depreciation  Z&HTE (363912)  (2,136,642) (134,204) (29,653)  (2,664,411)
Net carrying amount REEE 1,469,824 3,304,678 127,592 17,514 4,919,608
At 31 December 2010 RZZ—TF
+-A=+—8
Cost KAE 2,207,809 6,139,155 347,408 72,540 8,766,912
Accumulated depreciation ZEHiE (485,735) (2,670,887) (189,469) (40,436) (3,386,527)
Net carrying amount REEE 1,722,074 3,468,268 157,939 32,104 5,380,385
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12. Property, Plant and Equipment (contmvuep) 12. W2 ~ W= st o

Buildings
and Plant and Office Motor
structures machinery equipment vehicles Total

FEREREY  BEREE BN i A8t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL AREBTL ARETE ARETT ARETR

At 1January 2009, netof ~ R-ZEZTAF

accumulated depreciation  — B —H - H15E
25 E 1,460,867 3,621,530 123,149 41,526 5,247,072
Additions 2 40,608 55,234 39,978 5,076 140,896
Transfers from construction B3 B fEE T2
in progress (note 13) (KFzE13) 59,116 192,735 4,449 303 256,603
Disposals BE (1,413) (33,221) @11) (15,382) (50,427)
Deemed disposal of a BRBE—RFRR
subsidiary (note 44) (MisEa4) = (9,553) (457) (669) (10,673)
Depreciation provided FAMERE
during the year (89,354) (522,047) (39,122) (13,340) (663,863)
At 31 December 2009, RZZETNEF
net of accumulated +—A=+—8H
depreciation M EsHreE 1,469,824 3,304,678 127,592 17,514 4,919,608
At 1 January 2009 RZZTNF
—A—H
Cost XA E 1,736,423 5,257,081 221,927 96,703 7,312,134
Accumulated depreciation  ZEHTE (275,556)  (1,635,551) (98,778) (55177)  (2,065,062)
Net carrying amount EEEE 1,460,867 3,621,530 123,149 41,526 5,247,072
At 31 December 2009 RZZTNF
+-A=+—8
Cost X AE 1,833,736 5,441,320 261,796 47,167 7,584,019
Accumulated depreciation  ZEHFE (363912)  (2,136,642) (134,204) (29,653)  (2,664,411)
Net carrying amount EEEE 1,469,824 3,304,678 127,592 17,514 4,919,608

(@  All of the Group's buildings are located in Mainland China. (@) AEBEHEREHAIARBARE -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuen)

Fo 75 % B o )

12. Property, Plant and Equipment conrivuen)

(b) Certain property, plant and equipment of the Group with
a net book value of approximately RMB116,786,000
(2009: RMB187,406,000), RMB38,726,000 (2009: Nil) and
RMB1,136,000 (2009: Nil) have been pledged to secure the long
term payables, short-term bank loans and other loans of the

Group, details of which are set out in note 36, note 34 and note

35 to the financial statements.

Movements of the Company’s property, plant and equipment during
the year, which comprise only office equipment, are as follows:

At 1 January, net of accumulated

12. 43 -

(b)

AR

W& 5 B e A (o)
AEEETEHEREFEOARARE
116,786,000 T (ZZEZ N F : AR
187,406,000 7T ) ~ A & # 38,726,000 7T
(ZZEZNEF : T) RAKH1,136,000
T(ZEZTNEFE : Tx)HWE - Jﬁﬁ}%&
®REE i‘“)ﬂ{’EZKE@E SR HRE K

RHRTERREMES E’J%fwﬁﬁuu d *ﬁ‘
% ﬁlﬁkﬁéﬁﬂ%i&%ﬁﬁ‘ﬁas - MisE34 K
BiRE35 ©

ANYE - BERRE(2BAMIRE)

RAFRESHIT

R—A—8  fRRiE

Company

/NG|
2010 2009
—2-BF
RMB'000
ARBTT

—ETNF
RMB’000
ARETT

depreciation 28 48
Depreciation provided during the year FRITERE (11) (20)
At 31 December, net of accumulated R+=—A=+—8 Rt

depreciation e 17 28
At 1 January m—H—H
Cost BANE 167 167
Accumulated depreciation ZEHITE (139) (119)
Net carrying amount BREFE 28 48
At 31 December ®+=—A=+—8”

Cost K ANE 167 167
Accumulated depreciation 2EHE (150) (139)
Net carrying amount IREVFE 17 28

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2010



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuen)
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13. Construction in Progress 13. feE T
Movements of the Group's construction in progress, all of which are AEBE IR FBRRENEZTIREFHNOT ¢

located in Mainland China, are as follows:

Group
TEE
2010 2009
—E-2F —EThEF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARYET T ARBFIT
Carrying amount at beginning of year FYIREREE 326,679 215,017
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 43) WiE —RF AR (Fi7E43) 27,188 =
Additions during the year FE RN 865,743 368265
Transfers to property, plant and equipment Y - REMEE
(note 12) (HftEE12) (644,220) (256,603)
Transfers to land use rights (note 14) B S i E AR (FisE14) (30,961) =
Transfers to other intangible assets (note 16) EEREHEMEREE(HE16) (9,325) =

Carrying amount at end of year FRHIREE 535,104 326,679




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuen)

5 265 R 3 PR )
14. Land Use Rights 14. & Mo FH#E
Group
TEE
2010 2009
—B-BF —TTNEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTT
Carrying amount at beginning of year FEUMEREE 375,247 262,481
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 43) WHE—RTARI(H5H43) 43,850 —
Additions during the year F AN 54,166 119,997
Transfers from construction in progress (note 13) &4 5722 T2 (ff£13) 30,961 =
Amortisation provided during the year FRGHREE (9,172) (7,231)
Carrying amount at end of year FROREE 495,052 375,247

Current portion included in prepayments and BIERE > (Gt AREBNE EH TE

deposits under current assets (note 28) N RiRE (KisE28)) 10,480 8,056
Non-current portion JERNHEAES 5> 484,572 367,191
495,052 375,247

(@ The leasehold land is held under a long term lease of 50 years (a) FETHMUSOFRHAEERSE @ R F
and is situated in Mainland China. KBE -

(b) Certain land use rights of the Group with a net book value of (b) AEEKREFELNASARE32,834,0007T
approximately RMB32,834,000 (2009: Nil) have been pledged to (ZZETNF : B)METLIERES
secure the short-term bank loans of the Group, details of which EHEANEBERBRITEROIRR - 5
are set out in note 34 to the financial statements. BARF BN B 5 R M 5E34 o
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15. Goodwill 15. &
Group
REH
2010 2009
—E-BF —TThEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R AREF T
Carrying amount at 1 January R—HA—BRREE 199,143 199,143
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 43) Wi —R TR RI(H5E43) 252,470 —
Carrying amount at 31 December R+t A=+—HHEEE 451,613 199,143

During the year, the Group acquired a 51% equity interest of
Shijiazhuang Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Junlebao”). The business
acquisition gave rise to goodwill of RMB252,470,000. Further details
of the acquisition are included in note 43 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2010, the goodwill was tested for impairment (note
17).

FA - AEEARBEAREELEINEEGRAR
([BHE])S1%ME - ZEBWEEEEEA
R#252,470,0007T ° WHERYH#E — R IEE A BT
TEIRF M543

MN-ZT—ZTFE+-A=+—8 BESETH
BRI (FIRE17) o
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16. Other Intangible Assets

Movements of the Group’s other intangible assets are as follows:

Patents and
licences

BN R A

RMB'000
ARBTR

16. H At fE R &
AEEOE M AERHOT -

Computer
software
B

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT AR%®TR AR¥TR

@) (b)

Others
Hth

Total

5t
RMB'000
ARETT

Trademarks

AR

Cost at 1 January 2010, R-_ZE—ZF—A
net of accumulated —B  ZRAE
amortisation HIR 2T 608 11,400 19,629 - 31,637
Acquisition of a subsidiary ~ WEE—FK 7 A
(note 43) (FfizE43) - 174,219 754 9,503 184,476
Additions N 649 - 1,029 - 1,678
Transfers from construction B BEZTIE
in progress (note 13) (FfyzE13) - - 9,325 - 9,325
Amortisation provided FRFHRE
during the year (195) (1,560) (2,801) (1,052) (5,608)
At 31 December 2010 RZZ—ZF+=A4
= =g 1,062 184,059 27,936 8,451 221,508
At 31 December 2010 RZE—ZF+_H
=+—H
Cost KAE 1,413 189,909 37,728 9,503 238,553
Accumulated amortisation &t (351) (5,850) (9,792) (1,052) (17,045)
Net carrying amount IRmESE 1,062 184,059 27,936 8,451 221,508
Cost at 1 January 2009, R-ZETNF—HA
net of accumulated —B - RRAE
amortisation ARG 6,056 12,960 13,651 = 32,667
Additions by 2,882 - 8,165 - 11,047
Deemed disposal of BRKE—KTAA
a subsidiary (7,719) - (54) - (7,773)
Amortisation provided during FAEHEEE
the year 611) (1,560) (2,133) - (4,304)
At 31 December 2009 R-ZBZENF+=A
=1+—H 608 11,400 19,629 - 31,637
At 31 December 2009 RZZZNE+=A
=+—H
Cost AE 764 15,690 26,318 - 42,772
Accumulated amortisation 255 (156) (4,290) (6,689) - (11,135)
Net carrying amount AREFE 608 11,400 19,629 = 31,637
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16. Other Intangiblc Assets (CONTINUED)

17.

(@)

There were two trademarks: a trademark acquired in 2007 at
a cost of RMB15,690,000, which was stated at cost less any
impairment losses and was amortised on the straight-line basis
over its estimated useful life of 10 years; a trademark acquired
as part of a business combination in 2010 at RMB174,219,000,
which was regarded as having an indefinite useful life because
the trademarked product is expected to generate net cash
inflows indefinitely. As at 31 December 2010, the trademark was
tested for impairment (note 17).

Others mainly represented the exclusive right of milk supply,
distribution channels and a right to receive dividends acquired
as part of a business combination in 2010 at RMB5,982,000,
RMB2,195,000 and RMB1,326,000, respectively. Their useful
lives ranged from six months to 10 years.

Impairment Testing of Goodwill and Trademarks
with Indefinite Lives

Goodwill acquired through business combinations and trademarks

with indefinite lives have been allocated to the following cash-

generating units (the “CGUs") for impairment testing:

liquid milk products excluding Junlebao CGU;

ice cream products CGU;

other dairy products CGU; and

Junlebao CGU.

16. H A & 2 ()

(a)

(b)

EE A ME - —@R2007 FHREK A A
R # 15,690,000 7T Y #8 - B 3= K A B
EERPRER KRR R AR AR AT
AEAFEEI0G 8 5 —@EAIERZ
BAHH—HBIN _E—ZTFEUARK
174,219,000 T Y & - I (A 7513 2 on 78 A1
AAERAEEFHSRAMBELES
ERAUFEAFH R_T—ZTF+_A
=+—H ' ZEEeETRENR (T
17) °

EmErZREREBAHN—HFIR=
T-TRENFNHEEZEE - 5
RERBDRBRENESS B AARE
5,982,0007T * AR%2,195,0007t R AR
#1,326,0007T ° A A£G H B /<@ A
E+ERE o

17 7o 2 % S PR 10 i R 1 il 1l

BEREHAHDESNAERRERFHRFEE Y
EETReELEM(REELEMN ) IER
BRI :

BRBNERReELEN(ERERSE
HEBMIRRON)

KEMERREEL B

HppA BHeREeELEN &

BRERCELEN -
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17. Impairment Testing of Goodwill and Trademarks 17. 728 P 4 PR 48 19 v A2 %) il )

with Indefinite Lives conrmuep) (%)
The carrying amounts of goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful PEREESREEEBMNNFERERAFERASF
lives allocated to each of cash generating units are as follows: MR RIAREELA T ¢

Liquid milk products

excluding Junlebao Ice cream products Other dairy products Junlebao Total

HRNER (EERRN KERER RtARA ERE L

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
—§-%5F “ITNF CE-¥F “TINF CE-¥F CIINE C-¥F CITAE CE-RF CITAG
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RVB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARMTR ARETR ABMTR ARETR ABMTR ARETE

Goodwill HE 167,433 167,433 23,865 23,865 7,845 7,845 252,470 - 451613 199,143
Trademarks iz - - - - - - 174219 - 174219 -

167,433 167,433 23,865 23,865 7,845 7,845 426,689 = 625,832 199,143
The recoverable amount of each CGU has been determined based ERESEEBMMAIKESE AL RER
on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on ABRENTFHRBENTEANREE - KA
financial budgets or forecasts approved by senior management RERSBEAFEMSHEREBRTUEE °
covering a five-year period. The growth rates used to extrapolate the ARHEERFHARIRSREMERE - JIA
cash flows beyond the five-year period are based on the estimated FBEUMMIEREAERE  WERITEER
growth rate of each unit taking into account the industry growth rate, X BALBRERSHEeELEEMMHPRER
past experience and the medium or long term growth target of each BRMmMatEME -  WEREeELBUMNERE
CGU. The growth rates for these CGUs are higher than the respective BREENTHTEERE - aREEAEE
average industry growth rates. Senior management believes such ERERRESIE - RERE

growth rates are justified because:

—  the growth rates of these CGUs have significantly exceeded - WEReELBNEBRAZFRBMGE
those in the market in the past years; &

- the new product launch and new market expansion have been - BEEETEGRRABIMSE—ETHK
successful in the past; o

—  market share grew continuously in the past years due to strong - ERIRREZRMEHEENHEST - B
brand equity and marketing capability; and EEEMHSMHBERELER &

-~ expertise on product innovation, portfolio enhancement and - HEeE—SLEREERAN  BLERER
marketing will be further leveraged. MEHER -
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17. Impairment Testing of Goodwill and Trademarks 17. 7 2 S e PR A7 101 i A %) 9 1 00 5k

with Indefinite Lives conrmuen) (7)

The discount rates applied to cash flow projections and the growth ARBESREFANITRERARAF AL
rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the five-year period are as BEEREHHMIZRERNT :

followvs:

Discount rate Growth rate

TRE BRE

2010 2010
=~ i €% —F-%F

Liquid milk products excluding BENERBRSES

Junlebao CGU BA(BLERS
EEE BAIFRSN) 13.67% 13.44% 4.0% 4.0%

Ice cream products CGU KEMEMBRESESE
B 13.43% 13.33% 3.0% 3.0%

Other dairy products CGU HinF HmBASEE
Bz 13.59% 13.00% 4.0% 4.0%

Junlebao CGU BRERSELEN 16.73% - 4.0% -

Key assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of each EAEEReEEENNERABERKAT —

CGU. The following describes each key assumption on which LIEBREL - TEEBRESRERAEITHSE

management has based its cash flow projections to undertake BERFEMKENSEEZBEFANT ¢

impairment testing of goodwill:

(@) Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value (@ HEEENE-ARETREENEEEN
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross BEDNEEBEFEA —FMERNTH
margin achieved in the year immediately before the budget year, EFE  WHAETETMAEIRA RTEAE
adjusted for expected efficiency improvements and expected BARIE AN F A FHEE ©
increase in production costs.

(b) Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and (b) HIRME—FTAFIRETHF AT R LA BHER
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGUs. SEEBAARE RS o

(©  Raw materials price fluctuation — Reference is made to the actual (00 EMBERES -2ERMKBERBE
data of the past year of countries from where raw materials are =i
sourced.

The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent with external F ERBHEEEINFBIRAR—B

information sources.
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18. Loans to A Subsidiary
The loans to a subsidiary included in the Company’s non-current assets
of RMB2,680,430,000 (2009: Nil) are unsecured and repayable within
twenty years. The annual interest rates had been made by reference
to the Hongkong InterBank Offered Rate. The carrying amount of the
loans to a subsidiary approximates to its fair value.

19. Investments in Subsidiaries

18. BEW— %+ A w5
SARRRGERBEENEN —RFARINIEA
AR¥2,680,430,0000 (ZZZNF : ) B
TR BEARZTFRNER - FAXRLXERH
RITAEREAE - B —KFRAIFENK
EEEE R ERE -

19. A F AR B E

Company
¥ /NG|

2010 2009
—E-FF —ZEThF
RMB'000 RMB’'000
AR%T R ARBTT
Unlisted shares, at cost LTS - R AE 4,239,647 4,015,010
Loan to a subsidiary JEW —KFRARIFKIE 777,835 804,847
5,017,482 4819857

The loan to a subsidiary included in the investments in subsidiaries
above is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayment.
In the opinion of the directors, the loan is considered as quasi-equity
loan to the subsidiary. The carrying amount of the loan to a subsidiary
approximates to its fair value.

FFALER FRANREMNEYR — KT AR
ERERR 2R AEBETERY BEFR
B ZEBGRIRRR BRI —RF R B ERE
HHRE o B —RFARRENEEIEREER
RAERE -
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19. Investments in Subsidiaries (CONTINUED) 1

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 December 2010 are set

out below:

China Dairy Holdings (i)

China Dairy (Mauritius) Limited (i)

Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy
(Group) Company Limited (iii)

AEEESSEIE S D)
BRRAR] (i

Beijing Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd.
(i) i) (v)
ERFEARRBREER ) ) (v)

Inner Mongolia Mengniu Founding
Industry Management
Co., Ltd. (i) (i)
AERARGTHREFER
BREERF () i)

Mengniu Dairy (Wulanhaote)
Co., Ltd. (i) (i)

SHIE(SRER)
BREER () i)

Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy Keergin
Co., Ltd. (i) (i)
ARASFAENED
BREEAT () (i

Date of
incorporation/
establishment* Issued share capital

BRTRA

AL,/ R B

5 June 2002 US$214
—EE-&XATA AVES
15 June 2002 US$100
“TZ-&XA+HH 100%£7T

18 August 1999 RMB1,504,290,870
—NANENATAR ARE

1,504,290,8707T
4 July 2000 RMB500,000
“ZETF L AMA AR#500,0007T
9 February 2002 RMBA45,000,000
“EEF-ANA  ARE45,000,0007T
18 June 2002 RMB30,000,000

2T FXA+NA  AKE30,000,0007T

19 June 2002 RMB35,000,000
“ZZ-FXATNE  ARESS5,000,0007

O

R TF AR B RE )
RZZB-—ZH+-A=+—H ' AREFRA
HEFIBEN T X ¢
Percentage of equity
interest attributable
to the Company Principal activities
ARAEENRERSE  TEXK
Direct Indirect
B C:3
100% - Investment holding
REFER
- 100%  Investment holding
REFER
8.97% 84.32%  Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EEREEIHM
- 4851%  Packaging and sale of
dairy products
BEREEAN RS
- 9329%  Investment holding
REFER
- 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EEREEIHR
- 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
HEREET Hm
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19. Investments in Subsidiaries (CONTINUED)

Mengniu Dairy (Dangyang)
Co., Ltd. () il
SEAX(ER)AREERF () i)

Mengniu Dairy (Beijing)
Co., Ltd. (i) (i)
SAARGER)BREERF () (i)

Jinhua Mengniu Dairy
Co., Ltd. (i) (i) (v)
SESFIAERBAF 1) 0 (W)

Mengniu Dairy (Shenyang)
Co., Ltd. () i)
SO FCER)BRELRR () (i)

Beijing Mengniu Hongda Dairy
Co., Ltd. (i) i) (v)
RS RE S
BREERR ()G (v)

Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy Baotou
Co., Ltd. (i) (i)
AEEEFIAXRERR
BERT () (i)

Mengniu Dairy (Dengkou Bayan Gaole)
Co., Ltd. () i)
FHIX(ROCERY)
BREEAR () (i)

Date of
incorporation/
establishment* Issued share capital

ERTRA

B A Az

7 November 2002 RMB42,000,000
“EZ-F+—A+H  ARE42,000,0007T

11 November 2002 RMB120,000,000

“EE-F+—f AER#120,000,0007T
+—A

19 February 2003 RMB500,000

—EE=F"A+NAH AR#500,0007T

4 December 2003 RMB100,000,000

“ET=F+-AlA  AKE100,000,0007T

12 September 2002 RMB20,000,000
—TE-FAA+=H  ARE20,000,0007T

9 January 2003 RMB30,000,000
“TE=F—FNB  AK¥30,000,0007T
13 July 2003 RMB40,000,000

“TE-FLA+=H AK¥40,000,0007T

Percentage of equity
interest attributable
to the Company
FRAEGENRER DL
Direct Indirect
EHi C:3
- 93.29%
26.70% 68.38%
- 47.58%
26.05% 68.99%
- 4851%
26.40% 68.66%
- 93.29%

19. ¥ AR B HE @)

Principal activities

FEEH

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERLEIEM

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERHENZm

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERNENDM

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERLEIEM

Packaging and sale of
dairy products
BRREEEm

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
HERHENRm

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERNENDM

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2010
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Date of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ interest attributable
establishment* Issued share capital to the Company Principal activities
ML L B BRTRAK ARAEENREAE TEER
Direct Indirect
HE I
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) 14 July 2003 RMB10,000,000 - 83.96%  Manufacture and sale of
Shanxi Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) (i “EE=FLA+ME  AKE10,000,0007T dairy products
AREEFIE(ER)LA EERLEEM
AEBRAA () (i)
Mengniu Dairy (Jiaozuo) 6 November 2003 RMB 110,000,000 - 93.29%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) (i) —TE=F+—H[,"H AR¥110,000,0007T dairy products
SHIF () BRAR () (i) FEREEER
Mengniu Dairy Taian 18 November 2003 RMB110,000,000 26.03% 69.01%  Manufacture and sale of
Co,, Ltd. (i) (i) “ET=F1+—f AE#110,000,00075 dairy products
SHAZZLBBEMAT () (i) +/\B EERLEEM
Mengniu Dairy (Luannan) 31 March 2004 RMB56,000,000 26.06% 68.98%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. () (il “TTNEFE=A AE#56,000,0007T dairy products
SR ERAEFEAF ) (i) =+—H EERHEANZ®
Mengniu Dairy (Tangshan) 31 March 2004 RMB70,000,000 26.05% 68.99%  Manufacture and sale of
Co,, Ltd. (i) i) “ETE=A AK70,000,0007T dairy products
SHAF(RIL)EREERTR () (i) =+—H FERTEEM
Mengniu Dairy (Maanshan) 4 February 2005 RMB 155,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i (i) “ZTRFE-AMA  ARE155000,0007T dairy products
SHAX(BBRL)BREEAR () i) EERLEEM
Mengniu (Wuhan) Frealth Dairy 6 January 2006 RMB 120,000,000 - 93.29%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. () (i “TRAE-ARE AR120000,0007T dairy products
SHER)RZRIAEBR AR () i EERHEARR
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Hi-tech Dairy 2 August 2006 RMB150,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. () (i) —ERENAZHE AR150,000,0007T dairy products
AR EFRRELEARAT () () EERTEEER
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Date of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ interest attributable
establishment* Issued share capital to the Company Principal activities
SRR B L B ERTRE EAREENRERSE TEXHE
Direct Indirect
B C:3
Mengniu Dairy (Tai Yuan) 13 April 2006 RMB116,670,000 - 93.29%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. () (i) “ZTTENAT=H  AKRE116670,0007C dairy products
SEAX(RR)ERAF () (i) AERLEI M
Mengniu Dairy (Shangzhi) 10 June 2005 RMB50,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
Co,, Ltd. () (i ZETRENATH  ARES0,000,0007T dairy products
SR (RB)BREERF () (i) FERNEA M
Mengniu Dairy (Chabei) 15 June 2005 RMB30,000,000 - 72.77%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. () (i “TTRFATRA AKE30,000,0007T dairy products
SAHAE(RIERDT () () EERHNEIEm
Mengniu Dairy (Baoji) 1 November 2005 RMB96,840,000 - 93.29%  Manufacture and sale of
Co, Ltd. (i) (i “ZTRE+—A—H AKRE96,840,0007 dairy products
SAAR(ER)ARLRA () (i) AERLEI M
Mengniu Dairy (Baoding) 22 January 2007 RMB62,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
Co,, Ltd. () (i 2T E-A AE#62,000,0007T dairy products
SHAE(RT)ERARF () () —+=H FERNEA M
Beijing Mengniu Cheese 23 May 2007 RMBS5,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. () (i “ZTHERA ARHS5,000,0007 dairy products
RS PBAR LT () (i) —+=H AERHNEIHm
Mengniu Dairy Meishan 29 August 2007 RMB60,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. () (i) “ETHENA AR 60,000,000 dairy products
SAAREILARAR () i) —+hB FERHEHm
Mengniu Saibei Dairy 29 August 2007 RMB67,121,418 26% 69.03%  Manufacture and sale of
Co,, Ltd. (i) i) “ZTHENA AR#67,1214187T dairy products
SAEIEABAT () (i) —+hB FERNEA M

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2010
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19. Investments in Subsidiaries (CONTINUED)

Date of Percentage of equity

Mengniu Dairy (Qigihaer)
Co., Ltd. () (i)

STAF(EEQE)BRAF () i)

Mengniu Dairy (Qingyuan)
Co., Ltd. (i) i)
KA ECBR)ARAR () (i)

Mengniu Sugian Dairy
Co., Ltd. (i) (i)
SEAXREEERAR () 6)

Mengniu Dairy (Tianjin)
Co., Ltd. () (i)
SHAE(RER)BERAFA () )

Mengniu Dairy (Yinchuan)
Co., Ltd. (i) (i
SHLEGRN)BERARE () (i)

Inner Mongolia Hehe Investment
Co,, Ltd. () i)

AREAMEEBREERA () )

Shijiazhuang Junlebao Dairy
Co., Ltd. (i)i)iv)v)

RFHELBIFARAR ()ikivy)

Shijiazhuang Yongsheng Dairy
Co., Ltd. (i)i)iv)v)
AFIKEAFBRAR

Baoding Junlebao Dairy
Co., Ltd. ()i)iv)v)
REBLEIFERR

Al (i)

A ()i)iviv)

incorporation/
establishment*

BTA gk

23 November 2007

“ETHETA
—t+=H

25 September 2009

ZETNENA
—+%H

16 September 2010

“Z-ZFNA+H

9 July 2010
“2-ZF+ANA

27 July 2010
—T-TELR
~++8

29 November 2010
“E-ZF+-A
—t+hR

21 April 2000
—ZTTENA
=

25 September 2007
“ETHENA
—+&A

25 August 2003
—TZ=F/\
ey =

Issued share capital

BRTRA

RMB55,500,000

AKH55,500,0007T

RMB40,000,000
AE#40,000,0007T

RMB50,000,000
AE#50,000,0007T

RMB134,000,000
AE#134,000,0007C

RMB50,000,000
AE#50,000,0007T

RMB200,000,000
AER#200,000,0007C

RMB52,351,700
AKH52,351,7007T

RMB80,000,000
AE#80,000,0007T

RMB32,540,000
AE#32,540,0007T

interest attributable
to the Company

FRREMENRER DL

Direct
HE

26%

Indirect
i

69.03%

93.29%

93.29%

93.29%

93.29%

93.29%

47.58%

47.58%

24.26%

Principal activities

TEEH

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EEREEANZM

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERIENLM

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
HERHEANZ®

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERIEANRM

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERIENLM

Investment holding

BER

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EEREEANRM

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERIENLM

Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
EERHEANZM
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19. Investments in Subsidiaries (CONTINUED)

Luguan Hongai Dairy

Date of
incorporation/
establishment*

AEMER L, A3 B

30 July 1996
Co., Ltd. (i)ii)iv)(v)

BERATHEZLZEARAF ()ihiviy)

19. 7%

Issued share capital

BRTRA

RMBO,650,000
—WNWAFELA=+TH  ARE9,650,0007T

Jiangsu Junlebao Dairy 8 March 2004 RMB20,617,300
Co., Ltd. (i)iiv)v) “ZENE=ZANHE  AR¥20617,300T

LEA LB EARAT ()i

Xuzhou Junlebao Guorun Dairy 20 June 2008 RMB10,000,000

Co., Ltd. (i)iiv)v)

TRINELERBIRBRAF ()ivy)

(i

(iii)

(iv)

Except for China Dairy Holdings and China Dairy (Mauritius) Limited,
which were incorporated in the Cayman Islands and Mauritius,
respectively, all subsidiaries were incorporated in the PRC.

Not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or another member
firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

The subsidiaries are registered as companies with limited liability
under the PRC law.

The subsidiaries are registered as Sino-foreign equity joint
ventures under the PRC law.

Since more than 50% of the equity interest of the subsidiaries
was held by either Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group)
Company Limited (“Mengniu”) or Inner Mongolia Hehe
Investment Co., Ltd. (“Hehe"”) in which the Company held a
93.29% equity interest, the Company had control over the
subsidiaries even with less than 50% of equity interest held
indirectly as at the end of reporting period.

During the year, the Group acquired a 51% equity interest in
Junlebao. Further details of the acquisition are included in note
43 to the financial statements.

“EENFERA-TH  AKRE10,000,0007T

(iii)

(iv)

T AR HRE @)

Percentage of equity
interest attributable
to the Company Principal activities
AATEENRERSL FEFEK
Direct Indirect
E# GiE:
- 24.26%  Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
FERHEIHm
- 2426%  Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
FERNEASM
- 2426%  Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
AERHEI Hm

FrChina Dairy Holdings }China Dairy (Mauritius)
Limited 2 B A 2 8 & & T B8 Sk H 5% fft B 32
SN BT FRBIHERA B o

RAEBEB LK GBI AR KEIRE
AREE MK B DRI TE

ZEFRARARBEPEEREMABRE
ERA e

ZETARLRBTREREMRATIA
CONE

RBEHR - ARZFFRAE g
HARGRFAX(RE) BROHAERAR
(IRFDHIARERNKREBREERF]
(TRA]) (KRR EH93.29% k) #
B RERRREERE DR B
AR ZEFRENEBESE -

FA - AEBEWEELES1%BE - BB
S HBER WK T3

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2010
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20. Investments in Associates

Share of net assets

20. = A w R E

DIEFEE

Group
#
2010

—g-%F
RMB'000
ARBFR

113,857

2009
—ETNF
RMB’000
ARETT

67,383

Details of the Group's associates at 31 December 2010 are set out

below:

Xinjiang Tianxue Food Co., Ltd. (i)
HEAERMARLF)

Fuzhou Mengxin Trading Co., Ltd. (i)
BNEEESERAE)

Shijiazhuang Mengniu Ice Cream Sales
Co., Ltd. (i)
AFHFTKEMHERRAR)

Tianjin Mengniu Ice Cream Sales
Co, Ltd. ()
RESHIKEMHE BREEAR)

Guangzhou Mengniu Dairy Trading
Co, Ltd. ()
BMHRFIEZESER L)

Wuhan Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd. (i)
RESHALERAT)

Particulars of
issued shares held

FERERT
RO&EH

Registered capital
&R

Registered capital
&R

Registered capital

AR

Registered capital
BAlIEEN

Registered capital
&R

Registered capital
&R

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
operations
TR BT R
=3tk

Mainland China
A

Mainland China
A

Mainland China

hEARE

Mainland China
B ARE

Mainland China
B ARE

Mainland China
A

R-E—FF+-A=+—0 AKE2HE

Percentage of equity
interest attributable to
the Group (indirect)
KREBELHRE
Bk (&)

2010 2009
“Z-ZF —ITHF

23% 23%
43% 43%
37% 37%
37% 37%
37% 37%
26% 26%

Principal activities

FEEH

Trading of dairy products
ARRESH

Trading of dairy products
ARRESH

Trading of dairy products

AHmES

Trading of dairy products
ARRES

Trading of dairy products
ARRESH

Trading of dairy products
ARRESH
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20. JAUE N w ] B BEE ()

20. Investments in Associates (conTiNuED)

Particulars of
issued shares held
PR T
ReER

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
operations
SMEL EER
e

—E-%F

Percentage of equity

interest attributable to
the Group (indirect)
REBEERRE
B (M)
2010 2009
—TTHE

Principal activities

FTEEH

Guilin Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
BN RHEERRAF AMER REARE AHRES
Tianjin Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. () Registered capital Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
REMRFIARHEBRAR) AMER RETARE AHRES
Wenzhou Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd. () Registered capital Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
AMEEFERRAF) AMER FRETARE AHRES
Heilongjiang Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. ()~ Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
BRISTAFHERRAF) AMER FRETARE AHRES
Chengdu Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 34% 34%  Trading of dairy products
RERFIFHERRAELF) AMER FRETARE AHRES
Nanjing Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. () Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
AR IRHERRAF AMER FRETARE AHRES
Jinan Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 46% 42%  Trading of dairy products
BEERTIRHEERRAF AMER FRETARE AHRES
Taiyuan Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd. () Registered capital Mainland China 46% 37%  Trading of dairy products
ARTRGFAEFBRATF) AMER RETARE AHRES
Nanchang Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. () Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
MERTIRHERRELAR AMER REARE AHRES
Chongging Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 46% 37%  Trading of dairy products
B ESRE S LN () AMER RETARE AHRES
Hefei Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 39% 39%  Trading of dairy products
AETRARHEBRAR) AMER FRETARE AHRES

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2010
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20. A A w ] B HEE ()

20. Investments in Associates (conTiNuED)

Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
Particulars of registration and interest attributable to
issued shares held ~ operations the Group (indirect) Principal activities
FisEERT EMRL ELER EEEEGNRE
ROER S BAL (B FEXY
2010 2009
—E-BF
Shijiazhuang Jinmengyuan Trading Registered capital Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
Co, Ltd. () AR REIARE ARRESH
AR FREHERATAA)
Beijing Mengniu Technical Development Registered capital Mainland China 19% 19%  Technology development
Co., Ltd. () (i &R hEIARE e
IEREARIBERARRF) ()
Wulumugi Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
EERABRFIEHEARAA) &R REIARE ARRES
Kunming Deluxe Commercial Trading Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
Co, Ltd. () &R REIARE ARRES
RS mHEEERAR)
Changsha Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd. (j) Registered capital Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
ARG AFBREEAR) AR FREARE ARRESH
Xi"an Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 43% 43%  Trading of dairy products
ARSTAFHEERRAR AR FREIARE ARRESH
Changchun Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. () Registered capital Mainland China 46% 42%  Trading of dairy products
FESTAmEERRAR AR FRELARE ARRESH
Xuzhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
NS EHEERRAR0 AR BTN S ARRESH
Foshan Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. () Registered capital Mainland China 46% 46%  Trading of dairy products
BT RE AR HERB AR AR BTN S ARRESH
Guiyang Mengniu Dairy Trading Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 37% 42%  Trading of dairy products
ECERSE SN () &R BTN S ARRESH
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20. B A

A B ()

20. Investments in Associates (conTinuED)

Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
Particulars of registration and interest attributable to
issued shares held ~ operations the Group (indirect) Principal activities
FisEERT TR BER REBEHRE
REER =3tk B (E#) FEXH
2010 2009
2% —ETNF
Shengyang Mengniu Dairy Sales Registered capital Mainland China 19% 19%  Trading of dairy products
Co., Ltd. () (i) &R FREIARE HmES
BEF AR EERRAF ()
Xiangfan Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 46% 46%  Trading of dairy products
RN EHERR AR BTN FREIARE ARRES
Hangzhou Mengniu Dairy Trading Co., Ltd. () Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
MMNREEBHERAREN) BAlEEN REIARE ARRES
Suzhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
FMFE AR RHERR DR BAlEEN REIARE ARRES
Guangzhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i)~ Registered capital Mainland China 29% 29%  Trading of dairy products
BMmRFIEHERR AR BAlEEN REIARE ARRES
Shanghai Mengniu Food Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
ARG RmEERRAA) BAlEEN REIARE ARRES
Hohhot Menglai Trading Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
AR TR AR S AREERF) BAlIEEN REIARE ARRES
Cangzhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
EMTRFIEHERR AR BAlIEEN FEIARE ARRES
Changsha Mengniu Frealth Dairy Sales Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
Co, Ltd. () BAlEEN REIARE ARRES
ARG RERAFHERRRA)
Changsha Mengniu lce Cream Sales Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
Co, Ltd. () &R FREIARE ARRES

FORFKEMHEERRAR)

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2010
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20. A A B B R ()

20. Investments in Associates (conTNuED)

Particulars of
issued shares held
FERERT
REER

Place of
incorporation/

registration and

operations
AR B Rk
RS

Percentage of equity
interest attributable to
the Group (indirect)
REBELIRRE
Bt (B)

2010 2009
—-%5 —ZING

Principal activities

IRRE

Wuhan Mengniu Hongtai Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products

RESFERRMAERRAA) AR hEIARE ARRESH

Nanjing Wanjiahao Mengniu lce Cream Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
Sales Co,, Ltd. () AR hEIARE ARRESH

FRABFHESKEMHEERBR AR

Hefei Mengniu Ice Cream Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products

AERAFKEHRHEEBRAF0 &R hEIARE ARRESH

Nanjing Mengniu Low Temperature Dairy Registered capital Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
Products Sales Co., Ltd. (i) HfER AL HHERES

ARSTARERImEERBR AR

Changsha Mengniu Low Temperature Dairy Registered capital Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
Products Sales Co,, Ltd. () &R FR B RRE ARRES

RAFGARERAmHEERRRA)

Guangzhou Mengniu Low Temperature Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. () AR hEIARE ARRESH

BMHRFARERNHERRAA)

Jinhua Mengniu Ice Cream Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products

SERTRERHEBRAF0 &R FhEIARE ARRESH

Dalian Mengniu Ice Cream Sales Co., Ltd. () Registered capital Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products

RESHKEDMHE BREERR) &R BN ARRESH

Nanchang Mengniu Ice Cream Registered capital Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
Sales Co., Ltd. (i) &R FhEIARE ARRESH

MESTKERHERRAR



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuen)

S5

B} 5 )

20. Investments in Associates (conTiNuED)

Hengyang Mengniu Ice Cream
Sales Co., Ltd. (i)

IS

Taiyuan Mengniu Low Temperature

FIKEMHEBRAA

Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. ()
ARFFAER BRI REEERAA)

Xi'an Mengniu Low Temperature Dairy

Sales Co., Ltd. (i)

=]

[T

Zhanjiang Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i)
all)

I

Dezhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i)
all)

@

Zhaoging Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i)

EEm

Liuzhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. ()

CUES

Quanzhou Mengniu Hongtai Sales Co., Ltd. (i)
SHIERTHERRA

S

Harbin Mengniu Frozen Food Sales Co., Ltd. (i)
al()

B

Harbin Mengniu Trading Co., Ltd. ()

L

FHRERIMHEBRRA

STHFHERRA

STHFHERRA

RFHFHEBRAT]

FARHERRAR0

SEEEARATF)

(i)

(i)

P RRRMHERRA

al()

0

Particulars of
issued shares held
AT #T
REER

Registered capital
BalIEEN

Registered capital
BAlIEEN

Registered capital
HMER

Registered capital

AR

Registered capital
&R

Registered capital
&R

Registered capital
BalIEEN

Registered capital
BalIEEN

Registered capital
&R

Registered capital
&R

20. B A

Place of
incorporation/

registration and

operations
TR B R
-3tk

Mainland China
AR

Mainland China
B ARE

Mainland China
AT

Mainland China
AR

Mainland China
A

Mainland China
A

Mainland China
A

Mainland China
A

Mainland China
AR

Mainland China
A

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2010

Percentage of equity
interest attributable to
the Group (indirect)
AEEEE R RRE
Bt ()

2010 2009
“2-2F —ETNF
- 2%
2% 2%
42% 42%
2% 2%
2% 2%
29% 29%
33% 33%
23% 23%
2% 2%
37% 37%

A B ()

Principal activities

FREH

Trading of dairy products

AHmE S

Trading of dairy products
IHRES

Trading of dairy products
AHRES

Trading of dairy products

L%UDD 855

Trading of dairy products

AHmES

Trading of dairy products

AHmES

Trading of dairy products
L%UDD =Y

Trading of dairy products

AHmES

Trading of dairy products

AHmES

Trading of dairy products
L%UDD =Y
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20. Investments in Associates (conTNuED)

Jiaxing Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. ()
FESTI mEEERAR)

Hengshui Guangyuanjuxing Trading Co., Ltd. (i)
EkmEREEEE AR AR

Kunming Mengniu Sales Co., Ltd. (i)
BRSHIAFHEERAR)

Inner Mongolia Mengniu Saikexing
Reproductive Biotechnology Co., Ltd
(Former name: Inner Mongolia Breeding
BiotechCo., Ltd. (i) (note 44)

AEAEMELR EWRIRG

BRAR(RE : ARERGEE
EMEABRAR) () (HFad)

Xianyang Mengniu Sales Co., Ltd. (i)
RS £ HEERRAR)

Wuhan Mengniu Frealth Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. ()
RESG RS RIEHERR AR

Tianjin Mengniu Trading Co., Ltd. (i)
REMRETEFHEARARD

Shenzhen Mengniu Trading Co., Ltd. (i)
MIEEB HERAR)

Particulars of
issued shares held
FERERT
REER

Registered capital

EMER

Registered capital

AR

Registered capital

AR

Registered capital

AR

Registered capital
&R

Registered capital
&R

Registered capital
&R

Registered capital
&R

20. A A B B R ()

Place of
incorporation/

registration and

operations
AL B R
B

Mainland China
B ARE

Mainland China
HBIARE

Mainland China
HBIARE

Mainland China
HBIARE

Mainland China
AL

Mainland China
AL

Mainland China
AL

Mainland China
AL

Percentage of equity

interest attributable to
the Group (indirect)
AEBEGHRE

BAL (B

2010
“E-ZF

46%

46%

42%

28%

42%

37%

45%

37%

2009

46%

42%

28%

Principal activities

TEEH

Trading of dairy products
IHRES

Trading of dairy products
IHRES

Trading of dairy products
IHRES

Cultivation and sale of
cattle embryos

A R EFIR

Trading of dairy products
ARRESH

Trading of dairy products
ARRESH

Trading of dairy products
ARRESH

Trading of dairy products
ARRESH
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20. Investments in Associates (conTiNuED)

Place of

incorporation/
Particulars of registration and
issued shares held  operations

FrERERTT AR BRR
RG&EH ESE

20. JAUE N w ] B BEE ()

Percentage of equity
interest attributable to
the Group (indirect) Principal activities
REBELIRE
Bt () TEEK
2010 2009

=

Changzhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. () Registered capital Mainland China

BN mEERRATF AMER REIARE
Shijiazhuang Junlebao Leshi Dairy Registered capital Mainland China
Co., Ltd. (i) AMER REIARE

PRI 5=t Sk 2] YN (/)

Not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or another member
firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

Since more than 20% of the equity interest of the associates
was held by either Mengniu or Junlebao, the Company had
significant influence over the associates even with less than 20%
of equity interest held indirectly as at the end of the reporting
period.

()

(ii)

2% - Trading of dairy products
HRES
1% - Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
A ERHEY Em

REBBL KGN EB A AL K2 IRE
ARH R B R A TE o

RIEIR - ARNZFBE R RH20% MK
BAXTHELERA  AEARBREK
B NREER20% - NRFIHZEH S
RAVNBEAZES -

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2010
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20. Investments in Associates (conTNuED)

21.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of
the Group's associates extracted from their unaudited management
accounts:

Share of the associates’ assets and liabilities:

20. A A B B R ()

TRETASEBRENRINHHERBE (X
BERGEREERE) :

2010
—g-%F

2009
—ETNEF
RMB’'000
ARETFIT

RMB’000
AR®T

DIEBERRNEENRAE ¢

Current assets TRENEE 318,014 318,464

Non-current assets IERBEE 46,866 26,331

Current liabilities VIR (248,710) (276,380)

Non-current liabilities ERBEE (2,313) (1,032)
Net assets FEE 113,857 67,383
Share of the associates’ revenues and bax (b AN O NN i

profits and losses: (HER) :

Revenues WA 1,884,221 1,619,942

Profits and losses (s EE) 40,438 19,522

During the year, the unrecognised share of the associates’ losses
amounted to RMB15,305,000 (2009: RMB10,076,000). As at 31
December 2010, the accumulated unrecognised share of the associates’
losses amounted to RMB34,081,000 (2009: RMB19,421,000).

Investments in a Jointly-Controlled Entity
Details of the Company’s jointly-controlled entity are set out below:

Place of
establishment
and operations

Particulars of
issued shares held
FBERT

RGEH BASEE S

Mengniu Arla (Inner Mongolia) Dairy Registered capital Mainland China
Products Co. Ltd. () AR FR B RRE

AREEE R FARRERATAR
(RARS : ARERFAISS
BREERT)

()  Not audited by Emnst & Young Hong Kong or another member firm of
the Ernst & Young global network.

21

FR - AERIEBELREBEAARE
15,305,000 (ZZZ N4 : AR% 10,076,000
T) R-TE—TE+-A=+—H " Bk
TR DG HE & A A EE A A K #34,081,0007T
(ZET N4 : ARM19,421,0005T) °

TG ] 7 ) L Y 4

AABNHAREHEROFBEHRIINAT

Percentage of equity
interest attributable to
the Group (indirect) Principal activities
AEEEGNER
Bt (EE) TEEH
2010 2009
“E-BF ZTTNE
46.65% 46.65%  Manufacture and sale of
dairy products
AEREETHm

() REBBZKGFEELMALRKERBEE
HAK B RRFER °
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21. Investments in A Jointly-Controlled Entity contvuen)

The share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the jointly-

controlled entity at 31 December 2010 and for the year then ended,

21, 7 3 [ e 1) B A B ()
TREFRR-ZE-—Z£+-A=+—ARHZE
ZAILEEAEESERRREERNEE -

which is included in the consolidated financial statements, is as follows:

B WARRX  FESBEEHAGREME

K
2010 2009
—E-EfF —TTNF
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARMETT ARETIT
Share of the assets and liabilities: JEMREERERE
Current assets TRENEE 123,715 75,160
Non-current assets IEmBNEE 207,711 225,164
Current liabilities mEEE (238,475) (191,410)
Net assets FEE 92,951 108,914
Share of the revenue and loss: FE(EUWA K &1
Revenue WA 195,371 258,599
Cost of sales and operating expenses HEKRARREEER (211,334) (264,958)
Loss &8 (15,963) (6,359)

22. Available-for-sale Investments

Listed equity investments, at fair value:

22, AT Bk B B

Group
A EE

ETERAKE - BofE

2010

—¥-%F
RMB’000
ARET R

2009
—ETNF
RMB’'000
ARETIT

Hong Kong E5 (a) 114,831 -
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value  3F FHIRAIEE » AR E (a) 171,461 =
Unlisted equity investments, at cost JE ERRANIEE - IR AE (b) 15,389 17,409

186,850 17,409
301,681 17,409

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2010
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22. Available-for-sale Investments (contmuep)

Listed equity investments, at fair value:
Hong Kong

BB

EHBRAKRE - BARE

22, Ik BB o)

Company
NG|
2010 2009
ZZTNEF
RMB’000

ARETIT

—F-2F
RMB'000
ARBT T

114,831 =

Notes:

(@)

The holding company of an unlisted company, in which the Group
held a 2.32% equity interest at the cost of RMB12,000,000 as at 31
December 2010, was listed during the year. Accordingly, the fair value
of the unlisted equity investment has been estimated by reference to
the quoted market share price of its holding company, taking into
account the liquidity factors. In addition, the Company invested cash of
approximately HK$151,512,000 (equivalent to RMB128,926,000) into
the aforementioned holding company, representing a 1.08% equity
interest in the holding company as at 31 December 2010.

Changes in fair value of the Group's available-for-sale investments
recognised in other comprehensive income amounted to
RMB 105,501,000, net of tax of R\IB39,865,000.

The above investments consist of investments in equity securities which
were designated as available-for-sale financial assets and have no fixed
maturity date or coupon rate.

As at 31 December 2010, certain unlisted equity investments with a
carrying amount of RMB15,389,000 (2009: RMB17,409,000) were
stated at cost less impairment because the range of reasonable fair value
estimates is so significant that the directors are of opinion that their fair
value cannot be measured reliably. The Group does not intend to dispose
of them in the near future.

Wi

(a)

(b)

—BELETMRR(AEER=_T—ZF+=A
=+ — AR AR 12,000,000 THEH
2.32% M) 2R ABREARN LT itk
ZIELETBRAKRENRAARBEZEEER AR
T 5 TR AR (E I & B B 1 R = m (B &t -
4N - AR B E#I151,512,00058 T £ (48
SHAR%128,926,0007T) A LAt =R A F]
HER-_Z—ZTFE+_A=+—HBZIERAA
1.08% f&#E -

REMEERERRNAEEHEEREDN
AREEE A ARE105,501,0007T (FRFIE
AR#39,865,0007T) °

iR EBEREERAHHESHEENBRAE
HREMK - WEEERIH AR -

R-ZTE—ZTHFE+-_A=+—H HREER
AEBENSEENEHREN  EERAH
AABEIEARFTE  WEEAERARE
15,389,0007C( = Z T h4 : AR#17,409,000
TL) B 5 T IE £ R AR B IR A AR BB E B
IF - AEEEEREHAHEZSRE -
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23. Deferred Tax

The movements in the deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year

are as follows:

Deferred tax assets:

23. I P Bi
FRIEIE TR A E R B EORBIT -

ELEFREREE :

Group
REE
2010 2009
—E-BF —ETNF
RMB'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
At 1 January R—H—H 131,741 186,881
Deferred tax debited to the consolidated income £ IFALR & FI3 5= H1 5 YR
statement during the year (note 9) Fris it (BtEE9) (50,681) (55,140)
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 December Rt A=+—HBHEL
FTiSTi & EERR 81,060 131,741
Deferred tax liabilities: EEFMEHEARE !

At 1 January

Deferred tax credited to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income arising
from fair value changes of available-for-sale
investments during the year (note 22(a))

Group

#EE
2010 2009
—EThF

RMB’'000
AR®ETTT

%%
RMB’000
ARMSTFT

®—A—H - -
ERRETEHEERENAAE
BETE LS AR 2 EGS
RAEIEFTEH(FE22()
39,865 =

Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December

Rt A=1+—HNELEMF

HaEes 39,865 _

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2010
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23. Deferred Tax (CONTINUED) 23 ﬁ@ﬁﬁ’?ﬁ‘ﬁ(%)
Deferred income tax assets at 31 December 2010 related to the R-E—ZEF+_-_A=1+—"HREZEMEHRE
following: ERETSEE A -

Consolidated statement Consolidated

of financial position income statement

REMBRRR REfBx
2010 2010
—E-%F T —R-%F

RMB'000 RMB'000
UN:S ARBTR

Tax losses available for offsetting A # % B 14 fE ;3 %

against future taxable profits BRI TIEERE 56,565 91,878 (35,313) (59,011)
Write-down of inventories to WoRFE 2 2R %E

net realisable value 103 131 (28) (26,861)
Un-invoiced accruals REGEZNERER - 16,925 (16,925) 7,925
Deferred income B 24,392 22,807 1,585 22,807
Deferred tax assets BLEFTSHEE 81,060 131,741
Deferred income tax expense LTSS H

(note 9) (FftzE9) (50,681) (55,140)
Management expects it is probable that taxable profit will be available EIRETRMARIRFE A Al ae MR R AR -
against which the above tax losses and deductible temporary A A0 LR IR S 18 R AT R B = 2 o

differences can be utilised in the coming years.
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23 DCfCI‘I‘Cd Tax (CONTINUED) 23 ;}E@Fﬁ?ﬂﬁ‘ﬁ(%)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
following items:

Tax losses arising in Mainland China (i)
Tax credits related to purchases of domestic

PSR EEL AR T 518 B #ER

Group
EE
2010 2009

—E-EF ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT

PARR B A B 2 A O R TR BT R () 102,212 205,373
ERBE B B AR E A RO E

equipment (ii) 5. (ii) 56,819 105,684
Deductible temporary differences AT E R = R 172,576 143,272
331,607 454,329

(i) Taxlosses can be carried forward for a maximum of five years to
offset the future taxable profit.

(i) Tax credits can be carried forward for five to seven years to offset
the tax payables if the future year tax exceeded the base year tax.

Pursuant to the New Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on
dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign investment
enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007.
A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008.

At 31 December 2010, no deferred tax liabilities (2009: Nil) have
been recognised for the withholding taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings by Mengniu and other subsidiaries located
in Mainland China whose equity interests were directly held by the
Company as the directors of the Company represented that there was
no plan to distribute the earnings generated in 2009 and 2010.

(i) DEIREIE AT 458 0 A 8H B AR AR T A
I

(i) fHARRFENBRBEEEFEHHR -
MIBE R A E R E - FAEKERMN

o
N

RIBFBOE - RPBEAERIZININERERIN
BEEETIRNBREABKI10% BN - AR
REB-_TZNF-—A—BREYR  LEAR
—ETLF T A=+ —BEMEENET -
i B ERSNEIR B E B RDEE R Z BRI B
BHE - BIARBEBRIH R - AEER
AT ERS%EH10% ° Bt - REEAERZS
RAEBEAREXRZNFRARSR - TTNFE—H—
A REELEMN RN IRE RS SRR -

RIE—ZF+-_A=+—0  LRRERET
RN BEARENEMARRHEE ERRET
N AR AR E H B RS ) TR N B R AR KT A
BREE(ZTTNAF - 8)  BIARARA
ESXRTHEFERR_ZZNFR-Z—F
FEENRMEDIK °

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2010
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23.

24.

DCfCI‘I‘Cd TaX (CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2010, there were no significant unrecognised
deferred tax liabilities (2009: Nil) for taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings of certain of Mengniu’s subsidiaries and
associates, as Mengniu has no liability to additional tax should such
amount be remitted.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

Except for the amount disclosed above, the Group and the Company
did not have any material unrecognised deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets at 31 December 2010 (2009: Nil).

Other Financial Assets
Other financial assets represented entrusted loans to certain dairy
farmers via banks. A maturity analysis of the entrusted loans of the

Group is as follows:

23.

24.

AR JE P A5 B8 )
RZZ—TF+A=+—8 BEEFAIR
SHEE T TR RS A B AR E 2 F i fE
RNOBBEBNEARERELEMEHREE(ZEE
NEF - E) W RARBEZEREEEL - 5
SN EBERBINLIE o

BEER A2 A A E R S A BB M M A ) P S
BIRR -

BLAmRENSEN R_F—FF+_A
=t—B  AEERAR BN EARHE
RELHABEHABRNELEMEHEE(ZETTN
FE) e

A 4> il i 2
HipeBAENEBRTRUFETHANE
REH - AREERERZHHITMT -

Group
AEE
2010 2009
—EB—=F ZETTNF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR%ETR ARETT
Within 1 year —E R 17,888 10,222
1 to 2 years —EWF 31,507 11,399
2 to 3 years ME=4F 29,188 3,870
Over 3 years =FLE 11,059 5,599
Total entrusted loans REER A 89,642 31,090
Less: Amount due within one year included B AT ARBIEER E AR
in current assets under other receivables WEkIEH) —F A 2 HA
(note 29) FIA (F17E29) (17,888) (10,222)
71,754 20,868

The annual interest rates of the entrusted loans varied from 5.76% to
8.16% (2009: 5.76% 10 8.02%).

ERERNEFENF5.76%E8.16% (= FF
NF : 5.76%%8.02%) °
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25. Inventories

25. 1+#&

Group
TEH
2010 2009
—E-ZF ZETThF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET R ARETT
Raw materials FER 880,156 507,721
Finished goods EXm 296,267 207,176
Total inventories at the lower of cost and LR AR B ] SR ERRIEE
net realisable value SHENFEERE 1,176,423 714,897

The amount of write-down of inventories recognised as an expense
was RMB865,000 (2009: RMB1,033,000) which was recognised in
other operating expenses (note 5).

26. Bills Receivable

An aged analysis of the bills receivable as at the end of the reporting

period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

R AR HEEHRE % A RKS865,0007T
(ZZTNF : AR¥1,033,00070) REMEE
& A (fsEs) P HERR o

20. MEWCR 1R
7K S8 B 90 o R ) B R R R B S R

AT

Group
REE
2010 2009
—E-EF —EENF
RMB'000 RMB’000
AREF T ARETFIT
Within 3 months 31E A AR 19,439 51,949
4 to 6 months 4%26{E A 1,100 500
20,539 52,449
As at 31 December 2010, no bills receivable (2009: RMB41,036,000) R-ZE—ZF+_FA=+—"H WERBKZE

were factored with recourse to financial institutions. In 2009, the
corresponding amount was recorded as short term bank loans (note
34).

No bills receivable due from associates (2009: RMB5,683,000) are
included in the above balances.

(ZZTZTNF : AR¥41,036,0007T) 8638 T4
R (MEERE) R_TTNE - HHES
BT AR BBRTER(KIFE34) °

LSRR EEMENSEARRR(—T
ThE : AR¥5,683,0007T) °

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2010
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27. Trade Receivables

27. FEWUR R

Group
&M
2010 2009
—E-2F —TTAF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Trade receivables JE W BR SR 556,422 529,805
Impairment B (1,489) (2,502)
554,933 527,303

The Group normally allows a credit period of not more than 30 days to
its customers which is extendable in certain circumstances. The Group
closely monitors overdue balances. In view of the aforementioned and
the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number
of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of credit
risk. The trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables of the Group, net of provision

for doubtful debts, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

Within 3 months 3{E A AR
4 to 6 months 4Z61EH
7 to 12 months 7212{8AH
Over 1 year 19 A E

AEE-RETEFPTEBBI0OKRNEESR &
FEBRATALR - AKREZYE BB KRE
BAERR o BN B ATl R A R B E e YRR SR D
BEABTREINNEFPER  RUBEANEE
SPER o BRI B RS o

AEBEQMBERRBENEREFIZERAN
HRRERDMTER T

Group

LS
2010 2009
—2-2F “ETThE
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ARETT
444,546 471,122
101,423 46,112
8,205 7,243
759 2,826

554,933 527,303
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27. Trade Receivables (contmuen)

The movements in the provision for impairment of trade receivables

are as follows:

27. FEWCHR K (a1
P SOR E R B B BN T

Group

A
2010 2009
—E-BF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREFTT
At 1 January Rn—A—H 2,502 1,744
Impairment losses recognised EHEREREE X 1,264 2,100
Impairment losses reversed BEIREERL (2,277) (1,342)
At 31 December R+=—B=+—H 1,489 2,502

The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not considered to NFERE R B B AR R ERER AT T

be impaired is as follows:

Group

rEH
2010 2009
—E-2F ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET R AREFT
Neither past due nor impaired B AR B HEA TR (E 533,314 504,804

Past due but not impaired BB ERE

— Within 3 months -3@AR 3,081 =
— Over 3 months - 3B A E 3,579 -
539,974 504,804

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited

Annual Report 2010
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27 Trade RCCCiV&blCS (CONTINUED)
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large
number of diversified customers for whom there was no recent history
of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number
of independent customers that have a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are
of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect
of these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over
these balances.

The amounts due from associates of approximately RMB276,844,000
(2009: RMB280,354,000) and an amount due from a jointly-controlled
entity of approximately RMB155,000 (2009: RMB4,248,000) are
included in the above balances. These balances are unsecured, non-
interest-bearing and are repayable on credit terms similar to those
offered to other major customers of the Group.

28. Prepayments and Deposits

27. FEWCHR K (a1

B K 48 B I R (B 2 FE W R IR T B K 2 1N (R 28
RIMBEF B - S &R RIE %

B AR B3 SR (B 2 e YR IR T B — e SE 5T
EFEH  ZSEFEASERNARENER
ik o RBBELR  ARAEERAR/ER
REGEHERBERE  TEREREETEXN
REVBEMERPRBERATAZEYE - K
SEEZSR/EBTHTEREERRIEMLE
B8Rt -

FAAERBERRBERATREBEOAR
# 276844000 T (ZZTEZTNF : ARK
280,354,000t ) M & U 2k B35 HIl B RS SIE A A
R¥155,000 (=TT NF : AR¥4,248,000
J) o LS AEKRRES - BEEEHHR
BTIAEEHEMFEFERFHES -

28. TR % &

Group

TEE
2010 2009
—E-BF ZZETNEF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR%F ARBFIT
Deposits e 6,844 2,674
Prepayments SEANES 834,496 253,047
Value-added tax recoverable AIEHIEER 75,518 =
Corporate income tax recoverable AR ZETSH 14,965 8,850
Land use rights — current (note 14) It A — BEAZE > (M9=E14) 10,480 8,056
942,303 272,627

The amount due from an associate of approximately R\MB1,951,000
(2009: RMB2,676,000) and an amount due from a jointly-controlled
entity of approximately RMB54,000,000 (2009: Nil) are included in the
above balances.

Ll E#RPREREBBEARRBOARE
1,951,000 (ZZEF h 4 : AR®2,676,000
) RERARAEZEHERBRENARE
54,000,0007C( === N4 : &) ©
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29. Other Receivables 29, H: b JE W K0
The balance of other receivables can be analysed as follows: HAth EUGRIBAEER D ATIAT ¢

Group

rEE
2010 2009
—E-EF ZTTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
Dividends receivable JrE U B 2, 393 3,198
Other financial assets (note 24) Hith o B & E (fzE24) 17,888 10,222
Others Hith 151,616 52,782
Total st 169,897 66,202

Company
BAT
2010 2009
—E-EF —EThF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AERETT
Due from subsidiaries JEW —KF A RIFKIE 36,843 1,436,930
Others Hifb 106 94
Total st 36,949 1,437,024
The loan to a subsidiary included in other receivables above is A it B At FE R ER TE R FE UL — K F A B 5RIE
unsecured, interest-bearing and repayable within one year. The ABEER  FFEEAR—FAERE - BR—R
carrying amount of the loan to a subsidiary approximates to its fair FRARFIEMNRAEEE AR ERSE °
value.

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2010
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30. Cash and Bank Balances and Pledged Deposits 30. e RSB 1T 65 B e T
Group
AEEH
2010 2009
—E—EF ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARETTT
Cash and cash equivalents BE MBS EEY) 3,775,255 3,986,624
Pledged deposits REEIFHK 102,399 230,968
Time deposits with original maturity of more than RZIHIE A=1&F LA L&)
three months EHIFR 2,922,558 2,163,397
6,800,212 6,380,989
Less: Deposits pledged for banking facilities B AERIRTTRVE IR (RFE S
(note 32 and 34) fFr (BiaE325%34) (102,399) (230,968)
Cash and bank balances He MIRTTETF 6,697,813 6,150,021

Company
N

2010 2009

—E2-ZF —ETNF

RMB'000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

Cash and bank balances IRE RERTTHETT 599,995 2,354,922
Cash at banks earns interest at the prevailing market interest SRITIEZRBEMEF RSB o BT RIFRE
rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits are deposited with SEFNERNEER TR ERIERLHRZ
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. Cash and bank $R1T o BEAHAREES,101,754,000T(=FF
balances amounting to approximately RMB5,101,754,000 (2009: NE : ARME3,626,788,0007T) WIRE RIRTT
RMB3,626,788,000) were denominated in Renminbi, which is not HEFYAARE BB - A REEBRERINE
freely convertible in the international foreign exchange market and TMEFETAER LR HEXAHEAR

whose exchange rate is determined by the People’s Bank of China. HRITEIE ©
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31. Trade Payables 31. FEATHRK
An aged analysis of the trade payables of the Group, based on the AEEEMEREARERZHSHARE DT ¢
invoice date, is as follows:

Group
AEEH
2010 2009
—EB-=F —ETHhF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARETT
Within 3 months 3ME A AR 1,994,978 1,463,848
4 to 6 months 4Z6{E A 51,315 63,708
7 to 12 months 721218 A 13,909 2,868
Over 1 year 1F A+ 991 942
2,061,193 1,531,366
The amount due to an associate of approximately RMB28,955,000 LTl ERPEENEZERARBOARE
(2009: RMB2,000) is included in the above balances. The balance is 28,955,0007C( ZEZNF : AR¥E2,0007T) °
unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand. ZEEHREER - R NARERER -
The Group's trade payables are unsecured and non-interest-bearing. AEBREMNERABEERAREE
32. Bills Payable 32. EAT S48
An aged analysis of the bills payable of the Group, based on the REBENERBEZZAHNKRERITET

invoice date, is as follows:

Group
TrEE
2010 2009
—E-2F —TETNEF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%T T AREFTT
Within 3 months 3EAR 493,824 712,105
4 to 6 months 4268 H 993,478 96,304
1,487,302 808,409
Except for an aggregate balance of approximately RMB539,490,000 A FF 4 AR 539,490,000 (Z T NEF ¢
(2009: RMB612,301,000) secured by the pledge of certain of the AR%612,301,0007T ) B FES IR A5 #R T AR
Group's deposits amounting to approximately RMB94,839,000 (2009: SE BN AREIL,839,0007L( =TT NF ¢
RMB142,190,000) (note 30), bills payable are unsecured. The above AR#142,190,0007T) (MI5E30) A& F 7R AME
balances are non-interest-bearing. TN HRHNENZERAEERR - Liists
RES -

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2010
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33. Accruals and Customers’ Deposits 33. HIREH L& Pl &
Group
AREE
2010 2009
—E2-EF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARETFTT
Advances from customers RPN 666,841 373,939
Salary and welfare payables VERE e N =Yl 213,301 185,352
880,142 559,291
The amounts due to associates of approximately RMB86,931,000 FERPREENBERARBOARE
(2009: RMB88,087,000) are included in the above balances. The 86,931,0007C( —ZZZ AL : ARK¥88,087,000
balances are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and are repayable on JL) o LA AEER 2B RERERE
demand. i o
34. Interest-Bearing Bank Loans 34. 5t BRI

2010 2009
= =
Fixed  Floating Fixed Floating
Maturity rate rate Maturity rate rate
IHE  EEFE OFERE BFIER EEFE OFFAR
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB‘000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT ARBTT ARETT
Short term bank loans, secured  SEHRSRITEFR (BIEHR) 2011 118,686 - 2010 126,170 -
Short term bank loans, unsecured  ZERR4TE 3 (I H) 2011 152,100 280,000 2010 197,423

() 2012 - 150,000 2011-2012 - 350,000

S

Long term bank loans, unsecured  RHARITET

270,786 430,000 323593 350,000
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34. 5 B SRFTE K (a0

34. Interest-Bearing Bank Loans conrmuen)

At 31 December 2010, short term bank loans of approximately
RMB93,686,000 were secured by certain land use rights (note 14),
property, plant and equipment (note 12(b)) and pledged deposits
(note 30) of the Group. A short term bank loan of approximately
RMB25,000,000 was secured by certain assets of an associate.
At 31 December 2009, short term bank loans of approximately
RMB126,170,000 were secured by certain bills receivable (note 26)
and pledged deposits (note 30) of the Group.

During the year, the annual interest rates of the short term bank
loans and the long term bank loans varied from 2.05% to 9.36%
and 4.86% 1o 5.04% (2009: varied from 1.19% to 6.93% and from
4.86% to 7.25%), respectively. As at 31 December 2010, except for
a short term bank loan of US$4,219,000 equivalent to approximately
RMB27,866,000 (2009: US$19,412,000) denominated in United
States dollars, all the Group’s interest-bearing bank loans were
denominated in RMB.

The repayment schedule of the bank loans is as follows:

R_ZF—ZTF+_A=+—0  BHRTER
#9 A R #593,686,0007T J3 A& B E T L Hb
FRRE(E14) ~ W% - BB K& (HE12(b))
RIRFESFR(MIFE30) EER - MERITER
# AR #25,000,0007 I HEEE A B A TEE
EEE - RZZTENF+ZA=+—H ' &5
SRITERHARE126,170,0007T 5 1 AN EE H)
AT rRKRERE(HiE26) RIREFSF R (HiFE30)
(SR

REERN - BHBTEZIMRARITERD
FFED BN T 2.05% = 9.36% N 4.86% =
5.04% (ZZZNF : NF1.19%F6.93% &
486%ET7.25% )2 - RZT—FF+=HA
=+—HB ' BREHRITEF4,219,000% 5T (48
BN AREE27,866,0007T) (— T NEF ¢
19,412,000% 7T ) JIAETT BB I - NEEA
BT BRITEFEIUARE BB -

REE

2010 2009

—Z=-EF —ETNF

RMB'000 RMB’000

AR%T T ARETIT

Within 1 year 16614 550,786 323,593
1to 2 years 122K 150,000 200,000
2 to 5 years 2E5FR - 150,000
Total interest-bearing bank loans ST RRITERAERE 700,786 673,593

Less: Amount due within one year included B RBAREFRH—FA

in current liabilities Bl HAZRIE (550,786) (323,593)
150,000 350,000

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2010
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35.

36.

Other Loans

Short term loans SECISEN

35.

oAt B8k

2009

—ETNF
RMB’'000
ARETIT

RMB’000
AR®TR

140,018 106,947

Except for other loans amounting to RMB2,646,000 which were
interest-bearing and were secured by certain property, plant and
equipment (note 12(b)), all other loans are unsecured, interest-free,
and with no repayment terms. Other loans were all granted by local
government authorities in the PRC for the purpose of supporting the
Group's establishment of production plants in various locations in the
PRC.

Long Term Payables

The Group's long term payables represent the amortised costs of
the outstanding instalments payable for the purchase of production
equipment. The effective interest rate used for the amortisation is the
prevailing market interest rate. The balances are repayable as follows:

30.

A AR2,646,000 T EMER BB
REE T - BB R &S (HE12(0)) (EE A
SN FTEEMEBERAERR 2R REHEH
RER - AEREHHFPEMSTBNERBA
T HEASEEF RS @ RE A ERE MR
ﬁ °

I E A+ 7K I

AEEN RAENFAEARBEEERED
893 FOB MR AR o 38 4P E A RO RS R
RAEHTHTE - AWEBHEFANT -

Group
AEE
2010 2009
—E-=F ZTTNEF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR%TR ARETT
Within 1 year 1A 43,932 83,237
1 to 2 years 1&24F 8,560 37,773
2 to 5 years 2&55F 5,542 12,106
Over 5 years S5ELA E - =
Total long term payables REFFERFIEREE 58,034 133,116
Less: Amount due within one year included & EEARBIB &R AR
in current liabilities under other payables AR —F A E|HiFRIE (43,932) (83,237)
14,102 49,879

Certain long term payables are secured by the Group’s property, plant
and equipment (note 12(b)).

ETREEBNHRAENREENYE - BE LR
BIEEA (FEE12(b) °
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37. Deferred Income 37. WRENL 25
Various local government authorities have granted certain property, ZEAMTBRNE BEERNANERETFTETY
plant and equipment to the Group for nil consideration and provided ¥ MERSE  WARSEBEARXMAER
finance to the Group to purchase certain property, plant and RERE  EAEEREEETYE  BEAR
equipment by way of a cash donation. Both the property, plant and B BEAXERBEDESZVEUAR
equipment and grants are recorded initially at fair value. The grants BB - CUWERE B & D8 BIEE R
received are regarded as deferred income, which is amortised to FRIEWRIBEDE  BENMKREN G AIEH
match the depreciation charge of the property, plant and equipment FHIE Y UEEHZERTHBEEME  HE
granted or purchased in accordance with their estimated useful lives. FEENTERR - FAZEHNEBNT -

Movements of the balances during the year are as follows:

Group

AREME
2010 2009
—E-FF ZETNF
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
At beginning of year F) 243,775 196,128
Received during the year UL EY 12,213 61,442

Amortisation during the year FNEE (14,857) (13,795)

At end of year FR 241,131 243,775
Current portion BREREE S 15,082 13,162
Non-current portion JERNHAZR > 226,049 230,613
241,131 243,775

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2010
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38. Other Financial Liabilities 38. ol B s A AR
Group
2010 2009
—E—=F ZETThF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT
Contingent consideration (note 43) SARE (FI7E43) 87,101 -
Present value of redemption amount for RIS FEIEAR AR BR HE2S /1
potential acquisition of puttable non- W R BB & 2EHIRE
controlling interests (@) 332,926 -
420,027 =
Note: Bz -
(@  According to the equity purchase agreement entered into among the (@ MWEAEE  BLERELENIFERRER

Group, Junlebao and the non-controlling shareholders of Junlebao, the
Group granted a put option to the non-controlling shareholders under
which the non-controlling shareholders have the right to sell, and the
Group has an obligation to buy the 49% equity interest in Junlebao
after 2016. At 31 December 2010, the Group derecognised the carrying
amount of non-controlling interests of RMB197,299,000 and recognised
a financial liability at the present value of the amount payable upon
exercise of the option of RMB332,926,000, and accounted for the
difference of RMB 135,627,000 into equity.

Y HRAEE R 0 AEERIFERERZ
ROnRE Bt R NFRIEERER
BREE  RASEBEETEEELE49%
BE - R=FT—ZFF+=-A=+—8 " &&
ERIEERELERBRESHEAEARYE
197,299,0007T R 31T {5 58 7 #E s FE A SR M 3R,
EAR332,926,000tFEREcRBE - WiEE
AR¥135,627,000 05 ARER °

39. Share Capital 39. BAs

2010 2009
—E-EF ZEENF

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT

Authorised: JERE ¢
3,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each  3,000,000,000/% & AXEI{E
0.1 87THYEBAR

319,235 319,235
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39. Share Capital (CONTINUED) 39. H)X‘LZIS:(@)

Number of

ordinary shares

ZEREE
‘000 RMB’000
T ARYET T
At 1 January 2010 R—Z—ZF—HF—H 1,737,192 178,611
Shares issued under the equity-settled TRIR AR S St R BB RS A =1 2
share option scheme BETIRAD (b) 796 68
At 31 December 2010 R-ZE—ZTF+-HF=+—H 1,737,988 178,679

Number of
ordinary shares

LmARER

'000 RMB’000

FR% ARETTT

At 1 January 2009 R=ZZTZENF—H—A 1,561,640 163,137

Issue of shares BT (@) 173,800 15,320
Shares issued under the equity-settled RIZLANR D S At RO BB AR FE =12

share option scheme BEITRR D (b) 1,752 154

At 31 December 2009 R-ZEThE+=—A=+—8H 1,737,192 178,611

()

On 5 July 2009, the Company completed the placing of
173,800,000 new shares of the Company with a par value of
HK$0.10 each at the placing price of HK$17.60 (equivalent to
RMB15.50) per share, resulting in proceeds, net of share issue
expenses, of approximately HK$3,058,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB2,694,483,000). The placing gave rise
to a share premium of HK$3,040,620,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB2,679,163,000), being the excess of the gross
proceeds less share issue expenses over the par value of the new
shares issued of HK$17,380,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB15,320,000). Details of the subscription of new shares were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 6 July 2009.

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share
options issued under the scheme are included in note 42 to the
financial statements.

(b)

RZZTNELARE » AREASRE
EE17.608 T (HERARK15.507T)
52 K R 2 173,800,000 B & B EI{E0.1078
TTEIAR R B FARD - P RIBHR KRG
2178 %) 43,058,000,00078 7T (FHE R
4 NR#2,694,483,0007T ) ° I REREE S
2K 3,040,620,000%8 7T (M E R LA R
2,679,163,0007T) MR 10 @ & » BIFT15 5K
BEERRDETBAGBLAMEITH
AR TEI{A 17,380,000 7T (HHER K A R
15,320,00070) B & K8 © REHARAFFIE
BERAARABARZZEZNFELA/<B FE
B A °

AR RIS Bl AR IR AT BIRITARE
PR R B B DI B TS R P RE42
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40. Reserves 40. bt
(A) Group (A) =&KE

FEA  AEBENWHEMBREERZSHOT

Movements in the other reserves of the Group during the year

are as follows:

Available-
forsale
Currency - investment Share
Share Contributed Statutory translation revaluation  option Other
premium  surplus  reserves differences  reserve  reseve  reserve Total
mit
Bt HERE  BRE
hivaE EHES iERE BEER  EERE fifs  EfbRE st
RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTL ARBTT ARBTL ARMTT ARMTT ARETRL
Note(a)  Note(h) Note22  Note42
M@ M) ME2  HEe
At 1 January 2009 R=EENF-A-R 2897558 232020 768829  (137446) - 176963 - 393794
lsue of shares (note 39) B (HE39) 267963 - - - - - - 2679163
Transfer o statutory reserves EREETRE = - 184588 = - - - 184588
Shares issued under equity-settled share  1RELRRA ST S HVERRR
option arangements (note 42) TR (3E42) 20515 = = = = = - 20515
Currency translation differences SEREES - - - (453 - - - (45
Fouity-settled share option arrangements MAIRIAS: [H0EERRIEZ 5
(note 42) (Wtzta2) - - - - - 284646 - 284646
At 1 January 2010 R=Z-ZF-F—H 5597236 232020 953417 (141,981) - 461,609 - 7,102,301
Transfer to statutory reserves ERSLTRE - - 36378 - - - - 236378
Shares issued under equity-settled share IR T ENEERRIE L
option arrangements (note 42) BERG (F42) 13383 - - - - - - 133
Currency translation differences SEREES - - - (150885) - - - (150885
Fouity-settled share option arrangements MAIR{A St (AR IEZ 5
(note 42) (Wfzta2) - - - - - 366183 - 366183
Transfer of share option resenve upon {7 R ER SR TR RE
exercise of share options E1 15,991 - - - - (1599 - -
Change in fair value of avallable-for-sale AT ERBNLEES) -
investrents, net of tax MGHE - - - - 91476 - - 97476
Derecognition of puttable non-controling 4% EEESAAT 4 &5 HRAR AR
interests (note 38) B(Hi3s) - - - - - - (13562)  (135627)
At 31 December 2010 W_Z-ZF
+-A=t-H 5626570 232020 1,189,795  (292866) 97476 811801  (135627) 7,529,169
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40 RCSCI‘VCS (CONTINUED)
(B) Company

40. f#H5 )
(B) A F]
EERN - AATMEMEBEEHNT

Movements in the reserves of the Company during the year are as

follows:

Available-
for-sale
Currency  investment Share
Share Contributed ~ translation ~ revaluation ~ Retained option
premium surplus ~ differences reseve  eamings reserve
L&
s REE ERE
RibaE B8R =5 fiiite  REAE e &;
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AR% ARE ARE ARE ARE ARE ARE
i r i r i r i
Note (a) Note 22 Note 42
HizE(a) Hz22 HizEa2
At 1 January 2009 RZZEZnE—-A-H 5,246,611 387574 (422,178) - 121,869 1769%3  5510,839
Profit for the year (note (d)) AEFIE (MEHW) - - - - 54175 - 54175
Issue of shares (note 39) B{IRIA (MFE39) 2,679,163 - - - - - 2679163
Shares issued under equity-settled share 1R #EIARR(A S &0BERRHE
option arrangements (note 42) ZHE TR (Fi42) 20515 - - - - - 20515
Equity-settled share option arrangements AR St EBERREZHE
(note 42) (FitzF42) - - - - - 284646 284646
Currengy translation differences ERREES - (12219 = = - (12219
At 1 January 2010 W=Z2—ZE-f—H 7,946,289 387,574 (434,457 - 176,044 461,609 8,537,059
Profit for the year (note () AERIE (HiED) - - - - 266954 - 266954
Shares issued under equity-settled share  #RIEIARRID T HHERE
option arrangements (note 42) ZHE TR (Fitd2) 13,343 - - - - - 1338
Equity-settled share option arrangements AR St EIBERRHEZ e
(note 42) (Rfzt42) - - - - - 366183 366183
Transfer of share option reseve upon — {T{EERIRIER SR ERE
exercise of share options =15 15,991 - - - - (15,991) -
Final 2009 dividend declared BEER-ZENFHRRE - - - - (245445) - (245445)
Change in fair value of avallable-for-sale ~ FI{EEERE AL EEE)
investments, net of tax HRHE - - - (14,095 - - (14,095)
Currency translation differences sk - (297.27) - - - (297.21)
At 31 December 2010 R-E-%
+=A=1+-H 1,975,623 387574 (731,728) (14,095 197,553 811,801 8,626,728

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited

Annual Report 2010
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40. Reserves
(B) Com

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(9

(d)

(CONTINUED)

[Pany (CONTINUED)

Contributed surplus

The balance of the contributed surplus of the Group represents the
difference between the nominal value of the share capital of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation over the
nominal value of the shares of the Company issued in exchange
therefore, and the excess of the amount of capital injected by the
minority shareholder over its additional interest in the subsidiary’s
net assets attributable to the Company’s owners was recorded as
contributed surplus of the Group.

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference
between the then combined net assets value of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation over the nominal
value of the shares of the Company issued in exchange therefor.

Statutory reserves

In accordance with the relevant PRC laws and regulations, the
PRC domestic companies are required to transfer 10% of their
profit after income tax, as determined under the PRC accounting
standards and financial regulations, to the statutory common
reserve. Subject to certain restrictions as set out in the relevant PRC
laws and regulations, the statutory common reserve may be used
to offset against the accumulated losses, if any.

Distributable reserves

Under the Companies Law (2004 Revision) of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium and contributed surplus of the Company are
distributable to shareholders, provided that immediately following
such distributions, the Company is able to pay off its debts as and
when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

The profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2010 dealt with in the financial statements
of the Company was RMB266,954,000 (2009: RMB54,175,000),
including the dividend income from subsidiaries amounting to
approximately RMB252,314,000 (2009: RMB53,097,000).

41. Major Non-Cash Transactions

The Group

had no material non-cash transactions other than those

detailed elsewhere in these financial statements.

40. f#H5 )
(B) &4

Wi

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

B (80

BRARR
AEENEZBSRNERERESEEA
Y F A B B AR AN (E BB AR A ) A ER
A BRAREITRMNEERNERE - &
ZOBBRMEANERSEBBEES
ZF R EEEFENFIMERT AR B
BEAEERD  BELBAREENESA
8 o

ARANEZRAREREEESAMNE
FARAMERAHEEFERAAR LR
W bt & B EFEMMBEITRONEER
HIZERR °

HERRE
RETFEEREEEIERNRE - HED
BAARIARRMEHREMEN10% (R
BRESFENRMBOEREE) BEE
EERAER o RIET BA AR AR
HETRHNRE EAEAREAHAIE
HHRHER(NA) -

A I ek
REREHSARE(ZTTNFER
N RRERRALEE B - N AIG AL
BEBRIEPEERIBOES - A
AR EE R EHRBEA DK TR

3% 2

!

BE_Z—ZTF+-_A=+—HILtFE -
ERRRMIEREPEREZARAEE A
JE (L7 A AR % 266,954,000 (—EF
NE : ARMS54,175,0007T) © BIEKA
FAAMREWAL AR 252,314,000
T(ZZEZNF : AR¥53,097,0007T) °

41. BB &5

BN B mR M T HREID

REEL &

EXFRERS e
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42. Share-Based Payment Plan

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the Scheme include the Company’s directors, including
independent non-executive directors, other employees of the Group,
suppliers of goods or services to the Group, customers and any person
or entity that provides research, development or technological support
to the Group. The Scheme became effective on 28 June 2005 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10
years from that date.

The maximum number of shares in respect of share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent,
upon their exercise, to 10% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue as at the date of approval and adoption of the
Scheme provided that the Group may at any time seek approval from
its shareholders to refresh the limit to 10% of the shares in issue as at
the date of approval by the shareholders in general meeting where
such limit is refreshed. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the total shares of the Company
in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of
these limits is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time or with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000,
within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 20
business days from the date of offer, upon payment of a consideration
of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share
options granted is determinable by the directors, and commences after
a certain vesting period and ends on a date which is not later than six
years from the date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of
the Scheme, if earlier.

w7847%

/

L

42. VA 2% R A S Ak st

ARRRILZEREFE (TS BOR
BBHAEEXBRINELEMNE ER2 MR
- URBREELRE - FENEEREZ
BEBRARAES(BRBLIFUTES)
AREE 2 HMER - NEE 2 EmaRBHE
B BPARAAREEREZEE - RS
XENEMALTHER - FER_FTRFAX
AZTN\BAER  BRAEBCHREFTIN - BRI
RZBETFRER -

B RBEEETRE ZBRELTRERA T
BITHRMN BB REAER AR AL AE RIR
METEIE BEBITROBEEZ10% @ EREE
A] BE R BOR AR AL S E IR BHTETE RARER R
BRI LLREFFHRRAS ERXEBRIES
B2 B #ETRNZ10% » PMEM+ =18 B #ifE
N REEREAZRTTHEASULEERS
BEZBRNBERZ/ANEMNBHEARRD #
TR BEZ1% - LBERHERBHIL ERZ
B - WAKBIRERRAS LHE -

MARAES  FETHABNEZRERE
FEZ R AR L 2 BIREVALE IR
TEEFLIE o 1IN - REM =18 A H1fE
A LAARAREZRRE B IENITEER
1% 55 2 (E I B B8 A I3 2 1 fr) B AR 48 1 AT
] AR R R B BTN 20.1% k4R E (IR
i BAR R B G 2 Wi EFHE ) #8 H 5,000,000
BIT - MBI AR S ERTHE -

ERAATRE L BREZZAE20EERANRN
U RBUEREES X UBTEMLZESE - KH
BREZITEHHESERTE  TEHHE—
SEHRES RENEBREBREZZAN
F2z B EZHR (AREERE) LI

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2010



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuen)

W R B T a0

42. Share-Based Payment Plan conrmvuen) 42. DAy 25 FE B %) 32 A 5T 1 (o)
The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors, but BREZITEERESET @ ARIERGA
may not be less than the highest of (i) The Stock Exchange of Hong NP EEERERZSZ  BETBHAR
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) closing price of the Company’s SHAR AR ([BRZFT]) TRz W@ 5 ()4
shares on the offer date of the share options; (i) the average Stock AERONEEERE T B A EE XA E
Exchange closing price of the Company's shares for the five business RFTFTMRZFEHRME k(RO EEZ &S
days immediately preceding the offer date; and (i) the nominal value % o
of the shares.
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to BRE FEAERERKRESINRBRERS £
vote at shareholders” meetings. = o
Particulars of share options BREFE

Exercise price per

share option

Date of grant Exercise period of share options (both dates inclusive) (note d)
BOBREN

TEE

=i BHA BRENTEN (BFEEERMA) (Bfi=Ed)
(HK$)

(B7T)

26 October 2006 26 October 2007 to 25 October 2012 (note a) 13.40
—ETRFETA-FAREH —EEtHFTFA-tFAREE-Z——F1+A-t+HHEa)

9 November 2007 9 November 2009 to 8 November 2013 (note b) 32.24
—EELEF+—ANA —EENF+—AABE_ZT—=F1+—A/\H (Hzkb)
18 August 2008 18 August 2010 to 17 August 2014 (note b) 22.03
2= \FNAT+NR —E—ZFENA+NBE=_F—mFNA++H (HizEb)
23 November 2009 23 November 2011 to 22 November 2015 (note ¢) 24.40

“EENF+—A=F+=H —E—F+—A=-+=AFEF—AF+—A=-+=HHFE)

6 December 2010 6 December 2012 to 5 December 2016 (note d) 22.80
—E—TE+_AKH B —H+ - ARBE-T—R"F+- AR )




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueo
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42. Share-Based Payment Plan conrivuen)
Particulars of share options (coninuep)

()

The share options will be vested in four equal batches with
25% of the share options granted vesting on the first, second,
third and fourth anniversaries of the date of grant. In addition,
the share options will only be vested if and when the pre-set
performance targets of the Group, the division of the grantee
and the grantee are achieved. Unless all of these targets are met,
the share options will lapse.

The share options will be vested in two equal batches with 50%
of the share options granted vesting on the second and third
anniversaries of the date of grant. In addition, the share options
will only be vested if and when the pre-set performance targets
of the Group, the division of the grantee and the grantee are
achieved. Unless all of these targets are met, the share options
will lapse.

The share options will be vested in three batches with 20%, 40%
and 40% of the share options granted vesting on, respectively,
the second, third and fourth anniversaries of the date of the
grant. In addition, the share options will only be vested if and
when the pre-set performance targets of the Group, the division
of the grantee and the grantee are achieved. Unless all of these
targets are met, the share options will lapse.

Out of the 89,025,000 share options granted, in aggregate,
20,116,500 share options are granted in exchange for and
replacement of the outstanding share options previously granted
on 9 November 2007 to better achieve the objectives of the
Share Option Scheme (the “Replacement”).

The share options will be vested in three batches with 20%, 40%
and 40% of the share options granted vesting on, respectively,
the second, third and fourth anniversaries of the date of the
grant. In addition, the share options will only be vested if and
when the pre-set performance targets of the Group, the division
of the grantee and the grantee are achieved. Unless all of these
targets are met, the share options will lapse.

The exercise price per share option was the average closing share
price for the five business days immediately preceding the grant
date or the closing price of the share on the grant date.

w%4m/

/

L

42, VA A 4 FE 8 0 2 AF BT 31 ()
RS ()

(a)

(c)

BREREBY RIUED - 25%BRED
RIREEEARAEE— - — = RO{EA
BB o U MEEIAEE - ARKA
AP AR A ZBERABR BB
BB ERE - fMAREER Ll 2 F
B - RIBRERBRAERIR R -

BRAEKRED SMED - 50%ERAED
AIREEEABRE-R=EAFHS - It
O - i EERIREE AR APTE M R
EBRAZBERREE  AIGRBEES
ERE - MAERLAZHER - BIF
BB R

BREBFEBSB=1m 20% * 40% &
A0%BERESFINHBREEREZ - =R
WERFHE o o - WEEIARER -
EBRABHFARABEAZBEREE
5 BIEREARE SRR o RRAEES
iR - AIB BRI/ R -

& 1% H#989,025,00017 B AR #EH + K
F120,116,50017 B8 AR #E TH 3t 22 #2 Jo B K 5E
AR ZEE+F+— AN AR HART
FEREREmMEL  AEIEBEREE
WEZIER] -

BREGSEBEDB=H  20% ~ 40% K
A40%EREDRINHIFE AHBE = -
=RNEREHRE - Wi WEEIASE
B FRAFBIPIRAEAZBERE
BiE - BAIEARRERTESE o MARaLE
B2 ER - BIE RS ARAE G R R -

BNBRENTEENEZRRL AR AE
BE BT HRMETERE L BN
R E -
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42. Share-Based Payment Plan conrmvuen)
Movements of share options
2010

Date of grant

42. A

Granted
during
the year

JBe Ay 2 L B4 A a1 o)
BRESE
—z-%%

As at
31 December

Exercised Lapsed  Replaced

during during during

the year the year the year

26 October 2006 ZTTRETAZTRE 2,020,669 - (206,056) (56,971) - 1,757,642
18 August 2008 ZZTT\ENA+AH 74,989,000 - (589,759) (1,273,961) - 73,125,280
23 November 2009 —ETNEF
+—HA=+=H 89,025,000 - - (2,487,000) - 86,538,000
6 December 2010 —T—TF+ - AH - 4,470,000 - - - 4,470,000
Total Hat 166,034,669 4,470,000 (795,815)  (3,817,932) - 165,890,922
2009 T NF
As at Granted Exercised Lapsed Replaced As at
1 January during during during during 31 December
Date of grant 2009 the year the year the year the year 2009
i
—H—H FRTE FRRE FRABR
26 October 2006 ZTTNFFAZTRA 5452401 - (1,751,613) (1,680,119) - 2,020,669
9 November 2007 “TTLE-ANA 43,132,000 - - (23,015,500 (20,116,500)* -
18 August 2008 ZZT\ENATAR 79,118,000 - - (4,129,000) - 74,989,000
23 November 2009 —TTNF
+—B=+=H - 89,025,000 - - - 89,025,000
Total 4T 127,702,401 89,025,000 (1,751,613) (28,824,619) (20,116,500) 166,034,669

* The incremental fair value granted as a result of the Replacement was
estimated to be RMB68,666,000 in total, using the same measurement

method as described below.

@ EAERMBELNARBERMEAREHEARE
68,666,0007T * FT{ A AYRI 2 558 T ATl
FE—B -
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42. Share-Based Payment Plan conrmuen)

Movements of share options (continuep)

The average fair value of the share options granted during the year
was estimated to be RMB6.21 each (2009: RMB7.87) at the grant
date, using a binomial model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the instruments were granted. The contractual
life of each option granted is six years. There are no cash settlement
alternatives. The Group recognised an expense of RMB366,183,000
(note 6 and note 7) during the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009:
RMB284,646,000).

Subsequent to the end of reporting period, out of the total
outstanding share options of 165,890,922 (2009: 166,034,669) units as
at 31 December 2010, 5,324,300 (2009: Nil) share options had lapsed
due to the unfulfilment of vesting conditions.

The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

182-183

42. VA A 25 R w0 S A 53 )

BREZE @

RERELNERENTHARETRELB
HERAZEEEX G ASH AR 21T
—TTNF  BHARE787L) WEEZE
BRI ARBEERNERRES - SHEEA
BRENSHFERANTE  BTRRSHEER
B -AEEREBEE-_Z—ZTF+=-A=+—8
IFFFERER AR ¥366,183,0007T (M6 % 7)
WA (ZZTNF : ARE284,646,0007T) °

R_E—ZTF+_-A=+—HHHEREET
165,890,922 (ZZZ /L4 : 166,034,66917 )
BERRREE LT » 5,324,300 ERRE(— TN
F:m)AREINESBREMRBREHARELR
W e

TREFIMABEX 2B AIRR -

Dividend yield (%) f&EE (%)
Expected volatility (%) TEERRENI R (%)

BRI (%)

Risk-free interest rate (%)

Expected life of options (years) RERRIETRE TR ER(4F)
Spot price (HK$ per share) REEBGGEL BR)
Exercise price (HK$ per share) IEECETBR)

0.7 1.0
34 43
1.7 13-1.7
6 6
22.8 244
22.8 244

In light of the lack of a historical exercise record, the expected life of
the options is based on the results of empirical studies performed in
the United States and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns
that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that
the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome. The spot price is the closing price
of the Company’s shares at the grant date. The exercise price is the
closing price of the share on the grant date.

The 795,815 units of share option (2009: 1,751,613) exercised
during the year resulted in the issue of 795,815 (2009: 1,751,613)
ordinary shares of the Company and new share capital of RMB68,000
(2009: RMB154,000) and share premium of RMB13,343,000 (2009:
RMB20,515,000), as further detailed in note 39 to the financial
statements. The weighted average share price at the date of exercise
for these options was HK$23.80 (2009: HK$21.93).

ERERZ BETELS - BRENTEFHT
2REBHNEERRER - RURFATREEE
ZATEER - MK ERBBEREAETR
AEBBHNRE BT —ERERER -BHE
BERARBRRONEHAHNKTE - 1TEE
AE BRI KTHE -

795,815 (ZZE T N4F : 1,751,61317) BB
ERERNITE  AMBEETT7958158K (=%
TAF 1,751,613 AR B EBAR - EEMN
BARBARKES000T(ZTENF : AR
154,0007T ) -+ B8 15 4 B A K 813,343,000 7T
(ZEZNEF : AR¥20,515,0007T) @ 15k
R TSR MIFE39 - ZERERENITE B8
T RE /F23.80B (=TT NF : 21.934
TT) °
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42. Share-Based Paymcnt Plan (CONTINUED)

43,

Movements of share options (continuep)

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 37,979,422
(2009: 571,919) vested share options outstanding under the
Scheme. The exercise in full of the remaining share options would,
under the present capital structure of the Company, result in the
issue of 37,979,422 (2009: 571,919) additional ordinary shares
of the Company and additional share capital of R\MB3,232,000
(2009: RMB50,000) and share premium of RMB695,823,000 (2009:
RMB6,691,000) (before issue expenses).

Business Combination

On 30 November 2010, the Group acquired a 51% interest in
Junlebao from independent third parties. Junlebao is mainly engaged
in the production and distribution of yogurt products. The acquisition
was made as part of the Group’s strategy to expand its market share
of yogurt products in the PRC. The purchase consideration for the
acquisition was in the form of cash, with RMB369,200,000 paid at the
acquisition date and the remaining RMB 100,000,000 as a contingent
consideration, which is to be paid in 2014 if certain operating results
criteria can be achieved by Junlebao over the three years subsequent
to the acquisition date.

The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling interest in
Junlebao at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
Junlebao’s identifiable net asset.

42.

43.

VA By s ST B S A R 28 (o)
BREZE @

RIERR - RAFHEF37,979,422( (=F
TN : 571,9190) BB THEFBARITE
FERRHE o AR AR ZRALRE - 2ETE
i# B 2 BB IR A 1% 5| SRR SNEE1737,979,4228 (=
ZENF : 571,919 AR al @k Rk ARE
3,232,000t (= ZEZT N 4F : ARKES0,0007T )58
MR AN T2 A R #5695,823,000C (ZE T A4 ¢
AR #6,691,0007T) & E (HBRZETER
Al) °

KA

MN-ZT—ZTFE+—A=+8 X&EEABILE
“HREELES 1% RE BLEXTENE
EERDEBRNER - ZWEAREEEAH
A BB I T 5 0 R R R — 35 © &
WEHEEREUNESHEAIN ERARE
369,200,000 T AU FE B BAS 1 - H AR
100,000,000 T A ARME - BB EBERENIK
BHBEN=FEIE TREEEGE - Al
R-ZT—OEXT -

AEEE BRI RS S (5B LE T
AT ABEL PR BRELE LR
EiE -
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43 Business Combination (CONTINUED)

43. EB A )

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Junlebao as at

the date of acquisition were as follows:

RE A BELENAI SR EEREBNAR
BT :

Fair value

recognised on

acquisition
RULEB AR
HARME
RMB'000
ARET T
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment W% - BB Rkt 317,035
Construction in progress EETE 27,188
Land use rights s A 43,850
Other intangible assets Bt EEEE 184,476
Interests in associates REFE R B2 s 13,875
Available-for-sale investments AT ERE 13,000
Cash and bank balances e RRITHEF 101,001
Pledged deposits REBESTFR 10,000
Bills receivable FERER 6,247
Trade receivables FEUTRR R 29,877
Prepayments and deposits SEANEYSE s 24,526
Other receivables H A EYRIE 94,883
Inventories VeS| 50,497
916,455
Liabilities =N
Trade payables FERTBRER (135,472)
Bills payable FERERE (20,000)
Accruals and customers’ deposits TEREBAKEF S (38,184)
Other payables Hith 508 (74,346)
Interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings SHEIRITER R EAMERR (202,996)
Income tax payable FER TSR (18,139)
Long term payables REAEROE (2,761)
(491,898)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BRARBEY R ERBEEEHAZE 424,557
Non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of identifiable FEFEREAS R EES DG Al BRI FEE A D
net assets (221,287)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WHB A A R 252,470
Purchase consideration BERE 455,740
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43 Business Combination (CONTINUED)

The fair values of the trade receivables and other receivables as
at the date of acquisition amounted to RMB29,877,000 and
RMB94,883,000, respectively. The gross contractual of trade
receivables and other receivables were amounted to RMB29,905,000
and RMB95, 198,000, respectively.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB1,156,000 for this
acquisition. These transaction costs have been expensed and are
included in administrative expenses in the consolidated income
statement.

The goodwill of RMB252,470,000 represents the value of expected
synergies arising from the acquisition. None of the goodwill recognised
is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

The fair value of the contingent consideration of RMB100,000,000
was recognised at RMB86,540,000 as at the acquisition date and then
remeasured to RMB87,101,000 as at 31 December 2010. This was
classified as other financial liabilities (note 38).

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of a

subsidiary is as follows:

43. EHA D )

R WS B EA A BE U AR SR I AL M I R IE A
A ED BB AR 29,877,000 & AR
94,883,000 ° U AR FK [ H fih fE I FRIBA) &
#1858 5 Rl A A K% 29,905,000 7T & A K #
95,198,0007T °

AEBERZBBEBEER HHAAREE,156,000
T ZERDRAERGAFER I I A
THRERA -

AR®252,470,0007T 2 i B s T8 A sz IR B
SRR ERNEE - B R BHE
i B B = A5 A HIR e

FARRE AR 100,000,000 AL EDR
U B8 B BiRE R 5 A R #86,540,0007T K2 H £
—E—EF4+_A=Z+—HEFIEAEARE
87,101,0007T ° $tThn 38 AHME s E & (M
38) °

BEREB—RFRARNRESRELNAT :

RMB’'000

ARET T

Cash consideration HeRE 369,200

Cash and bank balances acquired FrUREIR & MR THETT (101,001)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included PRERERSESNIRSMEANL

in cash flows from investing activities Re REeEEWF R 268,199
Transaction costs of the acquisition included in cash flows — BFEEL S ESEA MR SRENH

from operating activities WREHYZZ S A 1,156

269,355

Since its acquisition, Junlebao contributed RMB119,541,000 to the
Group's turnover and RMB4,089,000 to the consolidated profit for the
year ended 31 December 2010.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year, the
revenue and the profit of the Group for the year would have been
RMB31,505,889,000 and RMB1,374,404,000, respectively.

BEKER ELERAEEBE-_T—Z
FH+- A=t HLEFENEEBREET
B 5 BB BLA R # 119,541,000 7T & A R #&
4,089,0007T °

BEAHREMELE  ZEBERFRHKA KR
AKEFBEH R A ARE31,505,889,0007T &
ARH#£1,374,404,0007T ©
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186-187

44. Deemed Disposal of a Subsidiary 44 R HE—FKFAH

On 30 April 2009, Inner Mongolia Mengniu Fanyu Biotechnology

Co., Ltd. (hereafter “Fanyu”), an indirectly owned subsidiary of the
Company, issued additional shares of RMB40,000,000 to its existing

and new shareholders, included in which was

RMB5,200,000 in

cash injected by Mengniu. The transaction resulted in the dilution of

Mengniu's interest in Fanyu from 65% to 30%. As a consequence,

Fanyu became an associate of the Company since then.

R-ZZEZAFWNA=+H  AARNBEETA
AANEERFTEEEMRIBRERAR(TREIZ
B AERE kIR EILEEE A KR 40,000,000
TLHIRD - Edh AREE5,200,000T A S LAR
SHNEE - ZRFPEBEBEFREFNERA
65%H#EE30% ° Bt - EEHBKABEARF
)N

2010 2009

—E-ZF —TThEF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET R AREFTT

Net assets disposed of: HERNFEE :

Property, plant and equipment I E RS - 10,673
Cash and bank balances R& RIRITHAT - 1,088
Trade receivables FEMBR K - 9,443
Prepayments and other receivables TR SR R B Y RIE - 2,689

Inventories ety - 5,461
Other intangible assets Hotnfmf &R - 7,773
Trade payables FERTBRK - (208)
Accruals and other payables TEIR B R R H AR 5IR - (13,829
Non-controlling interests FEPERRAR R A - (8,083)
- 15,012

Cash consideration paid BREERE - 5,200
Initial recognition of an associate BAER— KB 2N A] - (19,139)
Loss on deemed disposal of a subsidiary REALE-RFAFIRERE - 1,073

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect

of the deemed disposal of a subsidiary is as follows:

BRAERLE—RTARNRASIREEFEY
e

2%
/L

DT :

2010 2009

—E-EF ZTTNF

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARET ARBTT

Cash consideration paid BEfERERE 5,200

Cash and bank balances disposed of BERE KIRITET - 1,088
Net cash flows used in respect of deemed BRARRLE—RFRARNES

disposal of a subsidiary e - 6,288
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45. Commitments

(a)

(b)

Capital commitments

The Group had the following outstanding capital commitments
in respect of the purchase and construction of property, plant
and equipment as at the end of reporting period:

Contracted, but not provided for EEEEF S

45. K5

(a)

BERERE
RBERR AEEFHABEREEY
X BERRENEAFRENT

Group
#
2010 2009
—ETNF
RMB’000

ARETT

—F-%F
RMB'000
AR®TT

527,900 204,510

Subsequent to the reporting date, the board of directors
approved the capital expenditure (not contracted for)
amounting to approximately RMB1,919,820,000 (2009:
RMB1,968,250,000), out of which approximately RMB5,850,000
(2009: Nil) was related to the Group’s share of capital
expenditure of a jointly-controlled entity.

Operating lease commitments

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
in respect of buildings and certain production equipment as

follows:

(b)

RmEBR  EFSHEEAARRAS (AR
FI#)) # A AR #1,919,820,00070 (=2
THF : ARBE1,968,250,0005T) © EF
#) A R #5,850,0007T (20094 : fi ) HLZK
SESME—RXRARGIEEBNEANRAZS
-

REHEAR

RBEHR  AEERBEERE TAE
RN MG LA EEN BRI
SEESEBOT :

Group

AEE
2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARETTT
Within one year 1%E A 65,475 19,952
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 2FESF(RIEEEMFLA) 239,844 64,856
Over five years S E 32,120 15,697
337,439 100,505

The Company did not have any significant commitments at the
end of reporting period.

AT R B AT AT -
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46. Contingent Liabilities

The Group is contingently liable in respect of loan guarantees granted
to certain banks in favour of certain suppliers of raw milk (the
“suppliers”). The amount of guarantees granted as at 31 December
2010 was approximately RMB2,500,000 (2009: RMB29,214,000). All
of the above guarantees are cross-guaranteed and secured by assets
owned by these suppliers who are independent third parties. Securities
under these counter-guarantees included property, dairy cattle and
other assets owned by the Suppliers.

Save as the above and the disclosure in note 43 and 47(l) (n), the
Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities at the end of
reporting period.

The Company did not have any significant contingent liabilities at the
end of reporting period.

R

188-189/

L

46. ARUE

AEBUETRHSNEES(THREFD AR
mA RETRITIEEEFER  BtAEER
BAEIRBE -R-Z—ZTF+_A=1+—
H BEROEREELD S ARE2,500,0007T
(ZZThF : ARM29,214,0007T) ° xS #
ER(BBYFE=H)HL EAMMBERGE T RIE
RITABEEER - REROERQBIEHRE
EHERYE - AFREMEE -

& bt R S EE43 R AT()(n) VIR BB A - AR
ERREHRETERRABRE -

ARABRBERRLBEMNERHAALE -
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47. BB LR 5

BAAM B REEBBEREOR SRS
 AEEREBE AR Hiﬁam&ﬁ
AL FAEARS -

47. Related Party Transactions
In addition to the transactions and balances which are disclosed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the following BN
significant transactions with its associates, a jointly-controlled entity
and other related parties.

Group
#

2010

= i
RMB'000
AR®TTT

2009
—ETNF
RMB’'000
ARETFIT

(@) Sales of liquid milk products @) [AIEE A RSHERESY

to associates Em () 4,856,436 4,045,738
(o)  Sales of ice cream products (b) [RIEE A B SHEACE M

to associates Em (i) 546,971 519,337
(@  Sales of other dairy products (O MEBERRHEEEM

to associates FLEm @) 25,141 10,951
(d) Sales of raw materials d) M EETEEEE R

to a jointly-controlled entity Mt (ii) 45,059 46,345
(e) Sales of raw materials to affiliates  (e) [AIANAT—F EZRREH]

of a major shareholder B A BISHE IR R

of the Company 0} 257 -
(/) Purchase of other dairy products H [AEEEHEREEER

from a jointly-controlled entity LB 0) - (19)
(g Purchase of raw materials (9 MERZEFEEES

from a jointly-controlled entity R (ii) (236,563) =
(h)  Purchase of ice cream products (h)  [ABg A A8 B 7KE

from an associate Em 0] (66,251) (67,423)
()  Purchase of liquid milk products () AEEEN RS REED

from an associate Efh @) (14,217) =
()  Purchase of raw materials () MARE—EEZRED

from affiliates of a major BB A RSB RME

shareholder of the Company (i) (110,963) -
(k)  Sales of property, plant and ) REREFNEEESY

equipment to a jointly-controlled ¥ BB MRE

entity - 579
()  Provision of guarantees () REEESIE R

to a jointly-controlled entity R 70,635 1,385
(m) Provision of guarantees by a partner (m) FRItREIEHIEESIES

of a jointly-controlled entity AR 67,104 -
(n)  Provision of guarantees (n) [AIEEE D FHRAIER

to an associate 19,500 -
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47. Related Party Transactions (CONTINUED) 47 Eﬁ H%%Aj:j_é % (%)
Notes: Fi%E
()  The considerations were determined with reference to the then prevailing )y BRELLELETRER BXRKBME=
market prices/rates and the prices charged to third parties. T EBREETE ©
(i) These transactions were conducted at cost, which approximated to the (i) WERZBREAE(DRBRMEZTE)#TT -

prevailing market price of the materials.

(i) Except for (e) and (j), the above transactions did not constitute connected @iy BRe) BRI + LA ER ST ETRRIFTRE
transactions as defined in the Listing Rules. HIRER S °

(iv)  Key management compensation is detailed in note 7 to the financial (iv) FBASREIRABMBNAFEE N ISR M7 o
statements.

48. Financial Instruments by Category 48. TR H 43 B4 b TR

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments RI|ER - SE>EHNSR T AMNKEMEN

as at the end of reporting period are as follows: T

Financial assets TREE

2010 2009
—2-%F .
Available- Available-
for-sale for-sale
Loansand financial Loans and financial

receivables assets Total receivables assets Total
ERk AMHEEE Exk  AMfEE
BWHE SrREE Bt RUGUE  eREBE 5t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’'000
ARBT T ARETRT ARETT ARETT AREBTT ARETT

Available-for-sale AEHERE

investments - 301,681 301,681 = 17,409 17,409
Bills receivable FEUER IR 20,539 -~ 20,539 52,449 = 52,449
Trade receivables FEUTERTR 554,933 - 554933 527,303 - 527,303
Other receivables HipElzIE 169,897 - 169,897 66,202 - 66,202
Other financial assets ~ Hfh & @& 7= 71,754 -~ 71,754 20,868 = 20,868
Pledged deposits RBESTER 102,399 - 102,399 230,968 - 230,968
Cash and bank balances 314 K $R17 4517 6,697,813 - 6,697,813 6,150,021 - 6,150,021

7,617,335 301,681 7,919,016 7,047,811 17,409 7,065,220
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48. Financial Instruments by Category contuen) 48. FRFE R ) 43 0 4B b B (a0
Financial liabilities EA- =R

Group

AEE
2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNF

Financial liabilities Financial liabilities

at amortised cost at amortised cost

IR A RIS A

JIERMESRBE JIRNERAs

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARET ARBFT

Trade payables FERTRRIR 2,061,193 1,531,366
Bills payable ENESE 1,487,302 808,409
Other payables Hith 508 1,061,253 1,211,172
Interest-bearing bank loans FTEIRITE 700,786 673,593
Other loans HER 140,018 106,947
Long term payables REAFESFOE 14,102 49,879
Other financial liabilities e =K 420,027 -

5,884,681 4,381,366




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conruen)
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48. Financial Instruments by Category conruen) 48. 1R E 4y 1Y 2k TR o)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments RBEER  SESENSH T AMNKREELD
as at the end of reporting period are as follows: T:
Financial assets StREE
Company
PiN/NE]
2010 2009
—E—=F —ZEThF
Loans and Loans and
receivables receivables
B B3
ilvezer| FENGRIE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARYT T AREFTT
Loan to a subsidiary included in interests RFARIREZR B E R
in subsidiaries (note 19) —XFRRFIAE(MFE19) 777,835 804,847
Loans to a subsidiary (note 18) FEY — K FA T (HfEE18) 2,680,430 -
Financial assets included in prepayments, BIERIBAR - e REM
deposits and other receivables FENGRIBR B REE E 36,949 1,437,024
Cash and cash equivalents HE NIESZEEY) 599,995 2,354,922
Available-for-sale investments AfHHERE 114,831 -
4,210,040 4,596,793
Financial liabilities cRAas

Company
¥ N/NE]
2010 2009
e —TThEF

Financial liabilities Financial liabilities

at amortised cost  at amortised cost

R T
ARASFIER B A% BR
HWemas ==L
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARETTT
Financial liabilities included in accruals BAERTERE A R E M EN IR
and other payables HERaE 1,544 2,516
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49. Fair Values and Fair Value Hierarchy

Fair value

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the
fair values:

Cash and cash equivalents, the current portion of pledged deposits,
trade receivables, trade and bills payables, financial assets included
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals, current interest bearing bank
loans, other loans, approximate to their carrying amounts largely due
to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of other financial assets, loans to a subsidiary, non-
current portion of interest-bearing bank loans and long term payables
and other financial liabilities have been calculated by discounting
the expected future cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments on similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted market
prices. The fair values of unlisted available-for-sale equity investments
have been estimated using a valuation technique based on assumptions
that are not supported by observable market prices or rates.

The directors believe that the estimated fair values resulting from the
valuation technique, which are recorded in the consolidated statement
of financial position, and the related changes in fair values, which are
recorded in other comprehensive income, are reasonable, and that
they were the most appropriate values at the end of the reporting
period.

49. 2 Fed B o SAE g 2%

DE
TRMEERBBZAABAZITARBRTA
ENBRBET 2R (BB HERIN T
AR S BARK

IXEHIAPMEET R ERTDENRER

ReRReFEY RESHERWAHID
FEUERR - ENERR K ENRE - 2fRNEN
P REREMERFENSREE  BER
HpENRERBREANSRAE  REE
BRITERREMERETARE AR M
BN E 2 BREERS

HEthe@MEE  BUR—RFAFFE  FER
TEREEHARNRIENIERB A AREM
TREBENAAREBDIRAEUGS - FERR
RHETEH BN TARKAIEFHFNXRIFTRE
HARKBLRENTAFE

ERBRAEE AR ETERTSEE o FE L
T T {8 BRI A 28 o 52 B O T
5 1745 (R o T s S 0 R At 1 B
it -

E=MREHRERMNMERNMGTAABEIIA
RAPBRRAR) RAAEROREZE(EIIA
HEhiralam) EBEE - WANREHRN K
EEHE
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49. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy coxtmuen) 49. » S8 B SUAG TG B ()
Fair value hierarchy AREEBR
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing AEBEFAUNTERANEE RERCRTAERD
the fair value of financial instruments: NiRE :
Level 1:  fair values measured based on quoted prices (unadjusted) F—%: BREEFREEXABERERMISHN
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities WECREAR)GTEQARE
Level 2:  fair values measured based on valuation techniques FF: ARBEENGERME B2
for which all inputs which have a significant effect on HARSENAREBEREATENE
the recorded fair value are observable, either directly or ABUHE = A B HEEREE
indirectly
Level 3:  fair values measured based on valuation techniques for EF=H . AhEERNGERMEE  BEM
which any inputs which have a significant effect on the HGESEN AR BEERTENSE
recorded fair value are not based on observable market ABRE W IEER AT B8 T35
data (unobservable inputs) 15 (FERT EERb A R
Assets measured at fair value: BAREGENEE -
Group
REE
2010
—E-FF
Level 1 Level 3 Total
E—# St st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T
Available-for-sale investments BAREEMAHES
at fair value ®E 114,831 171,461 286,292

Company
AT
2010
T35
Level 1 Level 3 Total
E— E=4 et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T ARET T
Available-for-sale investments BRAREEMAEHE

at fair value & 114,831 - 114,831
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49.

50.

Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy (conrivuen)

Fair value hierarchy conminueo)

Assets measured at fair value: (conminuep)

The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 during the year
are as follows:

Available-for-sale investments — unlisted

49.

O SAE B 2 FeAE R B )
DREBR @

BARETNEBHEE - (&)

FRAE=BRAREFENEFHNT :

2010
=25

RMB'000
AR®T T

AHHERE-F LD

At 1 January Rn—H—H -
Reclassification from available-for-sale investments at cost ~ EIZAANEF ER AT HEREEH NI 12,000
Total gains recognised in other comprehensive income REAMAR S WS R R I ER 4858 159,461
At 31 December A+-—A=+—H 171,461

The Group and the Company did not have any financial assets or
financial liabilities measured at fair value as at 31 December 2009.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to
it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2010 and 31
December 2009.

50.

RZZBZAF+_A=1+—H AEERAEAR
AV EIMNEREEXNTRABRARENE

S 785 L o A L 1 A R BBCSRE
EXEE
AEEEAEEOEAR BB REERE
RN RIRBBRMARLE - S H
B RRBRERE -

AEEEREENER  WHEBRLHERENE
EEHAE - BEFHNAREARE  A5E
AREEHEIRN TRIRAOKE BRRNER
EFHFBETHR REE-_ZFT-—TF+_H
=t—BR_FETAFFT_A=+t—BLLFE
BEREAREEMNBR  BEIEFALEEY -
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50. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies  50. FA %5l i 45 BH H 22 K BUK (a0)

(CONTINUED)
Capital management (conminuep) EXEE®)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt AREBUERBELRETERN - EREELL
divided by the total capital plus net debt. The Group's policy is to XA EERERNEREENLAEFEZ
maintain the gearing ratio between 20% and 50% normally. Net debt Mo REBRBREHIFTEABBLLEBER
includes interest-bearing bank loans and other loans, trade, bills and 20% K&50% 2 fH - BEFHEBEBRITER
other payables, accruals and customers’ deposits, long term payables, REMER - BABRRK - B ZE N E A4 EA
other financial liabilities, less cash and bank balances, and excludes NIE - EREAMEFIS  REEMZRIEN
discontinued operations. Capital represents equity attributable to REMEREBESAGERAZN  HRE LR
owners of the Company. The gearing ratios as at the ends of reporting THETF  TTEEERIEEEER - BARE
periods were as follows: RARGEE ARENER - RBEPHRNHER
BELERAT
Group
AEE
2010 2009
—E=F —TTNEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T R ARETT
Interest-bearing bank loans SHRIRTTER 700,786 673,593
Trade and bills payables FERBRR R ENER 3,548,495 23,775
Accruals and customers’ deposits BIREAREF & 880,142 559,291
Other payables H 08 1,061,253 1,211,172
Other loans HA &R 140,018 106,947
Long term payables REAFEREIE 14,102 49,879
Other financial liabilities HibSmas 420,027 -
Less: Cash and bank balances W IRE RIRITREAT (6,697,813) (6,150,021)
Net debt/(cash) FaE/ (He) 67,010 (1,209,364)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 7N AIZEA A FEGHERS 9,758,064 8,575,678
Capital and net debt BAREHEE 9,825,074 7,366,314
Gearing ratio EARBHEE 0.68% N/ATE
Financial risk management B i LB B 2R
The Group's principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash AEEZIZeRTRAGRERE KBS EE
equivalents, trade receivables and payables, other receivables and ) - U R FERTRRER - B fth FE UG K FE ST SRIE
payables, balances with related parties, interest-bearing bank loans, HRAE A TR  STERITER - EMER
other loans and long term payables. R REAEAFIE -
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50. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

(CONTINUED)

Financial risk management (conminuep)

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The board of directors and senior management meet periodically to
analyse and formulate measures to manage the Group's exposure to
these risks. Generally, the Group adopts reasonably prudent strategies
on its risk management. As the Group’s exposure to these risks is
kept to a minimum, the Group has not used any derivatives and other
instruments for hedging purposes. The Group does not hold or issue
derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks
and they are summarised below:

(i) Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s borrowings with floating
interest rates. The Group closely monitors its interest rate risk by
performing periodic reviews and evaluations of its debt portfolio
and gearing ratio. The interest rates and terms of repayment
of the bank loans of the Group are disclosed in note 34 to the
financial statements. In the opinion of the directors, the Group
has no significant interest rate risk and has not used any interest
rate swaps to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.

0. B85 b b 4 2L B S BOR ()

MR EE ()
KEAEESBTANEERRAEFIZEMR -
SN EERREADUHEAR - E2ER
EREREABTHETEE DM AEBATE
FEEK - I E A E IR m R e o A
B REASEEEORREERE o BN
£ @ AT B R IRIE - AN S B3 4 45 R A
A4T4 T EREH T B LAEYHh o AEEL &
BAERBTEATESRIAEEERAR - &
EERN B TRBREBRECE - BHECEHL
mF :

(i) FIEERE

AEEAZNT SN XEHRAMEZHREH
AEENTRER - NEEE B s MeF
HEEBEARERAGBL R - HEANX
EBRETEINIR - AKBRRTTE A
RRBEFHR MWK EI4WE - EF
R AEBUBBBBAFEEAR  TAE
158 PR AR]85 A S0 ) R LB
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50. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies  50. FA %5 &l i 45 BH H 222 K BUK (a0)

(CONTINUED)

Financial risk management (conminuen) B S B ()

(i) Interest rate risk (conTivUED) (i) FI=EpEEE)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably TRIREM A EME SRR T ENIER
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held T FIRA[ g HIE A B S B E A EEF AT
constant, of the Group's profit before tax (through the impact FECEEEEEENTE)NTE

on floating rate borrowings):

Group
TrEE

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease)

(decrease) in profit

in basis points before tax

=B Bt A&

1240, G A) 12, OFa)

RMB'000

ARET T
2010 —E-2F

RMB ARY 50 (2,032)

RMB AREE (50) 2,032

United States dollar ET 50 (119)

United States dollar ETT (50) 119
2009 —TTNEF

RMB AR 50 2,418)

RMB AR (50) 2,418

United States dollar ET 50 (183)

United States dollar ETT (50) 183

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2010



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conrinuen)
FoF 75 R e B ok )

50. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies  50. FA %5 &l b 45 BH H 222 S BUK (a0)

(CONTINUED)
Financial risk management (continuen) B i R B B 2R ()
(i) Foreign currency risk (ii) S /E fE

The Group's businesses are principally located in Mainland
China and substantially all transactions are conducted in
RMB, except for the purchases of imported machinery and
equipment and sales of dairy products to Hong Kong and
Macau. As at 31 December 2010, substantially all of the
Group's assets and liabilities were denominated in RMB except
the cash and bank balances of approximately RMB67,366,000
(2009: RMB72,165,000) and RMB1,631,092,000 (2009:
RMB2,682,036,000) which were denominated in United
States dollars and Hong Kong dollars, respectively, the interest-
bearing bank loans of approximately RMB27,866,000 (2009:
RMB132,931,000) and long term payables of approximately
RMB49,208,000 (2009: RMB128,574,000) which were
denominated in United States dollars, and long term payables
of approximately RMB8,125,000 (2009: Nil) which was
denominated in Japanese yen. The fluctuation of the exchange
rates of RMB against foreign currencies could affect the Group's
results of operations. However, in the opinion of the directors,
the foreign currency risk exposure is under management’s
control.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in the RMB exchange rate as compared to
United States dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Japanese yen with
all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax
(due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities)
and equity:

(decrease
in RMB rate

ARHSE=R

£7(TH)
%

2010 —ET-EF 5
5
2009 —ZETNF 5

REENEBEEMRPBIARE - BRTHE
B OB RREURABSMRM L E
FLERIN  BRIARHHAARE B
g RZET—FTF+-_A=+—8"
AEBHEERAEBET  BRTABHA

R%67,366,0000t (ZZ T NF : ARK
72,165,0007T ) & A R #1,631,092,00070

—TENF : AR¥2,682,036,0007T)
RIR & MERTT ﬁ D RIAETT BT AE
fif - FTERITERLAREE27,866,0007T

= h$ }\EMBZ 931,0007T) &
REIE RIBA AR ¥ 49,208,0007T (=
TENF : AR#128,574,0007T ) T3 LA
ETLRBA - ARREBEMNFRIBEHARE
8,125,000t (ZZEZNF : Tir) IR
B RBAAI - BARIAEAARE RE
i o AR HINEHEBE BKE - Al aE
TEREENKEEE  BEZRRING
[B B FE B B 45l 2 R o

TRIREMBEMBEEFTENIENR
T AR¥EST - BExXKREMHHEEK
Gl ﬁﬁjiﬁmAiii‘ﬁib(iéfﬁgﬁéﬁﬁ{ﬁ

REZFHEH) HAKBEHATHE R

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
) in profit (decrease)
before tax in equity

AR =

#2840, GRd) = GRA)

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT

60,593 (224,790)

) (60,593) 224,790
21,244 (140,825)

) (21,244) 140,825
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50. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(CONTINUED)
Financial risk management (conminuep)
(iii) Credit risk
The cash and bank balances, as well as the pledged deposits, of
the Group are mainly deposited with state-owned commercial
banks in Mainland China.

The majority of the Group’s sales are conducted on a cash
basis. The Group has implemented policies to ensure that sales
of products are made to distributors, who wish to trade on
credit terms, with an appropriate credit history which is subject
to periodic reviews. Receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not
significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise deposits and other receivables, arises from default
of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amounts of these assets.

In addition, the Group’s guarantees of the bank loans borrowed
by certain suppliers of raw milk amounting to RMB2,500,000
(2009: RMB29,214,000) (note 46) represent the Group’s other
exposure to credit risk. RMB2,500,000 (2009: RMB29,214,000)
of the above guarantees are cross-guaranteed and secured by
assets owned by these suppliers.

Except for the above, the Group has no significant concentration
of credit risk, with exposure spread over a number of
counterparties.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 27
to the financial statements.

R

| |
‘\200-201/

L

50. 5o 25 Jel B 4 2 H AR SR BUR (s

BERRER (&)
ziii) GEEE

AEBNRERBTEFURRESF
R EEFRREAENBEAEERT -

AREBAF D R $HED IR EAEHETT o
AEBEEBBARABRERSS TH
BEEEERELEBENBRETL LTI
SEEIHRE - WA EEREETERN
B - ARE-EHEEERKFIANG
# o AKREWEBEAZRRER

BN TR NEEHRRS REMRKK
HEERNAEEEMeREENERERR
ReERBEEERILSEENKEE -

o - AEBMBHE T RA D ESET
fEiR1TERARE2,500,000L(=ZFZ A,
& AR#29,214,0007T) (Hi546) 4 T
ER - s AKENES—EERE - ZF
HEmY A EARE2,500,000T(=ZFF
hE : AR#29,214,0007T) U ER R
RIER - AEEREERNEEER -

B &SN AEEWERR S RETY
FHNBEREREERR

FRAASBERRKERMARY ZEER
B HMELEIE - RERMERERME
27 °

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2010



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conrinuen)
FoF 75 R e B ok )

S50. 5o | B s B H A% B R (a0

50. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(CONTINUED)
Financial risk management (conminuep)
(iv) Liquidity risk
The Group closely monitors its liquidity risk by performing

MRS EE ()

(iv) mEtEma
AEMTEHSRFTLES  THEEER
EBE - PBARNEL  BEENR

periodic reviews and evaluations of its liquidity with regard to the

industry characteristics, market conditions, business strategies
and changes in the Group's state of affairs and adjusting the
current and non-current portions of the Group’s debt portfolio
on a proper and timely basis. In addition, the Group aims to
ensure a continuity of funds and flexibility through the use of
various means of financing and by keeping committed credit
lines available.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s
financial liabilities at 31 December 2010 based on contractual

PFEETR MER - BEALREFHBER
SEREEBNANHEIENEEY - UE
ERBIERR o W - AEETERN A
TRNEED AR —ENAREEER
FEARRESEBRERBEE -

TREFIR=-_ZT—ZFTF+_A=1+—HR

undiscounted payments.

BROBEMRNFNASEERAENE
HER -

2010
=25
1to More than
5 years
—ZhHF
RMB’000

On Lessthan
demand

BER
RMB'000

1 year
—FLR
RMB’000
ARBTT ARSTT ARBTT ARETT ARETT

5 years Total
AFNE st
RMB’000  RMB’000

Interest-bearing bank loans 5+ 23R1TEX - 550,786 150,000 - 700,786
Other loans HAi &R 140,018 - - - 140,018
Trade and bills payables ~ FEERF L EM =K - 3,548,495 - - 3,548,495
Other payables, excluding ~ EAthfENZIE - NEFHE

current potion of long REBFE(TFRIERIBNER

term payables Eilva) - 1,017,321 - - 1,017,321
Long term payables RHEAFER /1B - 45,545 15,517 - 61,062
Other financial liabilities HihemaE - - 100,000 850,363 950,363
Loan guarantees given 45 TR T E AR

to banks - 2,500 - - 2,500




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conrinuen)
FoF 2 R B o )

S50. 575 b o B H A R BOR (a0

50. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(CONTINUED)
Financial risk management (conminuen) B A5 B ()
(iv) Liquidity risk (conminuep) (iv) TETERfE (4F)

2009
—ZETNF
1to More than
5 years

On
demand
RER —FNURN —FERF hFHNE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'0O00  RMB'000

AREBTTT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARBTT

Less than

1 year 5 years Total

.
HRET

Interest-bearing bank loans 5+ B2 R1TEK - 323593 381,680 - 705273
Other loans HiER 106,947 - - - 106,947
Trade and bills payables ~ FEfTBRRN R FEN 245 - 2,339,775 = - 2,339,775
Other payables, excluding  HAthENFIE - TEIE

current potion of long RHAFESFIERBNER

term payables 2B - 1,127,935 - - 1,127,935
Long term payables REBFERIEIE = 88,766 53,119 - 141,885
Loan guarantees given I8 TR T E IER

to banks - 22,022 7,192 - 29,214

S1. bl A % ik
FERER =T —F=A=+-BHERE
HET BRI BRK -

51. Approval of the Financial Statements
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 31 March 2011.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
S R 2L

The following is a summary of the audited financial statements of China
Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries for

THRFPERFAEFGRAB(ARE D REFRR
RTINS EFERE 2 EEZMBERIME -

the respective years.

Results

2010
—E-EF
RMB’'000
ARBT T
Revenue A 30,265,415
Profit/(loss) before tax FAIFE,(B58) 1,538,102
Income tax income/(expense) FrgRilkzs (2 ) (182,185)
Profit/(loss) for the year INERFBCEEGTE,
from continuing operations (E548) 1,355,917
Profit for the year from a IR HS S ST
discontinued operation -
Profit/(oss) for the year KNEFE, (BE) 1,355,917
Attributable to: TFE T REfh ¢
Owners of the Company KAREE A 1,237,273
Non-controlling/minority interests ~ 3E#Z2p% D& R = 118,644
Proposed dividend BORA B, 278,078
Earnings per share attributable AN B @A R AJE
to ordinary owners of the HEREFNARET)
Company (RMB) (note (i) (BFFEEG))
For profit/loss) for the year REFE,/(E5E)
— Basic —ER 0.712
— Diluted —¥E 0.711

eSS
Year ended

BE+t-A=1t—HILEE
2009 2008 2007 2006
—ETNFE —TT)N\F —TTHFE —TTRF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT ARETT AREFT ARETT
25,710,460 23,864,975 21,318,062 16,246,368
1,346,346  (1,089,275) 1,130,310 942,320
(126,240) 161,454 (21,658) (76,032)
1,220,106 (927,821) 1,108,652 866,288
- 3,357 - -
1,220,106 (924,464) 1,108,652 866,288
1,115,799 (948,600) 935,786 727,352
104,307 24,136 172,866 138,936
245,465 - 187,535 149,718
0.681 (0.639) 0.664 0.532
NATER  NATER 0.664 0.532

Assets, Liabilities and Equity

B - AR MR

At 31 December

R+t=—A=+—8H
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
—E-EF ZTThEF ZTTNF ZTTEF ZTTRF
RMB'000  RMB'0O00  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTRT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
Total assets HBEE 17,305,841 14,096,126 11315275 9,681,279 7,763,678
Total liabilities mes 7,088,332 5184432 6,577,304 3,846,575 4,130,998
Equity attributable to owners NATER AL

of the Company 9,758,064 8575678 4464616 5111629 2,998,864
Non-controlling/minority interests  JE#ZEA% D BIA% SRR 459,445 336,016 273,355 723,075 633,316

Note: ek -

(i) Calculation basis for the earnings per share attributable to ordinary owners of
the Company is set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
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